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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
| would like to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the annual report of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”
or “YR2022").

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a
decrease in revenue of approximately HK$30,382,000 or
approximately 10.3% to approximately HK$263,217,000
compared with the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“YR2021"). The decrease in revenue was primarily due to
decrease of the number of sizable projects tendered by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

The Board is of the view that despite the recent outbreak of
Omicron coronavirus, the consequential adverse economic
effects will be transitory while the outbreak is easing off,
there are hopeful signs of a steady recovery in the long-
term development of construction and foundation industry
in Hong Kong. The Group will be prudent in tendering
potential project while future strategy will depend on the
evolvement of the pandemic.

In recent years, intellectual property (the “IP”) rights
(“IP Rights”) licensing industry have developed rapidly
in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). In addition
to exploiting the core content of the IP Rights through
movies, television series, animations and games, Chinese
companies as licensees of the IP Rights maximize the
overall value by also expanding to the downstream
derivative market of the IP Rights in the PRC, including
manufacturing IP Rights-related toys, clothings and food
and beverages. Accordingly, the scale of consumer
demand and revenue sources generated through the
commercialisation of the IP Rights have significantly
expanded.
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On 4 September 2020, the Company acquired 35%
of issued share capital of Matsu Gami IP Development
Limited (the “Matsu Gami”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Matsu Gami Group”) which is principally engaged
in the business of provision of food and beverage catering
services utilizing well-known IP Rights. The Board is of
the view that despite the adverse economic impact of
implementation of the COVID-19 pandemic prevention
and control quarantine measures in certain cities in the
PRC, the prospects of IP Rights licensing industry are
brightening.

Meanwhile, in order to maintain a stable and sustainable
development of the Group’s existing businesses as well
as diversifying and expanding the Group’s businesses at
the same time, the Company will leverage on its industrial
experience and the advantage of its existing resources
and talented team to seek cooperation and investment
opportunities with high-quality companies in the emerging
industries.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders and
business partners for their continued support, and to our
management and staff members for their commitment and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 July 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in providing: (i) foundation
construction; (i) ground investigation services; (i) financial
services; and (iv) trading of beauty and skin care products
in Hong Kong.

Foundation Construction

During the Reporting Period, the foundation construction
undertaken by the Group mainly consisted of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group undertook foundation
construction projects in both the public and private
sectors. Revenue from the foundation works contributed
approximately 83.0% to the total revenue of the Group
during the Reporting Period (YR2021: approximately
75.5%).

Ground Investigation Services

The Group also acted as a contractor to provide ground
investigation services in both public and private sectors in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
ground investigation services contributed approximately
14.7% to the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period (YR2021: approximately 22.1%).

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the financial
services contributed approximately 1.2% to the total
revenue of the Group (YR2021: approximately 1.2%).
Trading of beauty and skin care products

During the Reporting Period, revenue from trading business

contributed approximately 1.1% of the total revenue of the
Group (YR2021: approximately 1.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately HK$30,382,000
or approximately 10.3%, from approximately
HK$293,599,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$263,217,000 for the Reporting Period,
which was primarily due to:

Foundation Construction

The revenue from undertaking construction foundation
projects decreased by approximately HK$3,090,000 or
approximately 1.4%, from approximately HK$221,550,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$218,460,000 for the Reporting Period.

Ground Investigation Services

The revenue from ground investigation services decreased
by approximately HK$26,014,000 or approximately 40.2%,
from approximately HK$64,772,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$38,758,000 for the
Reporting Period. This was primarily due to the decrease
in the number of sizable projects tendered by the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, revenue for financial services
amounted to approximately HK$3,190,000 (YR2021:
approximately HK$3,614,000).

Trading of beauty and skin care products

During the Reporting Period, the revenue for trading

business amounted to approximately HK$2,810,000
(YR2021: approximately HK$3,662,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately
HK$56,973,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$52,813,000 for the Reporting Period.
The Group’s overall gross profit margin during the
Reporting Period was approximately 20.1% (YR2021:
approximately 19.4%).

The gross profit of the Group’s foundation construction
segment increased from approximately HK$24,184,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$35,123,000 for the Reporting Period. Gross profit
margin of the foundation construction segment amounted
to approximately 16.1% (YR2021: approximately 10.9%).
The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to the
improvement of the bidding prices on the new tender.

Gross profit of the Group’s ground investigation
services segment was approximately HK$11,691,000
for the Reporting Period, representing a decrease of
approximately 54.2% from approximately HK$25,514,000
as compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Gross profit margin of the ground investigation services
segment decreased from approximately 39.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to approximately 30.2% for the
Reporting Period. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the absence of higher gross profit margin
projects tendered by the Group during the Reporting
Period.

Gross profit of the Group’s financial service was
approximately HK$3,189,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2021: approximately HK$3,613,000). Gross profit
margin of the financial services amounted to approximately
100% (YR2021: approximately 100%).

Gross profit of the Group’s trading business was
approximately HK$2,810,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2021: approximately HK$3,662,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income, Other Net Gains and Losses

The other income, other net gains and losses of the
Group increased by approximately HK$13,224,000,
from approximately HK$5,900,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$19,124,000 for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to net
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value of profit
or loss (YR2022: gain of HK$17,054,000; YR2021: loss of
HK$6,016,000).

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses for the
Reporting Period were approximately HK$59,713,000
(YR2021: approximately HK$62,243,000), representing an
decrease of approximately 4.1% as compared to that for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease was mainly
attributable to (i) the absence of the arrangement fee for
the subscription of fund (YR2021: HK$1,200,000); and (i)
the absence of the professional fee for the set up of the
Share Award Scheme (YR2021: HK$1,300,000).

Finance Costs

The finance costs increased by approximately HK$301,000
from approximately HK$10,585,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$10,886,000 for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the
interests incurred by the borrowing from a related company
and a director of a subsidiary.

Income Tax

The tax credit for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$628,000 (YR2021: tax expense of approximately
HK$2,052,000). The change was mainly due to the
decrease in assessable profits of Hong Kong Profits Tax
and the change of deferred tax for the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

During the Reporting Period, the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss represents the (i) unlisted fund
investment; (i) the profit guarantee, put option, and call
option in relation to acquisition of an associate; and (jii)
other unlisted investment.

The unlisted fund investment is measured at fair value
and were subscribed and purchased by a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. During the Reporting Period,
the loss on disposal of unlisted fund investment was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$13,390,000. The net fair
value loss of unlisted fund investment was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$2,764,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021.

The profit guarantee, put option and call option are
measured at fair value using the Monte Carlo simulation
model and binomial options pricing model. During the
Reporting Period, the net fair value gain of profit guarantee,
put option and call option amounted to approximately
HK$30,363,000 (YR2021: net fair value loss of
approximately HK$3,252,000).

The other unlisted investment represents investment in
wealth management product issued by bank. During
the Reporting Period, the relevant gain amounted to
approximately HK$81,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Debt investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

During the Reporting Period, the debt investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income represents
the private fund. The debt investment is measured at fair
value and were subscribed and purchased by a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. During the Reporting
Period, the net fair value gain including expected credit
loss adjustment of debt investment was recognised in the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$2,407,000 (YR2021:
approximately HK$2,575,000) and the gain on disposal
of the private fund was approximately HK$nil (YR2021:
approximately HK$181,000).

Share of results of an associate

The acquisition of 35% equity interest of Matsu Gami IP
Development Limited (“Matsu Gami”) was completed on
4 September 2020. The share of loss of Matsu Gami was
approximately HK$9,385,000 during the Reporting Period
(YR2021: approximately HK$233,000). This amount of loss
was attributable to (i) share of the post-acquisition loss
amounted to approximately HK$982,000; (i) amortisation
expense and deferred tax impact on the intangible asset
arised from the fair value adjustments made on the
acquisition date amount of approximately HK$3,432,000;
and (i) impairment losses on the intangible asset and
related deferred tax impact amount of approximately
HK$4,971,000.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 10 December 2019, 9 June 2020, 4
September 2020, 10 August 2021 and 10 September
2021.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$12,757,000 as compared with the net
loss of approximately HK$12,240,000, for the year ended
31 March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the equity shareholders for the Reporting
Period (YR2021: nil).

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
PLACING

References are made to the Company’s announcement
on 29 November 2016 (the “2016 Announcement’) in
relation to placing of 160,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company (the “Placing”) which raised net proceeds
of approximately HK $134.0 million (the “Net Proceeds”)
and the announcements in relation to change in use of
proceeds from the Placing dated 2 October 2018 (the
“2018 Announcement”) and 17 August 2021 (the “2021
Announcement”’) and the annual report of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Part of the Net Proceeds from the Placing were utilised
up to 31 March 2022 and are intended to be applied in
accordance with the revised proposed application set out
in the announcement dated 17 August 2021. The below
table sets out the details of the application of the Net
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Proceeds:

Planned use Revised Unutilised Revised Unutilised

of proceeds allocation  Net Proceeds allocation Amount  Net Proceeds

as disclosed asat asat asat  utilised up to asat
in the 2016 2 October 31 March 17 August 31 March 31 March Expected
Announcement 2018 2021 2021 2022 2022 timeline

—E-RE RZEZ-§ HE MW-ZZZE

AEMRKEZ K-F-N\f ZB=+-B RIZI-§ Z¥-Zf =RA=t+-H

FRigmIE +BZB ZXBAFME NB+tB ZB=+-B ZXHAME
HURE  ZEEBHINE REBE ZBEIME 2ZCHALE REPH RHRRR

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HKS milion HK$ million HK$ million

(approximately) ~ (approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)

BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAL BEARL BEARL

(B 49) (i 49) (#49) (B 49) (#E49) (B 49)

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 2)
(GE2D] (GE#) (Fizk2)
Investment, financing and RE HEREERE 1340 573 - - - NATEH
money lending services

Funding the Acquisition (as defined below) ANEEERAE (RERTY - 767 767 - - - NATEH
Funding further possible acquisition(s) AE-SURENERE - - - 707 - 707 By 31 March 2023
—B-=f
=ZA=+-H#
General working capital —-hEEES - - 6.0 6.0 - NATER

134.0 134.0 76.7 76.7 6.0 70.7
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Notes:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the 2018 Announcement, (i) the Group had
used approximately HK$20.8 million of the proceeds of the
Placing for investment and financial services and for setting
up a subsidiary with a money lenders licence and the Group
intended to utilise up to approximately HK$36.5 million of
the Net Proceeds in developing the Group’s money lending
business in the next 12 months; and (ii) the Group intended
to change the use of up to approximately HK$76.7 million
of the outstanding Net Proceeds to fund the acquisition of
approximately 51.315% of the issued share capital of Blue
Marble Limited at a total consideration of HK$320,000,000
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition then lapsed on 2 April
2020. For details, please refer to the 2018 Announcement
and the announcement of the Company dated 2 April 2020.

On 17 August 2021, the Company resolved to change the
use of the outstanding Net Proceeds, being approximately
HK$76,700,000 as at 31 March 2021 (the “Unutilised
Net Proceeds”) as follows: (i) as to approximately
HK$70,700,000, to fund further possible acquisition(s),
including further possible acquisition of 16% of the issued
share capital of Matsu Gami; and (i) as to the remaining
balance of approximately HK$6,000,000, for general
working capital. As at 31 March 2022, the Board has not
exercised the call option to acquire 16% of the issued share
capital of Matsu Gami. For details, please refer to the 2021
Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 10 September 2021.

The remaining Unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 March
2022 were placed as bank balances with licensed bank in
Hong Kong and will be applied in the manner consistent
with the proposed allocations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

PROSPECTS

The Board is of the view that despite the recent outbreak of
Omicron coronavirus, the consequential adverse economic
effects will be transitory while the outbreak is easing off,
there are hopeful signs of a steady recovery in the long-
term development of construction and foundation industry
in Hong Kong. In general, the Group will be prudent in
tendering potential project while future strategy will depend
on the evolvement of the pandemic.

In recent years, intellectual property (the “IP”) rights
(“IP Rights”) licensing industry have developed rapidly
in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). In addition
to exploiting the core content of the IP Rights through
movies, television series, animations and games, Chinese
companies as licensees of the IP Rights maximize the
overall value by also expanding to the downstream
derivative market of the IP Rights in the PRC, including
manufacturing IP Rights-related toys, clothings and food
and beverages. Accordingly, the scale of consumer
demand and revenue sources generated through the
commercialisation of the IP Rights have significantly
expanded.

On 4 September 2020, the Company acquired 35% of
issued share capital of Matsu Gami, which together with
its subsidiaries, is principally engaged in the business of
provision of food and beverage catering services utilizing
well-known IP Rights. The Board is of the view that despite
the adverse economic impact of implementation of the
COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control quarantine
measures in certain cities in the PRC, the prospects of IP
Rights licensing industry are brightening.

Meanwhile, in order to maintain a stable and sustainable
development of the Group’s existing businesses as well
as diversifying and expanding the Group’s businesses at
the same time, the Company will leverage on its industrial
experience and the advantage of its existing resources
and talented team to seek cooperation and investment
opportunities with high-quality companies in the emerging
industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group mainly
consisted of leases liabilities, borrowing from a director
of a subsidiary and borrowing from a related company.
The above borrowings were incurred during the Reporting
Period (YR2022: approximately HK$245,357,000; YR2021:
approximately HK$236,138,000). All borrowings were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Interest on
borrowings are charged at fixed rates. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy and the
Group monitors interest risks continuously and considers
hedging any excessive risk when necessary.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$141,025,000 which was
approximately HK$4,876,000 higher than net current
assets of approximately HK$136,149,000, as at 31
March 2021, the increase was mainly due to the interests
incurred by the borrowing from a related company and
a director of a subsidiary during the Reporting Period,
with the amount of approximately HK$10,600,000
and net fair value gain in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss during the Reporting Period, with
the amount of approximately HK$17,054,000. As at 31
March 2022, the Group’s current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$284,621,000 representing an increase
of approximately HK$3,270,000 from approximately
HK$281,351,000 as at 31 March 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$132,294,000, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$4,653,000 (as at 31
March 2021: approximately HK$136,947,000), which were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

CASH FLOW

The net cash generated from the Group in its operating
activities amounted to approximately HK$4,908,000 during
the Reporting Period, which was mainly generated from the
foundation construction and ground investigation services.
Net cash used in investing activities was approximately
HK$6,748,000 in which approximately HK$3,740,000
arose from the payment for the purchase of property, plant
and equipment, HK$7,501,000 arose from the proceeds
from the disposal of finance assets at fair value though
profit or loss and approximately HK$11,169,000 arose
from the payment for the purchase of financial assets. The
net cash used in financing activities was approximately
HK$3,427,000 arose from the payment for finance lease
rentals.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022
(defined as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 142.9% (as at 31
March 2021: approximately 130.6%).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained
a healthy position of liquidity throughout the Reporting
Period. The Group strives to reduce the exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most
of the revenue and transactions arising from its operations
were mainly settled in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, the Directors believe that the Group’s risk in
foreign exchange is insignificant and the Group will have
sufficient foreign exchange to meet its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and it has not
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging
instruments during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital
was HK$9,600,000 (as at 31 March 2021: HK$9,600,000)
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
960,000,000 (as at 31 March 2021: 960,000,000) of
HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
investments held, nor were there any material acquisitions
or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
made by the Group during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

GUARANTEED PROFIT AND
GUARANTEED IP RIGHT IN RESPECT
OF THE ACQUISITION OF 35% ISSUED
SHARE CAPITAL OF MATSU GAMI

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 10 December 2019, 9 June 2020, 4 September
2020, 10 August 2021 and 10 September 2021 in relation
to the acquisition of the 35% issued share capital of Matsu
Gami which is principally engaged in the business of
provision of food and beverage catering services utilising
well-known [P Rights (the “Announcements”). Unless
otherwise defined, capitalised terms used shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Announcements.

Under the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement (as
amended by the 1st Supplemental Agreement and the
2nd Supplemental Agreement), Massive Dynamic Venture
Limited and Shen Garden Holdings Limited (collectively
the “Vendors”) and Mr. Shao Chao and Mr. Shen Kan
(collectively the “Vendor Guarantors”) unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed and warranted to the Company for
each of the two years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022
(the “2020-2021 Guaranteed Period” and “2021-2022
Guaranteed Period”, respectively, and together, the
“Guaranteed Period(s)”) that the audited consolidated
net profits after tax but before deduction of non-recurring
income and expenses of the Matsu Gami Group according
to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the
“Actual Profit”) shall not be less than HK$10,000,000 and
HK$20,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Profit’) respectively;
and Matsu Gami Group acquires at least one IP Right as
designated by the Company to be used in relation to the
Matsu Gami Group’s business(es) (the “Guaranteed IP
Right”).

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated
10 August 2021 and 10 September 2021, the Matsu Gami
Group has fulfilled the Guaranteed Profit and Guaranteed
IP Right for the 2020-2021 Guaranteed Period, and the
Company decided not to exercise its discretion to exercise
the Call Option to require the Vendors to sell 16% of the
issued share capital of Matsu Gami to the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In respect of the 2021-2022 Guaranteed Period, based
on the audited figures of the Matsu Gami Group for
YR2022, the Matsu Gami Group recorded loss of
approximately HK$3,708,000. Nevertheless, Matsu Gami
Group has acquired at least one Guaranteed IP Right
for YR2022, therefore, the Guaranteed IP Right for the
2021-2022 Guaranteed Period has been fulfiled but the
Guaranteed Profit is not fulfiled. Under the terms of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement (as amended by the 1st
Supplemental Agreement and the 2nd Supplemental
Agreement), the Company has either: (i) the right to receive
the Compensation Amount (i.e. the sum of Guaranteed
Profit plus Actual Loss) from the Vendors and the Vendor
Guarantors ; or (i) the right to require the Vendors to
purchase all of the sale interests from the Company i.e. the
Put Option. The Company and the Vendors are currently
in negotiation and will publish an announcement in due
course to inform Shareholders whether the Company
elects to receive the Compensation Amount or to exercise
the Put Option.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no other significant event after the Reporting
Period up to the date of this report.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material pending
litigation.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 124 full-
time employees (as at 31 March 2021: 137 full-time
employees).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmEAHh

The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund and in-house training programmes, salary
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. The total remuneration cost incurred by
the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$70,015,000 as compared to approximately
HK$70,892,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as
follows:

U

(i)

The Group has a concentrated clientele base. Any
loss for major customers or decrease in the number
of projects with the top 5 customers of the Group
may adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results.

The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not
be an indicative of the Group’s future revenue and
profit margin. In particular, the Group’s revenue is on
project basis, which is non-recurrent in nature, and
the Group may achieve lower-than expected revenue
if it fails to maintain continuity of the Group’s order
book for its new projects.

The Group is dependent on its Board members
and senior management staff, the departure of its
staff may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations.

Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs
of the Group’s projects may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.

Any delay or default of progress payments or
retention monies by the customers may affect the
Group’s cash flow and may have adverse impact on
the Group’s financial resullts.

Failure to renew the Group’s current registrations and
licenses may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations. For other risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risks
Factors” in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
July 2015 (the “Prospectus”).

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —F=— "ZFFif

AEBTHERRBRENWHNBRLFE MR
HIMEAEE RRIBZNRRIS > ZEB IR E
BARRBIZMENIEREFEENIBI
AoMBmEHB AEBEENEFHFMR AL
70,015,000t  MBE_E_-_—F=H
=+ —HIEFERA#HA70,892,0008 5T °

FERMBKRAFEE T

AEBNETEZREBRMAIT :

() TEEANBFABEF -TAIEEFN
FAREEBRATFES KB OHD
BT AN A E BN EER Y B2
RAIE o

(i) TEEBNBEWRAKRFABRERRLMARSE
ERRRBWARFBER - LHZ K&
E’JH&)\TQIEE%EH% [BIFEEE
B UNAEEREFEERNHEBNG]
E’EH&AﬂE‘ET&E\ﬁ/ﬁW

i) AEEKELESERSREREER
BT HETAAREHAEENES
BEER R o

(iv) REEBRMGEFREFNAEEBEENME
NERFERNUBRBEBAANE

=10
=

(v) FEPREBNEXREEMRAREREN
EREAEENRTRERUEHFE
BB EBER MR-

(vij RESEEAEENRBEMEERD
AE%Tﬁ%IE’J%?“ﬁL*%BZT%‘J%@;M
EAEEEBRNEMERERNREE
HAZ FREALADBHBHEA_-_ZE—1F
TtEBEZ+NBZEREZER (TBRER)
TERERERI—& -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group’s success also depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers
and suppliers.

Customers

For foundation construction, the principal customers
are generally from the main contractors of construction
projects in Hong Kong. For ground investigation services,
the principal customers are generally from the employers of
construction projects in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors considered that the Group did not rely
on any single customer. The Group also maintains a long-
term relationship with its customers, some of which have
established more than 10 years of working relationship with
the Group.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Reporting Period, the suppliers of goods
and services which were specific to the business of the
Group and were acquired on a regular basis to enable
the Group to continue to carry its business included (j)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site
works; (i) materials and equipment suppliers to supply
materials and equipments used in the site works; and (i)
suppliers of miscellaneous goods and services required
for the Group’s business operations. The Group maintains
multiple suppliers and subcontractors to avoid the over-
reliance on a few suppliers and subcontractors; and did
not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers and assigning subcontractors during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not have any significant
disputes with any of its suppliers and subcontractors
during the Reporting Period.

BEE w1

BER -HEE- -2 EHRESNME

AEBNRNTRRAREIEZENE (BEE
BEBRRHMER) BXF-

%5

MHEERMs  FERERP—RATEREEE
BENEAREm - LB ARFEMS  TEE
F—RAEEERBEEANEE NREHH
EERAE FXERUTARBEMNE—FTHR &
EETHERR#FTRPBEG BoRLAEHA
NEBEITI10EMU ETERMEF-

HEEHRSEH

RBREHE mAEBEFBRFEEATHH
REYERRGZUEAEFBEEBETHER
WHEBEE ((FEBEZRETHETIRERN
DEBH;(INHBEMBETEEANYHRRERN
MR BREHRES  R(INWHRESAEREBE
BFENEMSBEERRRBOMER A&
BHEFZLHtREaRsE8BUER Y D #M
BREaknOBBEERE RREHB 25&H
REHEERBEYHEZRDEEHEILE
BREMEREE AEBENRSHBLEA
HEHESRDEEEERAERMG

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R R

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with the applicable labour laws and regulations
and regularly reviewed the benefits of existing staff for
improvement. The Group intends to use its best effort
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel
to serve the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing an attractive remuneration
package.

The Group determines the salary of its employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualification, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts
annual review on salary increment, bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The Group considers that the Group has maintained
a good relationship with its employees. The Group
has not experienced any strikes, work stoppages or
labour disputes which affected its operations during the
Reporting Period. The Directors also acknowledge that the
management team and the employees have maintained
a good relationship and co-operated well during the
Reporting Period.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group places an emphasis on environmental
protection when undertaking its projects. The Group was
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 (environmental management
system). During the Reporting Period, the ISO 14001:2015
certificate was valid from 24 March 2021 to 29 April
2024. When preparing the tender documents, the Group
will take into consideration the environmental protection
requirements of potential customers as well as the
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental
protection. The Group’s safety officers are responsible for
ensuring that the Group satisfies the applicable laws and
regulations requirements and identifying and reporting on
environmental issues to our project management team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operation are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company
itself is a holding company. Our operations accordingly
shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report, there is no material non-compliance with
the relevant prevailing laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets up to the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the Reporting Period.

For further details, please refer to the corporate
governance report on page 30 to 59 of this annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEEEFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Shuai (B&B), aged 34, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in financial management from Shanghai University
of International Business and Economics (=& ¥ 4ME 8Bk
B2)in 2009, bachelor's degree of business administration
(majoring in financial services and administration) (long
distance learning course) from Douglas College in 2009
and Master Degree in Science (majoring in Economics
and Finance) from University of Durham in the United
Kingdom in 2011. Mr. Yan also obtained a fund practice
certificate* (PEFEHRER S ENEEZE)issued by
Asset Management Association of China (FEIEESKRE
EE£E1E)in February 2018. Mr. Yan has over 10 years
of experience in the finance field. Mr. Yan was a director
of Links Network & Technology Co., Limited (_7&7Z K
FERB G BR/AT), a company listed on National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (Stock code: 835718)
from May 2017 to March 2019. He has also been a senior
investment manager of Shenzhen Capital Group Co.
Limited CRYITIRIFTEEEE)and Shanghai Chuangxin
Investment Management Company Limited* (=788 #i#&
EEEHPPR/AT) since 2011, responsible for fund-raising
and project financing. Mr. Yan has joined the Company
since 13 March 2018.

Mr. Zhu Jiayu (5R{EHi), aged 49, obtained his Master
Degree of Science in Electrical Engineering from the
University of Wyoming in 1996. Mr. Zhu has over 27
years of business and managerial experiences in various
industries including telecommunication, IT software, chip
manufacturing, infrastructural constructions, industrial
equipment, gaming and new media. He has been the
co-founder and partner of Shanghai Yi Hong Internet
Technology Company Limited* EBZZEZHEERTE
FR/2 8], which is engaged in the production of internet
streaming programs in the People’s Republic of China,
since July 2015. Mr. Zhu has joined the Company since 18
September 2019.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi ((R#E3&) , aged 41, has over 18 years’
experience in financial, risk and investment management.
He currently acts as the executive director, chief financial
officer, company secretary and authorised representative
of Mason Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 273)
in April 2020, as an independent non-executive director of
Jiangsu Protruly Vision Technology Group Company Limited
(IHRTERGRZEBRMNARAF) (@ company
delisted from the Shanghai Stock Exchange in May 2020,
Stock Code: 600074) since July 2018 and an independent
non-executive director, a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 643) since March 2017. Mr. Zhang currently serves
as a corporate instructor of MPACC at Harbin Institute
of Technology and a practices instructor of postgraduate
students of accounting and auditing at Jinan University and
a students mentor of professional postgraduate students
of University of Science and Technology Beijing. Mr. Zhang
obtained a master degree of business management* (T
EEIEET2) from the University of Science and
Technology Beijing in 2011. He also holds qualifications
as a certified public accountant and senior accountant
in the PRC. Mr. Zhang is an International Affiliate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, fellow member of CPA Australia and holds
the certificate of independent director of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang has joined the Company since January 2018,
and he was an executive director, chief financial officer
and authorized representative of the Company, and
re-designated to a non-executive director since March
2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEEEFR

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (£8¢Ek), aged 55, has over 21
years of experiences in financial management, accounting,
and auditing fields.

Mr. Chui, is currently an executive director of Yuk Wing
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536), a non-
executive director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1246) and an executive director of Hong Kong
Life Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (“HK Life
Sci”) (stock code: 8085). The securities of HK Life Sci had
been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange until 14
September 2020.

He was an independent non-executive director of Aurum
Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
March 2010 to March 2016, an executive director of China
Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 228)
from October 2005 to June 2016 and a non-executive
director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559) from December 2015 to March 2020.

Mr. Chui was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings
Limited (“Ming Lam Hldgs”) (stock code: 1106) from July
2019 to August 2020. Mr. Chui was informed that Ming
Lam Hldgs was ordered to be wound up by the High Court
of Hong Kong on 31 August 2020.

Mr. Chui was a non-executive director of Hsin Chong
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 404) from May 2015
to March 2019 whose securities were listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange until 31 December 2019.
Hsin Chong was wound up by an order of the Supreme
Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020. On 11 April
2022, the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
issued a statement in which, among others, certain former
members of the board of HCGH have been criticised.
Details of which in respect of Mr. Chui are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 April 2022. Mr. Chui
has joined the Company since 7 January 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (E#EH), aged 51, has over 29 years
of experience in auditing, accounting and finance. Mr. Lo
received a bachelor's degree of business administration
from the University of Hong Kong in 1993 and a master’s
degree of professional accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a certified public
accountant, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, fellow member of
CPA Australia and fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Lo is a practising
accountant in Hong Kong, and has become the managing
partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited since 2014. Mr.
Lo currently serves as the independent non-executive
director of each of the Hong Kong listed companies below,
namely, China Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code:
715) since November 2014, China Tonghai International
Financial Limited (stock code: 952) since February 2017
and G-Resources Group Limited (stock code: 1051) since
July 2017. Mr. Lo was an independent non-executive
director of each of Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company
Limited (stock code: 1335) from June 2012 to May 2020,
Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
125) from May 1999 to March 2021, China Zhongwang
Holdings Limited from October 2008 to October 2021
and Xinming China Holdings Limited from June 2015
to November 2021. Mr. Lo is also the member of the
Shanghai Pudong New Area Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and the
president of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association and the Divisional President 2019
- Greater China of CPA Australia. Mr. Lo has joined the
Company since 8 March 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEEEFR

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (RE=i&), aged 46, has over
15 years of work experience in legal area. He has worked
for various professional companies and specialised in
intellectual property, cross border legal business and
general company legal affairs. Mr. Leung served as an
assistant director in a department of a legal related service
company from September 2006 to September 2020. Mr.
Leung graduated from China University of Political Science
and Law in 2002 with a bachelor degree of law, majoring in
economics law* CEE 2+ (& EFEZ)). Mr. Leung has
joined the Company since 5 July 2017.

Mr. Eric, Todd GZ#R41ZE), aged 60, possesses extensive
professional experience in the auditing, financial
management, investment and media industry. Mr.
Todd holds a bachelor of science degree in business
administration from the School of Management of Boston
University in Massachusetts, United States of America. He
was a certified public accountant in the State of California,
the United States from September 1989 to January 2010.

Mr. Todd started his career at the Hong Kong office of
KPMG (formerly known as KPMG Peat Marwick) from 1985
to 1990 and subsequently joined the Standard Chartered
Bank Group and worked from 1991 to 1995. Prior to
joining the Company, he had been employed as a business
consultant and also served as finance director for several
companies engaged in the media industry.

Mr. Todd is currently an executive director and chairman of
Far East Holdings International Limited (stock code: 36).

Mr. Todd was a director of Tech Pro Technology
Development Limited (stock code: 3823) (“Tech Pro”) from
March 2020 to June 2021, the issued shares of which
were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
delisted on 2 March 2020. Mr. Todd was also an executive
director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited
(stock code: 8272) from March 2020 to April 2021 (the
issued shares of which were listed on the GEM board of
the Stock Exchange and delisted on 13 July 2021), and
a non-executive director of Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1089) from July 2015 to December
2020 (the issued shares of which were listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and delisted on 24
December 2020).

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Todd was an executive director of Shi Shi Services
Limited (stock code: 8181) from August 2016 to October
2020, an executive director and chairman of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) from March 2020
to September 2021, and an independent non-executive
director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code:
1246) from July 2016 to August 2017 and an independent
non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited (stock code:
8187) from May 2021 to February 2022. Mr. Todd was an
executive director of Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 404) (“Hsin Chong”) from March 2017 to
March 2019, whose securities were listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange until 31 December 2019.
Hsin Chong was wound-up by an order of the Supreme
Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020. Mr. Todd has
joined the Company since 7 January 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying (Ei®¥)joined the Company in
January 2017. She currently serves as the company
secretary and assistant financial controller. She holds a
bachelor of accounting degree in the Edinburgh Napier
University and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. Wong worked in Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1335) as a finance manager and
several accounting firms. Ms. Wong has over 11 years of
extensive experience in the field of accounting, auditing
and financial management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERERS

The Board of Directors of Wan Kei Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries is committed to achieving
and maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the
Group to formulate the business strategies and policies,
and manage the associated risk through effective internal
control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency
of the Group and strengthen its accountability to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the Reporting Period (the “Code”).

The Group commits to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices by periodic review to
ensure that the Group continues to meet the requirements
of the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors, and
three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai
Mr. Zhu Jiayu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson
Mr. Eric, Todd
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERERS

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period. There
are currently three independent non-executive Directors
in the Board and the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of
the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent
element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has also complied
with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which stipulates
that one of the independent non-executive Directors
must possess appropriate professional qualification or
accounting or related financial management expertise. In
compliance with the Code, the independent non-executive
Directors expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclosed the name of the Directors.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely,
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Eric,
Todd has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a fixed term unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. The independent non-executive Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”).

At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once
every three years. The Directors to be retired in every year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their last
election or re-election. Mr. Yan Shuai, Mr. Zhu Jiayu and
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi will retire from office as Directors at the
forthcoming AGM pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of its
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Group considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board. The biographical details
of each of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular
meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular
circumstances. During the Reporting Period, 17 board
meetings were held. The Directors’ attendance of the
Board meetings and general meeting are set out as
follows:

EEERERS

FAABDEBWEASBUFATESTRELTR
AIE3 AR EXRNFEEBIIMERE A& E
BRERBUFATESFIABIL FE LM
MAIBIRE o

BREBRSHRBEEN ESEREZHTEY
B EB - RBIHMEKR ERBAGR SE
EZBREFBHENAEFRIESZTRATWEN
BEFEI—8e

EFTRERAE

EXCEHEHRSZ MERAIEIN TERER
HERBERAREZ NS HE 81T
1TREZCEZF - EFTHFEEFEERZAR
RAEHRHEUWT :

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
PRSI RS HARE
RRERAEH E5gg80
HERS HEXRS
EERH™ EERH™
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Yan Shuai BREN ST 1/1 17/17
Mr. Chan Kwan (resigned as executive Director BREE R _T - _4F
on 31 January 2022) —B=+—HEHT
£%) 1/1 9/11
Mr. Zhu Jiayu KIERALE 1/1 1717
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRE A 1/1 16/17
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau BRI E 1/1 17/17
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EEESE 1/1 1717
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REERE 1/1 17/17
Mr. Eric, Todd EIRERE 1/1 17/17

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND
DELEGATION

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership
and control of the Group and be collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving
the annual development plan and budget; monitoring
financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
system and supervising and managing the management’s
performance.

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, during the
Reporting Period, the Board has performed the following
duties in accordance with the terms of reference:

° determined and reviewed the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

° reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of
conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to
the management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the
Group by the management. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committee”).
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Yan Shuai, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance
for the development of the Group, leading the Board
and guaranteeing effective operation of the Board in
accordance with sound corporate governance practice
and procedures, as well as advocating an open and active
discussing culture to promote the Directors to effectively
contribute to the Board. The Company has not appointed
the chief executive officer during the Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding directors’ transactions
of the listed securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors,
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and its code of conduct during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
code provision C.1.4 of the Code during the Reporting
Period that all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an in-
house training on the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar
during the Reporting Period conducted by the legal advisor
as to Hong Kong laws and relevant training materials were
distributed to all the Directors. All Directors attended the
in-house training. The training covered topics including
the Code, listed company regulations and disclosure
obligations in Hong Kong, disclosable transactions and
connected transactions, etc.

EEERRS
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the () audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), (i) remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), (iii) the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and (iv) the
investment committee (the “Investment Committee”)
with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of each of the Board Committees, which explain their
respective roles and authority delegated to them by the
Board, are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and
upon reasonable requests, are able to seek independent
professional advice and other assistance under appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 9
May 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3
of the Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lo
Wa Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Eric, Todd,
with Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy being the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. During
the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management on the Group’s unaudited interim
results, audited annual results, the consolidated financial
statements and this report.
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During the Reporting Period, 10 meetings were held by the
Audit Committee. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out below:

EEERERS

RBEHE BEREEEERTIORNTH &
ZEEEENENHELHEEIMT :

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Name of committee members Period

H ¥R &5 HARI AY

HERE®

ZEgRENY EERY

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BEELE (F/E) 10/10

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REELE 10/10

Mr. Eric, Todd EIRIRTE 10/10

There had been no disagreement between the Board and RERGHE E5eHBZZEGURERD
the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period. I o

During the Reporting Period, members of the Audit RRESHE RERESE EREZEEWE

Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The audit committee should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

BEEITUTHS:

B AT 2 %

(a) FTEEEMIEBEZBONEZET EHNZE
£ 8 %L,(Ez?ttxﬁ%ﬂﬂi%(ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬁﬁiﬁ
MrkrRmESSRHEEZ E’zﬁ? B
MHEBEINER ZERE

(b) REANRERN KEEINBSZHUENE
CEIEBRAZBEFRES AN -EX
ZEERNESHGR BB RE
SRMEREEURBERSE ;
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EEERERS

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The audit committee should report to the board,
identifying and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

(d) to monitor integrity of the issuer’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the board, the
committee should focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

(V) compliance with accounting standards; and

(Vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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(e) Regarding (d) above:-

(i) members of the committee should liaise with
the board and senior management and the
committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the issuer’s auditors; and

(ii) the committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and
accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
issuer’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors.

Oversight of the issuer’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

( to review the issuer’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk
committee, or by the board itself, to review the
issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems;

(e); to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h) to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

(i) where an internal audit function exists, to
ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the issuer, and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;

EEERERS

(e) BMLEMAEMES : —

iy ZEENEREEFTTARERE
BEAEWKK - ZEGREDLEF
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AN

(i) ZEEREENBREREREFRFMR
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ESCR

EERTAMBHREHE - BREERNEEEE
R

() BHBTANPHFEE UKk (KRIEA
SRNEFEETAREZETNESTT
A HERE) B ETANRRERE
A BB R

(9 BREEREENREREERNSEEZER
MoOEREEECBRTREZILANY
A -NMARREEETATEES R
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(o)

to review the group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external
auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the board on the matters in the terms of
reference;

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

to review arrangements employees of the issuer can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the issuer’s relations with the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee on 9 May 2015. As at the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yan Shuai and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr.
Leung Ka Fai Nelson. Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Board from time to time. The Board as a whole has
determined the remuneration policy and packages of the
Directors. No individual Director was allowed to be involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of senior
management is listed as below by band:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

EEERERS

EFERMNFNEECEERELRAST
Al =3 WA QT KPR A8 LAl {2
S

FMEEEN T ERSEENEIEREES
EREREEBEAENHFHERRRBERAES
EFLERER URBEFEFAKNLTE
BRFEBRTREMHEEENFMER -EF
EEBRREFNERKRESIENGHE I &
B EFEESEREEBIHM -

ESH

EEMNERBEESNRT SERKREURE
EENEEETE I EFHFMBERTFH
MESESFER - EFHWHNFBHNEE
BRaMBRE-

=REREASHM

RBREHAE sREEASNHFMEE RSN
T

No. of person

#FNEEE (BT A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T AT -
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 75 £ 1,500,0007 7T 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T £2,000,0007# 7T 4

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
5 highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules have been set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

2,000,001 7 75 £2,500,00074 7T -

REFELHRAMETNETFTRENEE KA
LEREHFNESFMNE-—THFBEIENEE
BiaMBRE-
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EEERERS

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 1 meeting and all the members have attended to
review the Group’s remuneration policy and approved
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
committee members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee is set out as follow:

RESHE FMESERETT1REHEHES
FE Ak B398 W E > A2 B 2 & B R B SR e it
ERTESRGFENNER -FMESETRE
HEZEEEZHNBERHINDT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period

g a=g Gl

HERE

FERY

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (Chairman) REEAE (2/E) 11
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BEELLE 1/1
Mr. Yan Shuai BB 1/1

During the Reporting Period, members of the
Remuneration Committee had performed the following
duties under the terms of reference:

° assessed the performance of executive Directors
and consulted the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other executive Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration;

° reviewed and approved the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management;
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° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

° considered salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
and its subsidiaries;

° ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
and

° reviewed and approved compensation payable to

executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9
May 2015. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, namely Mr.
Yan Shuai, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson.
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, diversity and competition of the
Board, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the
Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.

EEERERS
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Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy sets out the approach
and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-
election of directors. The selection criteria in assessing the
suitability of potential candidates includes, but not limited
to, their professionalism and personal ethics, reputation
for integrity, character and integrity, board experience,
expertise, time commitment, measurable objectives
set out in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it considers appropriate
for evaluating and shortlisting candidates, which may
include, personal interviews, background checks, written
submission by the candidates and third party references.
The selection process for each of their appointments shall
be evaluated using a substantially similar process and shall
be fair and transparent.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting and all the members had attended to
review the Group’s nomination policy. The committee
members’ attendance of the Nomination Committee is set
out as follow:
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Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BEEERE (F/E) 11
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REIBRE 11
Mr. Yan Shuai BB A 11
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During the Reporting Period, members of the Nomination
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and made recommendations
on proposed changes (if any) to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the said policy;

° determined the policy for the nomination of
Directors;
° assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the
date of this corporate governance report. A summary of
this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board’s diversity has been considered
from a number of measurable aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services, all of which the Company considers
to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regards for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee will from time to time review
the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its
effectiveness.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors,
members of the Board have a variety of education
backgrounds, including holding bachelor and/or master
degrees in the science, law, financial management as well
as the business administration fields. Most of the members
also possess various finance-related experiences. The
composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills, professional experience and knowledge for an
effective leadership of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the objectives in Board Diversity
Policy during the Reporting Period.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Investment Committee
on 2 March 2022. As at the date of this report, the
Investment Committee comprises two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yan Shuai and Mr. Zhu Jiayu and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang Zhenyi. Mr. Yan Shuai
is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The specific written terms of reference of the Investment
Committee were approved and adopted by the Board.

Pursuant to the terms of reference, the primary duties
of the Investment Committee are (a) to study and make
recommendations to the Board in relation to investment
activities, recommendations must be submitted to the
Board for approval; (b) to advise on the investment
policies of the Company; (c) to discuss, formulate views
and advise the Board on asset allocation, selection of
external portfolio investment advisor/fund manager(s)
and quantum to be invested with collective investment
schemes/fund managers and appointment of custodian(s);
(d) to consider such other topics and matters relating to
financial investments of the Company as may be assigned
by the Board; and (e) to review these terms of reference on
at least an annual basis and recommend any changes it
considers appropriate for the Board’s approval.

During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee
had not held any meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which
reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
of its operations and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as its external auditors for the year ended
31 March 2022. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor. There is no non-audit services provided by the
auditors. Details of the fees paid/payable to HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited during the Reporting Period are as
follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. However, risk-taking is an unavoidable
necessity and an accepted part of the Company’s
business while effective risk management is an integral
part to present competitive advantages and ensure the
Company achieves its strategic and business objectives.
The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Group’s
business and is a critical component in developing
strategic plans, preparing operational plans and budgets,
approving investment projects and managing project plans.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and management
based on the severity of impact on the Company and the
probability of risk occurring.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the
risks as follows:

° Risk elimination: management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.
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° Risk mitigation: management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood and/
or severity of impact to an acceptable level.

° Risk acceptance: management may decide that the
risk rating is acceptable for the Company meanwhile
and no action is thus required. However, the risk
would continue to be monitored to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Controls and Reviews

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the
relevant management directives are carried out and actions
that may be needed to address risks are taken. These may
include approvals, verifications, reviews, safeguarding of
assets and segregation of duties.

Control activities can be divided into operations, financial
reporting and compliance, although there may, on
occasion, be some overlaps between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Group include:

° analytical reviews: such as conducting reviews of
actual performance against prior periods;

° direct functional or activity management: review of
performance reports;

° physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories
and other assets are safeguarded and subject to
periodic checks; and

° segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties
among different people, with a view to strengthening
checks and minimizing the risk of errors and abuse.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

o conducts its affairs with high regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission;

° closely communicates and seeks advice from its
legal advisor in assessing the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact
the price of the Shares or their trading volume,
and to determine whether the relevant information
is considered inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant
to the SFO and the Listing Rules;

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct
a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

° ensures, through its own internal reporting process
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.
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Assessing the Effectiveness of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board, via the Audit Committee, is responsible for the
review and assessment of the major risks the Group faces
and the review, approval and monitoring of the Group’s
response to such risks annually.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management
process and reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by performing
the following procedures:

o Review with management annually those reports on
compliance with the risk management policy;

° Discuss with management annually on the Group’s
major risks and the steps management has taken
since then or should take to address and deal with
such risks; and

° Review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management practices.

Management is responsible for ensuring the Group’s
business operations being conducted in line with our risk
management policy, taking into consideration changes in
external environment and the Group’s risk tolerance level.

In addition to the Board’s oversight, the Group has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to remediate material
internal control deficiencies (if any). Management, through
the engagement of the independent internal control and
risk advisory team, is responsible for the annual risk
reporting process. The independent internal control and
risk advisory team meets with members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss
remedial measures to address material internal control
deficiencies (if any), including any changes relevant to
a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings assigned and
migration plans documented. The risk assessment is
reviewed by management and presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review.
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The Group has in place effective processes and systems
for the identification, capture and reporting of operational,
financial and compliance-related information in a form
and timeframe intended to ensure that staff carry out their
designated responsibilities.

Risk Management and Internal Control Process

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews
annually the continuous effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems dealing with risk
and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and
regulations, and risk management functions.

The assessment considers:

° the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the risk management and
internal control systems;

° the extent and frequency with which the results
of monitoring are communicated, enabling the
Committee to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of control in the Group and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

° the incidence of any significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified at any time
during the period and the extent to which they have
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° the effectiveness of the Group’s processes in relation
to financial reporting and statutory and regulatory

compliance;

o areas of risk identified by management;
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o significant risks reported by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team;

° work programs proposed by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team and the external
auditors; and

° significant issues arising from internal and external
audit.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and have complied with the
Code Provisions on risk management and internal control
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, Riskory Consultancy Limited, which
has assisted in monitoring the corporate governance of the
Group and providing an objective assessment to the Board
on whether a sound internal control system is maintained
and operated by management.

The internal control and risk advisory team conducted a
review on a number of corporate governance areas and
business cycles and provided recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the internal control
system. No significant control finding or weakness has
been identified by the internal control and risk advisory
team. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal control and risk advisory
team on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The
Company may consider declaring and paying dividends to
the Shareholders provided that the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In
determining the declaration of dividends and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;

o the liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
and

° any other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
are also subject to restrictions under the applicable laws
and the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

The Board would review the Company’s dividend policy
from time to time considering factors including but not
limited to capital investment and business plan.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying has been appointed as the Company
Secretary (the “Company Secretary”) since 7 January
2021.

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Board. All
Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary
and the responsibility of the Company Secretary is to
ensure the Board meetings are properly held and are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices
with respect to the Directors’ obligations on securities
interest disclosure, disclosure requirements of disclosable
transactions, connected transactions and inside
information.

The Company Secretary, Ms. Wong Kit Ying, had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the
Shareholders could communicate directly and exchange
views concerning the affairs and overall performance of
the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the
Shareholders. The external auditors of the Company is also
invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of
the Shareholders concerning the audit procedures and the
auditors’ report.

The next AGM of the Company will be held within 2022,
the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right to vote
at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary by mail at Unit No. 901, 9th Floor,
Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures for
Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.
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Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person (other
than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Head Office or at the Registration Office no earlier than the
day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
for such election and no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by post to the principal place of business in Hong Kong
set out in the section headed “Corporation Information”
by fax at +852 3793 3530 or by email at info@1718hk.
com. The Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s
direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions
and inquiries, to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures
to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group
to the public through various channels, including general
meetings, public announcements and financial reports.
The investors are also able to access the latest news and
information of the Group via our website (www.hkex1718.
hK).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the
Company together with the Board extend their invitation
to all Shareholders and encourage them to attend the
forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings.
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The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and
suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Unit No. 901, 9th Floor,
Capital Centre,
No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@1718hk.com

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
could ensure an effective distribution of the resources
and Shareholders’ interests. The senior management
will continue endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and
increasing the Group’s corporate governance level and
quality.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report was prepared for an overview of the
performance of the Group on environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG Report”).

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the
overall performances, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments of the Group in environmental, social, and
governance areas for the year ended 31 March 2022
(“YR2022").

During the YR2022, the Group is principally engaged in
providing foundation construction, ground investigation
services, financial services and trading of beauty and skin
care products in Hong Kong. The foundation construction
is its major business, which mainly consists of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group conducts foundation
construction through Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering
Company Limited and ground investigation services
through Chun Shun Boring Engineering Company Limited.
Therefore, the ESG Report will mainly focus on the above
businesses.

For the Group’s corporate governance practice
information, please refer to the corporate governance
report on pages 30 to 59 of this annual report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is prepared in accordance with the “mandatory
disclosure” requirements and “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules, and in compliance with the
following reporting principles for the preparation of this
report:
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Materiality

The Group focuses on topics that are material to
stakeholders and have a material impact on our business,
the environment and the society. We have engaged
with the key stakeholders of the Group that are directly
impacted by our operations, including employees,
suppliers, customers, investors and shareholders,
government and regulatory agencies and the general
public. We continue to maintain ongoing communication
with our key stakeholders to understand their concerns
and interests towards our operations and sustainability
performances.

Quantitative

This report made quantitative disclosure and ensure key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) are measurable and
accompanied by statements describing their purposes,
standards, methods, assumption, data and calculation
methods for emissions and energy consumption.

Balance

This report outlines the performance indicators of the
Group with impartial manner and avoid presenting them
with undue impact for the readers of this report.

Consistency

This report adopts consistent methods to collect and
calculate the data and provides historical data where
appropriate, so as to make meaningful comparison as
much as practicable. To show stakeholders the full picture
of the environmental, social and governance performance
of the Group, this report discloses the environmental and
social KPIs in accordance with the “mandatory disclosure”
requirements and "comply or explain® provisions of the
ESG Reporting Guide. The methodology or KPIs used to
prepare this report remain unchanged from last year.

Reporting Boundary

The Group aim to identify and collect the data as
practicable as possible. If there is change in the scope, we
shall discuss the difference and the reason of the change.
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group undertook
its environmental and social responsibilities during the
year and actively implemented a number of environmental
and social policies. In terms of the environment, the
Group strictly abided by relevant laws and regulations,
implemented detailed internal codes, and made clear
guidelines on management of site environment, control on
emissions, and even management of office environment,
in an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily operation
on the environment. Thereby, we hoped to reduce the
emission of our construction sites to the surrounding
environment and maintain the high quality of our projects.

In terms of employment, the Group has established a
series of internal policies related to employment according
to the guidance under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
industry features and practices to ensure that its
employees are provided with equal promotion opportunity
and other packages, such as minimum wage security,
maximum working hours, compensatory leave, mandatory
provident fund or pension security and rewards for long-
term services.

The Board is responsible for overall ESG strategy and
reporting, ensuring that our ESG policies are duly
implemented, monitoring the progress made against ESG
targets and continuous updating to compliance with the
latest standards.

This report was confirmed and approved by the Board on
29 July 2022.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND

COMMUNICATION

The Group defines its stakeholders as people who affect
its business or who are affected by its business. Its
stakeholders include government and regulatory agency,
investors and shareholders, customers, employees,
suppliers and the general public. The Group actively
communicates with these stakeholders and presents its
updated operation condition to them proactively through
various channels. The Group integrates their opinions
with its daily operational decisions, strive to balance the
interests of the parties and satisfy the expectations and

demands of stakeholders.

IRIF - ERERHRS
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels

FiRE BERBE BERE

Government and e Comply with relevant laws and regulations e [ aw-abiding operations
Regulatory Agencies e Proper tax payment e Tax payment on time and in full

B R B E TS o BIEMEREEER o REKE

Investors and Shareholders

Customers

o EREMRINE
* |nvestment return

e Transparency of information

e Corporate strategy and governance

o RE[MI¥H

. ERERE
. CEEBRER

e Durable and solid foundation

e High-quality ground investigation services o

e Direct Communication
o FERENMEA

o BELHEIRIRE
o HIZER

o RERZEER

e Better manage risk and generate
sustainable long-term returns

e Statutory reports and general
disclosures

e |nterim and annual reports

o BIERREEBEKRELNFE
RHEA[EI#HR

o EEMER—AEE

o FHARFERS

e Regular meetings with
contractors/customers
Maintain good reputation in the
foundation industry

e Customers’ feedback survey

o THREEME BRRTER
o NMMETELRREEE

o BRERAE
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels
FivE BERNE BERE
Employees e Remuneration and promotion prospect e Performance reviews and
appraisals
e Healthy and safe working environment e |mplement health and safety
management system
e Corporate culture and well-being ® In-house training
BT o HMKEBAKE o BNMEIEKTZ
s RERZE2MIERE o BNMRERZZEBEZRA
o PENIBREM o AELIH
Suppliers e Stable cooperation relationship e Conduct assessment survey
e Respect to contractual commitment and e Fulfilment of contractual
payment terms obligations in accordance with
laws and regulations
HAEE o BEAFRF o ETHMEAZE

The General Public

BEAWIBE R ATRURRR
Ensure the daily life was not affected by engineering

Constructions cause no structural danger upon the
completion of works

Comply with relevant environmental laws related to
noise, air pollution and others
BRABLEEIARZIRERE

ITREIBTEEMBEYERECR
BIEBERERSREBHARFRED
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group carried out materiality assessment on a
number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues
were crucial to the Group’s business and were of the
material concerns to stakeholders. The Group has k&
identified 22 ESG issues covering environmental, social
and operation. Management and employees of the Group
have participated in the preparation of the materiality

EESFE

FE IR -

assessment and assessed the importance of these 22
ESG issues to businesses of the Group and stakeholders,
and make disclosure of relevant information.

The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in YR2022:
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1221 520

910 13

AEHERENEEN
IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO STAKEHOLDERS
o

Environmental issues

4 5 6 7

IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO BUSINESS

Social issues

8 9 10

HIGHEST
BE

Operatlon issues

IRIGMRE HtEmME SEME
1 Greenhouse as emissions 9 Local communlty engagement 17 Economic value generated
T OREREEF T BMiteSE C EERKEER
Energ consumpnon Community investment Corporate governance
2 RN 10 HErs 18 FPE
3 Water consumption 11 Occupational health and safety 19 Anti-corruption
© Ok CHERREZS REF
Waste Labour standards in supply chain Supply ¢ cham management
4 EEw 12 g TEE 20 fpesm ey
5 Enwronmental |mpact of construction 13 Tra|n|ng and development 21 Customer satlsfactlon
T ERNIRRERE R E R CERWEE
Green buildings certification loyee welfare Customer privacy
6 BEmEan 4 R 22. ZRAME
Customer engagement in Inclusion and equal opportunities
7. environmental issues 15. BB RFEHS
XREREEESENSHE
Use of chemicals 16 Talent attraction and retention

8. ft=:aEA
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is engaged in foundation construction and
ground investigation services, which may inevitably
produce exhaust gas, greenhouse gas, dust, sewage,
noises and other emissions. However, the Group has
implemented detailed internal codes, and made clear
guidelines on management of site environment, control on
emissions, and even management of office environment, in
an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily operation on
the environment.

As a recognition to the Group’s environment policies,
its environmental management system concerning the
design, supply and installation of the rock-socketed
steel H-pile in pre-bored hole and mini pile work, has
been identified to be in compliance with ISO 14001:
2015 after the assessment since 2021. The Group has
been granted the OHSAS 18001:2007 Certification
of Environment Management System by Accredited
Certification International Limited, the Best Safety and
Environment Protection Subcontractor Award and the On-
site Best Safety and Environmental Subcontractor Award
by customers, all of which prove the Group’s endeavour in
promoting environmentally responsible practices.

1. Emissions

Air Pollution - Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG Emission”) from
daily business activities mainly represent direct exhaust
emissions from construction machineries and transport
vehicles while carrying out projects, as well as electricity
and paper consumption in office and warehouse. To
reduce gas emissions, the Group has issued specific
internal guidance for regulating and monitoring the
GHG Emissions and exhaust emissions during the
daily operation, including the construction process and
environment management on the site, turning off all idle
construction machineries and strictly enforcing “Switch
off Idling Vehicles”, as well as reminding staff to turn off all
electric appliances while leaving the working place.
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The Group has complied with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance and other regulations promulgated by
governments and currently applicable to the Group, as
well as environmental requirements of contractor. All
machineries, including leased machineries, used on the site
shall obtain approval or exemption from the Environmental
Protection Administration, and shall not be used on the site
until the approval label or exemption label being attached.
Those machineries consume ultra-low-sulfur diesel to
reduce the emission of suspended particles, thus reaching
our environmental protection target.

In addition, the Group maintains and repairs machineries,
equipment and vehicles on regular basis, with a view to
prevent them from generating excess emissions of exhaust
caused by broken parts and other reasons, and to facilitate
the reduction of fuel consumption.

During the YR2022, the greenhouse gas and exhaust data
are as followed:

IRIF - ERERHRS
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Categories of emissions Unit 2022 2021
B iEsE EfiI -z 2%
Air emissions
BE R AR
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions kg 536.8 594.8
RACYBIN T
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions kg 1.2 1.2
=R ke T
Particulate matter (PM) emission kg 43.7 48.9
TR B T
GHG emissions
= R ARHERR
Total GHG emissions' ton CO% 8,499.5 7,002.7
mE RS AR Wi HEIEIREE
GHG emissions intensity ton CO% 68.5 511
(per employee)
BERBHREZE W—EbkEE
(B4EE)
Direct emissions (Scope 1) ton CO% 8,402.7 6,910.8
BHiEEIR (BE—) Wi HEIEIREE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) ton CO% 81.7 76.0
BN @ED) W—EbkEE
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) ton CO% 15.1 15.6

HhfE s (EE=)

W SCEE

! GHG emissions can be divided into three separate areas (j) direct; (i) indirect; and (iii) other indirect.
! BERBSHI A D% = KB I EE R () B () BEHE ; Kl H AR BER o
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Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from gasoline consumption
by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions resulting from electricity
consumption by the Group.

Scope 3: Other indirect GHG emissions include emission
from business travel by air by employees and
emission from electricity consumption for
processing fresh water and sewage.

Air Pollution - Dust

Dust is generated during construction work. Dust
emissions can mainly be attributed to wind and kinesis.
Construction materials such as sand and cement stored
outdoor as well as the dust of the exposed construction
area are easily scattered in dry and windy weather. In
addition, dust is generated by external force in particular
the construction trucks and machineries during the
process of excavation and soil loosening.

In compliance with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the
Group controls the emission of air pollutants by following
the Group’s internal guidance. To reduce dust pollution,
all vehicles carrying sand and other scraps are covered
completely with canvas to ensure that no large amount of
dust is generated during transportation. In order to prevent
dust spreading around, the Group installs water sprinklers
on the sites to clean tires of construction vehicles while
entering into or leaving the sites and roads.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

Waste from daily operation includes general inert waste
and non-inert construction materials from construction
works. The Group manages waste from the site in
accordance with the internal waste management guidance
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance. In general, the Group
categorises the waste from construction works. General
inert waste from work, such as rocks, if applicable, shall
be reused as filling materials at the site or collected by
professional contractors as reclamation materials in the
future. Other waste that is not applicable for recycle or
reuse shall be discarded to the public dumping area. Metal
and chemical waste within the site shall be collected and
discarded by licensed contractors. All waste shall be well
disposed before being removed from the site.

In respect of office waste, apart from dumping waste
at the designated place in line with the requirements of
the property management office of the office premise,
the Group also categorises the waste and engages a
contractor to collect toner cartridge. Meanwhile, the
Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, toner
cartridges and ink cartridges to reach our waste reduction
target.

During the YR2022, the data of non-hazardous waste is as
follows:
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Categories of waste Unit 2022 2021
EEEYES Efil —E-— —e-—£F
Waste

BEEY)

Total non-hazardous waste produced? ton 74 98
FRES BmEBEYRE? g

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) 0.6 0.7
FREEBREBENEE W (B %ES)

Total hazardous waste produced?® ton N/A N/A
FREL B EREEYRES 13 EA NER
Hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) N/A N/A
FRESXESBENEE M (B4ES) B ~EA
Paper kg 1,844 2,126
MR T

During the YR2022, no hazardous waste is generated.
N_EBE__FEO UIRELBEEREY-

@ W NN

During the YR2022, the Group’s non-hazardous waste from daily operation mainly comprises of iron.

NI —FE - AERRREEEENESBERY T EZ0EH -
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Sewage Discharge

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance. Water consumed at the site shall be discharged
to the designated environmental treatment facility in
accordance with the instruction of the contractors before
being discharged outside the site. The Group shall deploy
adequate manholes and deposition pools in line with
seasons, with an aim to mitigate the water pollution caused
by garbage, oil or other materials.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant
emissions. During the YR2022, the Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and
other relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have
significant impact on the environment. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2022.

Climate Change

The management of the Group has been aware that
climate change and global warming pose a huge impact
to global environment which may adversely impact our
businesses and the economy as a whole. Extreme weather
events could interrupt our supply chain logistics and could
delay project delivery leading to potential financial losses of
the Group, threatening the stability of the Group’s business
and operations. In view of this, we have conducted regular
reviews of environmental standard and regulations and
formulated ESG targets and goals in order to minimize the
aforesaid risks.
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2. Use of Resources

The Group encourages its staff to make good use of
resources, and issues internal notice to all of the staff,
requiring them to save energy and reduce consumption:

o Turn off all the air conditioners and lighting systems
before leaving the working environment;

° Use LED lighting in the office;

° Maintain the indoor temperature at 25 degrees
Celsius in the office;

° Use recycled paper and double-sided printing as
well as old envelops for internal documents or non-
important/unclassified documents;

° Use electronic documents such as email as possible
and reduce paper usage;

° Reduce the use of disposable goods and reuse
office stationery; and

o Make use of telephone/video conferencing
equipment to avoid unnecessary business travelling.

IRIF - ERERHRS
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During the YR2022, data of resources consumption is as N_E__FE > EBERHEZEHEBEOT

follows:

Type of resources consumption Unit 2022 2021
B HERES B —®__ —E-—f
Electricity purchases for consumption kWh 149,785 138,968
FEEHFE FE&

Electricity consumption intensity kWh (per employee) 1,228 1,014
HEERE TEE (B4ES)

Amount of water consumption ms3 6,512 8,292
FEkE AR

Water consumption intensity m? (per employee) 53 61
FEKBRE AR (ELES

Total packaging material used for finished products* kg N/A N/A
S anF A B MRS T EA NER
Amount of packaging material per unit produced* kg N/A N/A
SHERNBEME#HE T B B
Petrol liters 44,645 37,713
AH ~FH

Diesel liters 3,163,944 2,600,791
S0 RFt

Cement ton 17,380 20,586
K g

The Group considers water resources to be quite valuable KEBRAKERBELE TUXREBERH
and the Group is committed to promoting the concept REHNAKES BEITHHNBAKBRIERS
of saving water. There is a wide range of water use at Bz HARATHMMHKRERAREESR K
construction sites. Although the water supply facilities at EEFRBREETAUNREREKER WA
the sites are provided by the contractors, the Group urges EHFE AEERKENREAUERS 8148
on the construction workers from time to time not to waste KIBEIREEB TEHARAKe

water. As for offices, the Group puts up some slogans with
saving water near taps to remind staff to save water.

. No use of packaging materials since the Group does not have physical products for sale. Therefore, this disclosure is not applicable
to the Group.
E ERAERTREYERBEE WU NERAEEME it ZIREN BRI ALER-
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3. The Environment and Natural Resource
Noise Management

As certain procedures would produce noises during
the construction, which cause impacts to the residents
nearby, the Group adopts necessary measures to minimize
noises in compliance with the Noise Control Ordinance.
The Group conducts construction during designated
time (e.g. 7 am. to 7 p.m. on normal working days) and
applies for Noise Control Permit (NCP) for certain works or
construction ways.

The Group would set noise barriers or noise enclosure at
the early stage during construction period to suppress the
noise level.

Enhancing Environmental Awareness

The Group actively enhances the environmental awareness
of its staff in addition to enhancing environmental
measures, including issuing of internal environmental
guidance and sharing of relevant environmental information
in relation to green office.

IRIF - ERERHRS
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SOCIETY

Employment and Labour Practices
1. Employment
Employment Policy

The Group has established a series of internal policies
related to employment according to the guidance under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, industry features and
practices to ensure that its employees are provided with
equal promotion opportunity and other packages, such
as minimum wage security, maximum working hours,
compensatory leave, mandatory provident fund or pension
security and rewards for long-term services.

In general, subsidiaries of the Group would make proper
upward or downward adjustment to the number of existing
staff in the recruitment process based on the scale and
actual situation or progress of the existing sites and the
sites awarded. As all employees on the sites are paid on a
daily basis, the employee turnover is relatively high.

As general foundation construction and ground
investigation services involve certain high-risk activities,
only staff possessed of the Construction Industry Safety
Training Certificate can carry out related work on the site.

Besides, as our subsidiaries engage in construction
business, they will also subcontract some projects to other
subcontractors. In order to ensure that the employees of
the subcontractors could receive reasonable wages, we
usually pay the wages to such employees responsible for
relevant projects on behalf of the subcontractors.

During the YR2022, the Group did not involve any illegal
activities related to employment that had caused material
impact on the Group.
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Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group’s principal businesses include foundation
construction and ground investigation services, which
demand plenty of physical labour force, hence traditionally
male employees are a majority in the workforce of
construction business.

The Group is impartial in choosing its employees, and
has gradually established and improved its recruitment
mechanism. Recruitment of employees is based on their
work experience, techniques and skills, work performance.
The Group does not discriminate our employees on the
basis of their gender, age, origin, nationality, race, religious
belief, sexual orientation, physical disability, marital status
and so on.

Staff Communication

The Group places high priority on staff communication
through various activities and channels, by which it
can understand its staff's needs and strengthen our
relationship. In some traditional Chinese festivals, such as
Chinese New Year Eve, the Company organised New Year
Eve’s dinner for all staff in order to create a harmonious
and friendly working atmosphere and strengthen
communication with staff.

Dismissal

The Group complies with the guidance under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. If terminating the employment of
staff, the Group will follow the process to make reasonable
compensation to the dismissed employees. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment relationship
are set out in the employment contracts of every employee.

IRIF - ERERHRS
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The employment data as at 31 March 2022 is set out RN _E_F=-A=+—HHNEERHEH

below:

mE

As at 31 March

W=BA=+—H
Employment data Unit 2022 2021
=446 Bl —E—— g%
Total number of staff Number of staff 124 137
BTHEY BT A
By gender
L= 3:E sy
Male % 87 87
B4
Female % 13 13
gl
Employment Type
{E{&LE5!
Full-time staff (Male) % 40 36
2HBET B
Full-time staff (Female) % 12 12
SRET (M)
Contract staff (Male) % 47 51
BHET (BMH)
Contract staff (Female) % 1 1
BHET (W)
Age Distribution
FE
Below 30 % 6 7
30 LA R
30-39 % 14 18
30-395%
40-49 % 20 22
40-495%
50-59 % 35 36
50-595%
Above 60 % 25 17
60BE T L
New employees Number of staff 17 25
WMEEET BT AH
Staff turnover Number of staff 30 31
BTIH% BT A
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The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to employment during the course of operation.
During the YR2022, the Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare in Hong Kong. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2022.

2. Health and Work Safety
Occupational Safety

The Group cares about the health and well-being of our
employees. Due to the nature of its businesses, some
employees have to operate a variety of large machines
during daily work, which involves certain safety risk. As
such, the Group implemented various safety measures to
ensure the occupational safety of the employees.

All employees who perform engineering operation must
undergo mandatory basic safety training. Only those
awarded with the Construction Industry Safety Training
Certificate, commonly known as the “Green Card”, can
be employed to carry out related work on the site. In
order to enhance site safety supervision and staff's safety
awareness, the Group has also engaged professional
safety consultants to conduct inspection on site safety so
as to rectify site safety problems immediately and reduce
the occurrence of industrial injury incidents. The Group’s
professional safety consultants also regularly provide
certain safety courses and guidelines on site safety for site
staff and supervisors.

As there are many machinery and other equipment in
the construction sites, employees will be more prone to
industrial accidents. The Group strictly requires workers to
wear safety protection equipment such as safety helmets
and obey the safety guidelines of contractors and the
Group.
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FEEBRERFAEEEHTEE  UERNEESB
BEhETREEREBNEMEZRKER K
T FE FEERENTERAEETE
BEER(EBRIFADREHRERBERE BENS
IR BE-KEFEH - FERE S
b2 48 e EoAth 75 18 A0 18 7 B B B9 H {th 48 B 0%
BEERNBR LI R _FE I
BERAERBREREREEMBREKRIARK
FIBHIRE o

2. RERIFE:R
BEZ2

AEBRIEENREEEL ARTEERE
BHE BHEETHBE ILIFRHEERFEZE
REEH EREFE—EZE2RAE AL &
EEEBERZEZEEN UERESNIIF

Lo

FRE2ATRFXENEEH AR AFMER
AZ2R-ZEERSESEZ2INREBRSE
(BBTHE) MABEA AR EEMERER
BMIfFemMitBEBL2EEREENLER
#HoAEETEZBEEXLZ2EHAESREM
Bz UWERKAUEMEBZEBE ML
BEANELE - FEENEELZE2BEBTEE
HRAtBEASRETREETEARNMEZS
Wz 2 RIERIES] -

BN REMEERSWHR MRS RED
SEEIBEN - FEERBERIARMZ
2EEHERE URETRRE RS EEN

2255

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

77



78

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR M ERERERS

Physical and mental health

Apart from daily work, the Group encourages employees
to participate in various types of outdoor activities which
benefit to the body fitness and mind and keep healthy
to promote the physical and mental development of
employees and maintain a work-life balance.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to health and safety during the course of operation.
In YR2022, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact in Hong Kong.
In addition, there was no record of significant safety
accidents and occupational injuries, nor did it have any
events regarding safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards; and no violation
of health and safety laws and regulations was found in
YR2022.

3. Development and Training

The Group actively attracts and retains talents, and trains
employees who have the potential to become managers
in the long run. Therefore, the Group encourages its
employees to receive further education in relation to the
development needs of the Group and make good use
of their talents to achieve their career goals. The Group
offers sufficient internal promotion opportunities to its
employees. The Group promotes its staff based on their
staff performance evaluation results. The Group’s senior
management has extensive experience in the industry
and will actively share their knowledge to facilitate the
development of our employees. Employees may also
communicate with and seek professional advice from their
department heads on their personal career development
planning.
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All staff on the construction site are required to attend site
safety lectures organised by the contractor that last for half
a day to one and a half days depending on requirements of
such contractor. The Group has also asked staff to attend
lectures on construction site safety and crisis training
organised by professionals.

The Group has appointed professionals to provide its
Directors and senior management with trainings on
various aspects such as the Listing Rules and corporate
governance.

4. Labour Standards

The Group rigorously complies with all relevant labour
standards in Hong Kong and actively protects the basic
personal rights and interests of its employees, ensuring
that they work in a fair environment and are respected.
The Group strictly forbids unlawful acts such as child and
forced labour. In order to combat illegal employment of
child and forced labour, the Human Resources Department
of the Group requires job seekers to provide valid
identification before confirming employment to ensure that
applicants can be employed in accordance with the law.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to labour standards during the course of operation.
In YR2022, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance and the relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group did not employ
child and forced labour, nor did it record any cases of
discrimination involving race, religion, age or disability in
YR2022.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has a total of 185 suppliers, mainly including
subcontractors and material suppliers which are Hong
Kong based companies. There was no major change in the
regional ratio during the year.

The Group has long-term relationships and mutual trust
with its major suppliers (including subcontractors, material
suppliers, etc.) based on long term cooperation and mutual
trust, and all of them have been our material suppliers for
more than a decade. As the Group’s businesses are based
in Hong Kong, it chooses to purchase from suppliers in
Hong Kong to save transportation costs.

In addition to geographical factors, the Group chooses
and evaluates its suppliers based on their professional
qualifications, product quality, service capabilities and
pricing, etc. and in accordance with our procurement
policy. Furthermore, the Group strictly stipulated that all
purchase orders on materials are placed by the office’s
purchaser, and purchase orders must be signed by
Directors to be valid.

6. Product Responsibility
Product quality

The Group has been engaged in foundation construction
and ground investigation services for over a decade and
has completed hundreds of projects one after another.
The Group is widely recognised and highly praised by its
clients as it focuses on service quality and is committed
to providing its clients with top-tier service portfolio. To
meet the demand of its clients, the Group has developed
its internal management system and closely monitored its
project execution process, with an aim to render premium
and reliable service to its clients.
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All foundation construction and ground investigation
services provided by the Group shall be verified by the
contractor or surveyor, and the Group believes that this
will also help enhance its clients’ confidence on and
recognition of its services. The Group’s quality control
system on the design, supply and installation of Rock-
socketed Steel H-pile in Pre-bored Hole and Minipile work
has been accredited with 1SO9001:2015 certification of
quality management system by Accredited Certification
International Limited. During the YR2022, the Group
received no complaints or claims from our customers
arising from the quality issues of the work performed by the
Group or sub-contractors, which in the view of Directors, is
attributable to the effective quality control measures.

Policies of privacy

The Group acts as a provider of money lending business
and has access to personal data of its customers, hence
ensuring privacy of its customers’ information is one of the
most important issues. The Group attaches great attention
to the protection of privacy and intellectual property. The
Group ensures that all the business data of its customers
which may be accessible will be properly dealt with by its
staff and will not be used or leaked without authorisation.

Communication with customers

The Group actively communicates with its customers to
understand their needs and their feedbacks on the services
provided by the Group. In the event that the Group’s
projects could not reach the requirements and expectation
of the customers, the Group will actively cooperate with
the customers and provide remedies so as to satisfy the
requirements of the contractors or surveyors.
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Credit approval policy

Money Lending Policy adopted by the Group has been
designed to ensure that the Group’s business operates in
accordance with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163,
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group will regularly monitor, review
and, when necessary, update the existing policy to ensure
the money lending business is strictly in compliance with the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486,
Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance,
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong
Kong) and other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact relating to advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
by the Group in Hong Kong in YR2022.

7. Anti-Corruption

The Group and its subsidiaries all strictly adhere to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance promulgated by the
Hong Kong SAR Government. The Group seeks to further
review the customers’ information through understanding
customers’ background by way of interview, thereby
identifying and preventing the customers and employees
from bribery, blackmail, fraud and money-laundering in any
way. The Group will regularly review the implementation of
relevant systems and put more resources in improving the
mechanism, if necessary.

The Group has developed a Whistle-blowing Policy
internally. Staff may report to relevant department
managers or senior management in the event that they
identify any irregularities, and the Group will protect the
identity of the informer. The Group shall conduct detailed
investigation on the reported event and take appropriate
actions according to the result.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, which has assisted in monitoring
the corporate governance of the Group and in providing
an objective assessment to the Board on whether a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated
by management. The Group also engaged independent
auditors to conduct external audit, in order to prevent and
control the fraud or wrongdoings within the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption during the course of operation.
In YR2022, there was no case of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong
that have a significant impact. In addition, there was no
report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
YR2022.

8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to and take pride in contributing
to the community in a variety of forms. As a part of the
community that it cherishes, the Group has put its best
effort in helping the local communities and people in
needs in the society and contributing to the well-being of a
community beyond financial support. The Group constantly
encourages its employees to contribute their skills and time
to the community by volunteering its time in the community
development and outreach programs. The Group has
been striving to “reward the community” in different ways.
The Group values its corporate social responsibility by
dedicating to improve its staff awareness of community
care.

The Group proactively seeks to promote the spirit of
corporate social responsibility within the company by
organising or participating in appropriate community
activities. Through various types of events, we encourage
our employees to contribute to the community so as to
help the needy and improve the relationship among staff,
enterprise and community.

In the coming future, the Group will continue to attach
great importance to community services, and will
encourage its staff members to be actively engaged in
voluntary services and join hands together to disseminate
the spirit of services in the community where the Group all
depends on.

IRIF - ERERHRS

FEEBRERFAEEEHTEE  UERNEESB
BPEBTERREFSHNEMERRER KX
E__FE-AERUEBEEAREER(DL
BRIFN)REEREREERTZENHER
DR FR - ARBOBBEZRERERNE
Blottsh RZEBE__FE > UERRFNERHERH
ERBOERMBREARNIT RN A HAIRS o

8. HEREHE

FERRNIRUALRERASHEME ML
HERFBZ - FREEEMPRZIMEEBZ —
Lo BYBIXFIN AEBEERSHEY
At ENRHELENARTENA L IHHE
BUFHERM FEE-—ExXBEEERBE
B2EMEZERRINEETHRALE TR
SHRERFH AEE-—BEREEEBTR
FRO@EHE cEBEREEHLETEE
RNORAEIHTERENESH -

AERERBHMEREENELEELES
T AHBNZ2EAGBNHEZE -RAFTEE
BB EHRBEICNBHE EMERE
AL BEBT CEHEMEBERRAE-

REB® ZAEBRKEEERTERDF LB HE
ETRG2EBBRE THFEATEEFR
BAFREHAE P EERBE -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

83



84

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ERGHRS

The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman lIslands on 7 October
2014. Its registered office and principal place of business
are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman, KY1- 1108, Cayman Islands and Unit no.
901, 9th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is
included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting
Period by operating segments is set out in the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in this annual report. No
dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during the
Reporting Period, nor has any dividend been proposed by
the Directors since the end of the Reporting Period (2021:
nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
5 September 2022. For the purpose of determining the
entittement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer of books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from 31 August
2022 to 5 September 2022, both days inclusive. During
such period, no share transfer will be effected. In order to
be qualified for attending the forthcoming AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
(which will be relocated to 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcount Road, Hong Kong with effect from 15 August
2022) for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 August
2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in
the share capital of the Company are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had reserves
amounted to approximately HK$27,072,000 (YR2021:
approximately HK$19,573,000) available for distribution
as calculated based on Company’s share premium and
capital reserve and retained profits/accumulated loss under
applicable provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman
Islands.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for last five financial years is set out on page 228
in this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders on 9
May 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants or advisors,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a substantial Shareholders,
independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$ 5 million must be approved in advance by
the Company’s Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and
will be at least the higher of () the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 9 May 2015)
and shall expire at the close of business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting. Accordingly,
the remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 3 years.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the
Scheme and there are no outstanding share options at the
end of the Reporting Period. A summary of the principal
terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in Appendix
IV to the Prospectus.
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EFEERS

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai
Mr. Chan Kwan (resigned on 31 January 2022)
Mr. Zhu Jiayu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson
Mr. Eric, Todd

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out
in the consolidated financial statements in this report. An
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules have been received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All the independent non-executive Directors have entered
into a service contract with the Company for a fixed term
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change
in the information of the Directors since the date of the
2020/2021 annual report and up to the date of this report

EFERS
£

R EHRAE13.61BI)FR  EFERBZ
B2/ _E_—FFEROPEERIRS
HEAM R Z S8 EHWT -

is set out below:

Name of Director

ERNS

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

ESTEIRETENED

Mr. Chan Kwan
PR R

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

Resigned as the executive Director with effect from 31 January 2022

BIRCTES B-E-_"F—HA=1+—HiEEN

Resigned as the independent non-executive director of China Zhongwang Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1333) on 14 October 2021 and the independent non-executive
director of Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699) on 18 November 2021

EELESE RN_E2-_—F+A+HBFERERSHEZERERAT BRMH MK 1333) 2B IE
HITESEKRN _E_—F+—A+/\BEEMARBEERAERLE (RHARE !
2699) 2 BIIFHITESR

Mr. Eric, Todd Resigned as the executive director and chairman of DeTai New Energy Group Limited
(stock code: 559) on 1 September 2021 and the independent non-executive director of
Jimu Group Limited (stock code: 8187) on 12 February 2022

EIRRRE RIZBZ—FNA—HEHMIERMERERBRAE RMHASE :559) ZHITESR

REFBRKR-ZBZ_F-R+_HREBAEBRARAE BRMHA: 8187) 215

VIFRITESR

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Group
was a party in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or
any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Company did not enter into
or have any management and administration contracts
in respect of the whole and any principal business of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors nor Chief
Executive of the Company had any beneficial interests
(including interests or short positions) in the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model
Code in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons (not being
a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
FR¥E~
EHERR
%184 517 #=mtE ZEknBE a2
Suntecli Company Limited Interests held jointly with other 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Suntecli”) persons; beneficial owner
(Note 1 and 5)
WRAMERRAR (#HEF) HEMALIHEFEN#ED  BaEEA
(Ht5%15%5)
Samwood Global Limited Interests held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Samwood”) (Note 1 and 7)
HRERIKBRAR (IFE) HEMATHERBEN#ER WWaE1%7)
Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr. Lau”)  Interests held jointly with other person; 273,920,000 28.53%
interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 6)
Blgsrid (MR%kE) HEEMATHAFENER ; RREEE
W (Hfat1%6)
Mr. Fong Hon Hung Interests held jointly with other persons; 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Fong’) interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 7)
FEBRE (THERED) HEEMATHAFENER ; RREEE
N#Ew (Hfat1%7)
Ms. So Choi Interest of spouse (Note 2) 273,920,000 28.53%
Bzt BoiBmEm (Hat2)
Ms. Kwong Sui Sim Interest of spouse (Note 3) 273,920,000 28.53%
BimB i+ B m (Ha3)
Mr. Leung Man Lun Stephen  Interest held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Leung”) (Note 1)
2kt (TR%E)) BEMA T HEFAENER Wat1)
Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy Interest of spouse (Note 4) 273,920,000 28.53%

fRImE Rt

Foffgs (Hfat4)

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR

Annual Report 2021/22 —F=—

JZEER



Notes:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Suntecli and Samwood with Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung,
are parties acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed
thereto in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Buy-backs (the “Takeovers Code”)) pursuant to
a confirmatory deed dated 3 December 2014 (the “Concert
Party Deed”) and accordingly each of them is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by each other. Pursuant to the
Concert Party Deed, Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli
and Samwood have been parties acting in concert (having the
meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) in the
course of the Reorganisation and will continue to be parties
acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the
Takeovers Code) until such arrangement is terminated in writing
by them pursuant to the Concert Party Deed.

Ms. So Choi is the spouse of Mr. Lau and is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Lau has, or is
deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the SFO. Mr.
Lau was an executive Director of the Company and resigned as
executive Director on 7 September 2018.

Ms. Kwong Sui Sim is the spouse of Mr. Fong and is deemed
or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Fong
has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the
SFO. Mr. Fong re-designated from an executive Director to non-
executive Director on 18 September 2019, and resigned as the
non-executive Director on 17 January 2020.

Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy is the spouse of Mr. Leung and is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Leung has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the
purposes of the SFO. Mr. Leung was an executive Director of
the Company and resigned as executive Director on 3 January
2017.

The 273,920,000 shares (which were beneficially owned by
Suntecli) were charged to Kingston Finance Limited to secure a
loan granted to it. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly owned by
Ample Cheer Limited, which is owned as to 100% by Mrs. Chu
Yuet Wah.

Mr. Lau owns approximately 94.65% shareholding in Suntecli
which in turn beneficially owns 28.53% shareholding in the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by
Suntecli for the purpose of SFO. Mr. Lau resigned as the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company with effect
from 7 September 2018.

Mr. Fong owns approximately 79% shareholding in Samwood.
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HEHMEIEMITES-

BRIGER LR ERECE > B HFRIEHRMM
BORAAWERRLEERANRAERNIAR
PHREARD REAEEBHREFRATDRITESFLER
—E—tHE—B=ZHHERTES-

273,920,000 f& 15 (B#1SF B ER) BIRET
SHEMBERATIEAEERERZIEI & H
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Ample Cheer Limited =B EL T2 EHH o

IR E A MISHIA94.65% % > M 1SH B m
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T REEREAAB NG ERERNFRAR
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ERGHRS

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraphs headed
“Share Option Scheme” and “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2022 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective
close associates, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, no Directors are considered to have interests
in businesses which compete or are likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
other than those businesses where the Directors of the
Company were appointed as Directors to represent the
interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated
with the authority to review the non-competition
undertakings (the “Non-competition Undertakings”)
given by Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood during the Reporting Period. The independent
non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-
compliance of the Non-competition Undertakings during
the Reporting Period.

Each of Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood has confirmed that he/it had complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings given by them during the
Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and revenue
attributable to major suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period and 31 March 2021 are as follows:

EFGHRS

ERBYFATESTERRSRILE T
EREE - HEMNARENBRSHBEHAR
FEE ((FRPBEE)) - BUIFATEFL
ARMEBERBESHEBEEMER DB F AL

B e

B ENFEE - REE - FENRFESE
B RBREPBEETREEFLENTIRE
R o

FERRRMLERD

EHEAREFRREMBER T - —
ZR=t+—HFEAEERBERRANS
DEEWMT

2022 2021
—g-C TR
Percentage of construction material purchases BB EM M KD EH
and construction subcontracted: BETIREBDE:
From the largest supplier RERARERD 9.94% 9.70%
From the five largest suppliers KERAHERS 39.01% 37.62%
Percentage of revenue: WABDLE :
From the largest customers RERAKEF 30.38% 25.86%
From the five largest customers KEAARE 70.18% 62.64%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
who owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest customers nor suppliers
during the Reporting Period.

BREFS HENEEMBANEORR BE
EFMNBEARRBRASRU LEE) REBEH
BHERIAERNEEFRERE I EE-
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ERGHRS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company has arranged
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The insurance
covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against
them.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
articles or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the
shares.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any
charitable donation (YR2021: nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERERS

CONTINUING CONNECTED FEREX S RAERRS
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Group had the following RSB Z2EEBUTHERERS -
continuing connected transactions:
Lease agreements HEHE
Name of suppliers Term of lease agreements Monthly rent Annual rent
HEERE TS RHAR Biis Fi®

HK$ HK$

AT AT
Chung Hang 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 60,000 720,000
IR ST —FMOB—HE

2 F=RB=+—H
Chung Wah 1 Aprll 2021 to 31 March 2022 115,000 1,380,000
ik ST —FMOB—HE
2 F=RB=+—H
2,100,000

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Chung Hang’) REEEERERAE (THE)) BBILERE
is owned by Mr. Lau as to approximately 94.65%. Mr. BE#M94.65% RN EE R —HIERKEKLATH
Lau is one of the controling Shareholders and a former TES-
executive Director.
Chung Wah Investment Company Limited (‘Chung Wah”) RELEEZRBERAGS (THE)) 2ABHFE
is owned by Chung Hang and Mr. Lau as to 95.00% and KB S £ 95.00% /% 2.50% ©
2.50%, respectively.
The transaction constitutes connected transactions and is ERXGENBEERS LAET EWmHRAUE
subject to disclosure requirement under Chapter 14A of the T4AE THIRERTE ©
Listing Rules.
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ERGHRS

The lease agreements were entered into on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group where each of the relevant
percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules is less than 5% and the total
fees payable under lease agreements are less than
HK$3,000,000. Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the lease agreements are exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Reporting Period set out in the
consolidated financial statements included transactions
that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the disclosure requirement under the
Listing Rules have been complied with.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has retained the prescribed public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The Company has nominated HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the auditors of the Group during the Reporting
Period until conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to protecting the environment,
fulfilling social responsibility and promoting employee
benefits and development to achieve sustainable growth of
its business. For more details of the Group’s performances
in environmental and social aspects, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company had complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period.

The details of Group’s compliance with the Code is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 July 2022

EFGHRS
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FERRINFERRE - BTHEEERER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL ZBEMR S

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WAN KEI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 111 to 227, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

WAL B ETER S

ERHER

RMERBEEBEMAGRMN(EEE
QY (THERBHEN)) ETSst-RMEZ
FENTRENSECETRS BN ET
AR EMBREAENSTI B FE—T B
Mo RIBFEBEEHEI R GREMB(FE G 5HAD
BETAD) (TFM)  HRABILY S&£H-
WEBTTARNEMBERE T HMAMEE
ZPFMERNEBES EEERTERBEEM S
PNERIEHEER-

FRRE:t SR

HREFFESRERMANEXHE TLAY
TG EMBTRERNEFTRAEENEIE B
EEHEEERMASAERGOMBRERY
ARRBETREN -RMAFTEHEEFER
HEBHER-
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WAL ZBEMR S

Accounting for construction contract revenue

BESHRANEEE

We identified the revenue and profit recognition of
construction contracts as a key audit matter due to
significant management’s judgements and estimations are
required in the determination of the total outcome of the
construction contracts as well as the stage of completion
of construction contracts.

BIIREBE SO A e sl p & —IRR T 5t
ER RARTECEESNNRERRTHESEEN
NEER FEEEHEREEBHE RSt

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —F=— "ZFFif

Our audit procedures in relation to construction
contract revenue mainly included:

BAMBESORANESHIEFZE2EHE !

* Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared
by management;

s BRBEERINGNKEEERENTEENS
HNEBRTBEENAE ;

e Obtaining an understanding from management
about how the budgets were prepared and the
respective stage of completion were determined;

e MEEBETHERENGRRD ERETHEENE
EFE

e Reviewing the reasonableness of key judgements
inherent in the budgets and assessing the reliability
of budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of completed
contracts on a sample basis;

s BREETAMEFIEXENSEMLIEBHEAKLE
RETHENNEREREEEERE ST MG
BENAIRY ;

e Obtaining the progress payment applications
submitted by the Company and progress
certificates issued by customers to evaluate the
reasonableness of stage of completion as at year
end and testing the revenue recognition based on
stage of completion; and

e B BRAEXRNEEMAFZRETFELN
EEFERLGHMINEFEE TR EENGEML TR
B acE R R AR &

e Assessing the presentation and related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirement of HKFRS 15.

s BDERBYUBWMEERE wfmﬁm’4%$
MBI RNERRE AR
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WAL B ETER S

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables, contract assets, loan receivables and debt investment at

fair value through other comprehensive income

B REMEBWMRIE - SHEE - BWERURBEATEF ARMZEBRHENEHRENGREE

The Group’s trade and other receivables, contract assets,
loan receivables and debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income arise from the Group’s
construction contracts, ground investigation services,
financial services business, trading of beauty and skin care
products and investing activities. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate amount of trade and other receivables, contract
assets, loan receivables and debt investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income was approximately
HK$253,729,000.
E%lm%%&H@EWﬂE\DﬂEF R E ﬂu
Bt ABEMEERGNEBRSELEES 85
BN THHENBIRTS SRR X =A%
I PRIGE RS _F_ 5=t B
L 1t & LR %éé\%wéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ZEWE ME%&§Mm 149 75253,729,00078

@Wmﬁﬂ

The Group measures loss allowances on trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables and debt
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income at amounts equal to 12-months or lifetime
expected credit losses (the “ECL”) which involved
significant management judgement in estimating loss rate
and adjusting factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
EEEREN12EANEHERES EEU%%E {5
ﬁaJ)EUéééED+EEE§5%ZQEiﬁﬂF§H& BHEE B

AT EST AR M E B W S mﬁ$§ﬁm%ﬁﬁ
ﬁ’amﬁ&éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ RABREHAFERAR
BFRVEE A B LUK 3R & B B 2 Al & TR R B RS A AR
SIS o

We identified the loss allowance for trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables and debt
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income as a key audit matter because of the significant
balances at the end of the reporting period and because
the recognition of ECL is inherently subjective and requires
the exercise of significant management judgement.
RMBEBEZREMBWRIE - fNEE - BRIWENRKRIZ
NEEFAEMEZEWE ME$EQM%E#%ﬁ%%
—E%ﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁl_lﬁﬁi%$m5%%ku&ﬁ

RIRH EEEEAGEETEURBITIHEEREEREH
IZ—Z‘ o

Details of the ECL assessment are disclosed in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.
EHEREERETENEBREN GRS R KME
280

Our audit procedures in relation to loss allowance for

trade and other receivables, contract assets,

loan

receivables and debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income mainly included:

I E 7 K H A FEIGRR

NIE RV EE  FEURE

§@$@+AH@EEW MLFEQWEE%ﬁ
MBHEF T B0

Assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the credit control and
estimation of the ECL; X

A ARESEG R REEHEENETERN
WEIENRFTREN ;

Assessing the reasonableness of the ECL by
examining the key data inputs used by management
to form such estimates, enquiring the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, and evaluating whether such data
inputs are appropriately applied in the ECL model;
7B E B IR E A A B 14 51 P 150 A BV RA 2 B
WAE - RERR (BIEE L RATEEER) KT
EEMEBEABRENBEREEEBREAFH
EE AL TERE SERNSEIE ;

Assessing whether items in the ageing report
were categorised appropriately for contract assets
and trade receivables by comparing a sample of
individual items with the underlying documentation;
and

BBLLREBEBEB KA EBRAX S FEENE
%&%%%W,Eﬁgﬁimmﬁﬁ HERED

Assessing the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
2ERTEAERNRE  sTEGEHBRER
A R ER o
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Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

R—REE QRN 2 BEF

We have identified the impairment of interest in an
associate as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and because
the Group’s assessment of impairment of this associate
is a judgmental process which requires estimates
concerning the methods and assumptions to be applied
in determining the recoverable amount. The selection of
valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input
data may be subject to management bias and changes
in these assumptions and input to valuation model may
result in significant financial impact. During the year ended
31 March 2022, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$5,338,000 was recognised. Details of the impairment
assessment are disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BN —EsSE AN m R ER A —BEREst
FE THRERGESMBRREMEZ  TEAR &
SEHZBE AR RENTGA—EHEBE T2
=€ PI WL TR A A RRZR LG5 o (M ERR
NEZE - FERZABABBNEMA]EREEERET
FIARPR > Mz E R R EEREH A BRSSPI 5E5]
BREANMBEEE - REE_T__F=-RH=+—0801t
FE - HBREREA95,338,00078 7t A BERE T H Y
FIBERBENREMBRRMEE150
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Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of interest in an associate mainly
included:

BN —EBELAINER 2 B ETENE
EREXEaF:

e Assessing the appropriateness of management’s
accounting for interest in an associate;

e MLEBEEEMN —HHMEARNEGMIEFEstE
ENEEY;

e Understanding and assessing management’s
assessment of the indicators of impairment and the
methods and assumptions used in the valuation
model to estimate the recoverable amount of the
investment;

s THEKMEEEBHRMENRVTHURMGEE
B EEENEEREFMEBAN G ERRE
B

e Engaging an auditors’ expert to assist our
assessment on the appropriateness of the
methodologies and the reasonableness of the
assumptions and critical judgement used by the
management based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

s ZRESNEZR RERFMBEBRITERIH W
ML EEBRERAZGER ZNEE X
RERBRRERAEBNSEN ; &

e FEvaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity
and reviewing their terms of engagement with the
Group.

e FMLBUSEREXLEMNER ENEE
BM ITERKEE SEENZEMER-
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Valuation of financial assets categorised as level 3

SEAFRZRNTHEEGE

WAL B ETER S

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the Group’s financial
assets categorised at level 3 amounted to approximately
HK$78,805,000.

RIBEZZF=A=+—H> BEXEEZ2ER/E=HN
TREENRQFEL 478,805,000 7T ©

The valuation of the Group’s financial instruments is based
on a combination of market data and valuation models
which often require judgement.
EEEEMTIAMNGENERNETHSEBEREERIEN
et RMmE HBEREFEHHE-

Some of the inputs used in the valuation models are
obtained from readily available data for liquid markets.
Where such observable data is not readily available, as in
the case of level 3 financial instruments, estimates need to
be developed which can involve significant management
judgement.

HEREMAE TEAREDE RS HISRESEE
PG AR BREEBRLIFRES BBE =4k
EMIEZER BEFRMGES ERFEIRERER
[ #1 R o

We identified assessing the fair value of level 3 financial
instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree
of complexity involved in valuing these financial instruments
and the significant degree of judgement exercised by
management in determining the inputs used in the
valuation models.

B EE=REmT BEATEH A —HRERES
EFE HAZEsMIAEGERSEREECHERE
FRRM AR AEIEEFHERAE-

Details of the valuation of financial assets categorised
as level 3 are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.
ERPEAES-BNEREEHENFBRENRGSH
IR MIETE28

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial
assets categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy
included the following:
BAFERAFEBRRFOESFT=RNTHNEE
HENEFEFERETIRIE!

e Reviewing the agreements for level 3 financial
instruments to understand the relevant terms and
identify any conditions that were relevant to the
valuation of these financial instruments;

s BRFE=MEMITA R UTHEBERGRRIL
A e R T B EAERR 2 E R ;

e Obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Company;

s ERNKERAB BATEBZINERMLEMFTRESR
ZIEERS ;

e Assessing the reasonableness of the valuation by
examining the key data inputs used by management
to form such estimates, enquiring the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, and evaluating whether such data
inputs are appropriately applied in the valuation
model;

o FiBWEEIERE A MR REE
WAE RREBR (OEELKRAIBEMEER) KT
RSB AGESNEEREPZSRAT
HEENSEMY ;
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Valuation of financial assets categorised as level 3 (Continued)

SERF=RNTHEEGE @)
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Assessing the external valuer’'s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considered its
objectivity and independence;

L IMNER L ERT 2 B8 ~ B R B H W E R
HEBM B ;

Engaging an auditors’ expert to assist our
assessment on the appropriateness of the
methodologies and the reasonableness of the
assumptions and critical judgement used by the
management based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

ZREFTER RERMABNEB RITERINHE
BIMHEE BB EAZGER EZNEEE MU
RERZREARFERSEMY ; K&

Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’'s competence, capabilities and objectivity
and reviewing their terms of engagement with the
Group.

THEBII S EREXRLEMNER - EHIREE
M TERKEE BSEENTREFERC
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the
information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express and
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL ZBEMR S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL ZBEMR S

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: PO5769

Hong Kong, 29 July 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
kRO IAmR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) 8E — &~ — &£ =B =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

Notes 2022 2021
fizE ZTZZ T
Revenue A 4(a) 263,216,864 293,598,630
Direct costs BEHA (210,403,407) (236,626,043)
Gross profit EH 52,813,457 56,972,587
Other income, other net gains and losses ~ E U A ~ Btz 3 2B &
518 5 19,124,035 5,900,219
Impairment losses on interest in an associate I —RIEE A S AER 2
B{EEsE 15 (5,337,968) -
General and administrative expenses — R AT RS (59,712,588) (62,242,802)
Profit from operations EESET 6,886,936 630,004
Finance costs RAE A 6(a) (10,885,974) (10,584,640)
Share of results of an associate EE—REBRE RN B 2 28 (9,385,312) (233,532)
Loss before taxation PRgRIESIE 6 (13,384,350) (10,188,168)
Income tax credit/(expenses) ISR,/ () 7 627,765 (2,051,681)
Loss for the year attributable to FTATEGRREEENEE
equity shareholders of the Company (12,756,585) (12,239,849)
Loss per share SkREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EHARREE GBI 12 (1.37) (1.30)

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

¥ B I SE A B % 5

4o AN
] T

MHmHRERZ —

FRAREHFBRENGAMBBREMEEI -

BB o

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR

Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

111



112

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SFeiAmRHMEEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) iE — &~ — =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTsHE)

Note 2022 2021
DS — T —fF
Loss for the year FHESE (12,756,585)  (12,239,849)
Other comprehensive income FRHEMZ IR
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified BRAEENDHEERR
subsequently to profit or loss: BB
Exchange differences on MEBINEBMHERER
translation of financial statements bE R ERE
of foreign operations 904,512 1,226,407
Share of other comprehensive income MR EARZ LR E
of investment accounted for Hfh 2@ m
using the equity method 332,589 964,896
Debt investment at fair value through AT ESAREMEEW
other comprehensive income m2 BHKE (FJ#EE) .
(recycling):
— net movement in fair value reserve —’Aﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ z
""""" HE)FEa 2,406,998 2,575,407
- reclassification adjustment for gain on —stABBmAHE WS
disposal included in profit or loss ZEHDEEE - (180,822)
Other comprehensive income for FARHEHM2EmE
the year 10 3,644,099 4,585,888
Loss and total comprehensive expenses AR EEILER
for the year attributable to equity BiEREmASZEEE
shareholders of the Company (9,112,486) (7,653,961)
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated WE M Bt 5% 48 AR 5% EHBHRETRZ—ED o

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) R =& _——

R

REMBARR

F=RA=+—8 CBFHE)

Notes 2022 2021
Mizx Z|ZZ T
Non-current assets JEREEE
Property, plant and equipment IEN YSRGS 13 11,763,234 13,569,199
Interest in an associate R—EEE AN R 15 20,626,673 35,017,364
Club membership &5 290,000 290,000
Deposit for acquisition of property, WREYI2 - BEKRREZ
plant and equipment & - 177,629
32,679,907 49,054,192
Current assets MHEE
Contract assets BHEE 18 122,909,702 108,186,396
Trade and other receivables 85 R EMER RIS 19 62,838,493 80,730,385
Loan receivables EREmR 20 23,476,310 28,485,643
Financial assets at fair value through BATFESABRNESR
profit o loss B 16 38,054,704 21,081,601
Debt investment at fair value through BAFESAREMEEIW
other comprehensive income TN EBRERE 17 44,504,814 42,069,655
Tax recoverable AU [EIIRIE 7(0) 1,567,528 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERIRETEEY 21(a) 132,294,477 136,946,605
425,646,028 417,500,285
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables B REMERRIE 22 37,848,937 43,900,659
Amount due to a related company FE—BIRAE AT FIA 23 113,100,000 108,600,000
Amount due to a director of a subsidiary BN —& B AT EE
I8 23 128,478,127 122,378,127
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 3,218,603 2,671,267
Tax payable FESIRIE 7(0) 1,975,400 3,801,318
284,621,067 281,351,371
Net current assets MEEERE 141,024,961 136,148,914
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERTHERE 173,704,868 185,203,106
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
nv'F Ejﬁﬂ*;ﬂi

At 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) RZE2 - _#F=H=+—H CHETHE)

Notes 2022 2021
B 5 —E-C B —F
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Long service payment liabilities EHRRZEEAE 972,924 972,924
Lease liabilities HESE 24 560,395 2,488,204
Deferred tax liabilities RIERRIEEE 7(c) 458,387 916,330
1,991,706 4,377,458
Net assets BERE 171,713,162 180,825,648
Capital and reserves BERRHE
Share capital (&N 26(c) 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves (Eific] 162,113,162 171,225,648
Total equity attributable to equity T TR RELIERS
shareholders of the Company 4a%E 171,713,162 180,825,648

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to
227 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 29 July 2022 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Yan Shuai
=4
Director

4

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RAEmER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) 8E — &~ — &£ =B =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAFEGERREN
Shares
Fair value held under
Share Share Merger Capital reserve Exchange  share award Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve (recycling) reserve scheme losses equity
LEL )
DTERE HEEE
ik &R AkE BXfiE (TRE) ERMHE f&fn BHER ERAE
(note 26) (note a) (note b)
(Mi326) (Hf5Fa) (Hf&o)
Balance at 1 April 2021 AR
mA-RZ& 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,965,820 9,669,301 2,394,585 2,191,303 (19429,159)  (38,913,808) 180,825,648
Changes in equity during HE-Z-CE
the year ended ZBR=+-H
31 March 2022: LEEZ
Hagy.
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = - - (12,756,585)  (12,756,589)
Exchange differences on RERNERHE
translation of financial BRNERER
statements of foreign
operations - - - - - 904,512 - - 904,512
Share of other comprehensive KT EARZ
income of investment EhEEZ
accounted forusng the equity ~ EI2EWE
method - - - - - 332,589 - - 332,589
Debt investment at far value ~ SRATHEST A
through other comprenensive Bt 2EREZ
income (recycling): BHERE
(TR0 -
-netchange infarvaieand  —AFERAE
impairment loss allowance BBk
2E3H - - - - 2,406,998 - - - 2,406,998
Loss and total comprehensive  ERESER
expenses for the year 2EMZAE - - - - 2406998 1,237,101 - (12,756,585  (9,112,486)
Balance at 31 March 2022 ~ RZZZZ
=B=+-H
24 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 4,801,583 3428404  (19,429,159)  (51,670,388) 171,713,162
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e mEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) 2 —&——

FZA=1+—HLFE QBB

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAFEGERREN
Shares
Fair value held under
Share Share Merger Capital reserve Exchange  share award Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve (recycling) reserve scheme losses equity
_ FEL )
DTERE HEEE .
ek k&R AE BXfiE (ATRE) ERGHE fefp Zithi ERME
(note 26) (note a) (notg b)
(Hizk26) (Hista) (Hf&o)
Balance at 1 April 2020 AZEZEE
IE A2 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,965,820 9,669,301 - - - (26,673,954 207,908,768
Changes in equity HE-Z--%
during the year ended =B=+-H
31 March 2021: LLEEZ
Hagy.
Loss for the year ERER = = = = - - - (12239849 (12,239,849
Exchange differences on RERNERHE
translation of financial BERNEREH
statements of foreign
operations = = = = = 1,226,407 = = 1,226,407
Share of other comprehensive KT EARZ
income of investment EhEEZ
accounted forusng the equity ~ EI2EWE
method - - - - - 964,896 - - 964,896
Debt investment at fairvalue ~ ATESA
through other comprenensive Bt 2EREZ
income (recycling): BHERE
(T&E) .
-netchange infarvaieand  —AFERAE
impairment loss allowance =1
- - - - 2,575,407 - - - 2,575,407
- reclassification adjustments for i
gain on disposal included in HERGHZ
profit or loss Eipir]
HE = - - - (180,822) - - - (180,822)

Loss and total comprehensive  ERESER

expenses for the year 2ERTER - - - - 2,304,585 2,191,303 - (12230849 (7,853.961)

Shares purchased for R REEHE

share award scheme BENRR - - - - = - (19429,159) - (19,429159)
Balance at 31 March 2021 ~ WZZ=—f
=R=+-H
24 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 2,394,585 2,191,303 (19,429,159)  (38,913,803) 180,825,648

Notes: Mk -

(@) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal (@) affEEENAEEEA (TEH) FARIAQT
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for WEABRAMBARARZETRNO 2 EERZER
the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising KEEZ ZXBe
from the reorganisation of the Group (the “Reorganisation”).

(b) The capital reserve represents the deemed capital (b) BEARGEERBEEEARENSHERAE KRG

contribution from its equity shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year ended
31 March 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HABERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) ZZE —

— 3=

T _HF=-RB=+—HLEE BB

Note 2022 2021
D — T
Operating activities REEE
Cash generated from/(used in) IBERRS (FRA) A&
operations 1)) 8,131,602 (11,120,106)
Tax paid B (3,223,624) (780,031
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEEFRS FRA) RE
operating activities PR 4,907,978 (11,900,137)
Investing activities KrREES
Payments for the purchase of property, BEYE BERRE
plant and equipment A NE (3,739,887)  (4,413,341)
Payment for the deposit for acquisition WEEI= - BERREBLE
of property, plant and equipment ANEN - (178,800)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE -BEMEE
plant and equipment ZPriERIE 394,000 1,658,050
Acquisition of interest in an associate WEE—EE AR 2 s &
and related financial assets at fair value REWENIERFEFTA

through profit or loss arising from
the acquisition

Payment for purchase of debt investment
at fair value through

BmEREMEE

BERATES ARMEER
W EHRE Z IR

(21,475,000)

other comprehensive income - (60,000,000)
Proceeds from sale of debt investment HEZAFESAREMEZE

at fair value through other WaNEHKRE

comprehensive income ZF18RIA - 20,180,822
Payment for purchase of financial assets at BB I1Z AT (EsT ABHR

fair value through profit or loss TRBEE R (11,168,702) =
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at HEZRAFEFAERDN

fair value through profit or loss ETMEEZPIEMIE 7,501,484 -
Interest received B WH B 264,690 258,254
Net cash used in investing activities KREEEFAREFEE (6,748,415) (63,970,015)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

aRERER

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK dollars) iE — &~ — =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTsHE)

Note 2022 2021
Mzt Z—BZZ e

Financing activities R ES
Capital element of leases rentals paid ENHEERENE RIS (3,141,067)  (3,078,045)
Interest element of leases rentals paid BENEERENF B (285,974) (405,595)
Payments for purchase of shares in BRI EEE 2B RERD

connection with share award scheme Z I8 - (19,429,159)
Proceeds from borrowing from RE—BHBARES

a director of a subsidiary BEZFTERIE - 19,000,000
Repayment of borrowing from BE—LNBLAEEEEE

a director of a subsidiary - (13,000,000)
Net cash used in financing activities M EEFRRIREFEE (3,427,041) (16,912,799)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEBEMALVBE

equivalents (5,267,478) (92,782,951)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERREEEY

beginning of the year 136,946,605 228,720,343
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes FEZRE 8 2 5 & 615,350 1,009,213
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end SFXFEERIAETZEY

of the year 21(a) 132,294,477 136,946,605
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMIPI S A A SR e Bz —H Do

financial statements.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —F=— "ZFFif



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 7 October 2014 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The address of the Company’s registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Unit No. 901, 9th Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s share were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) on 11 August 2015.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) is set out
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group’s interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except certain assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these consolidated
financial statements for the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark
reform—phase 2

- Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent
concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The adoption of the above revised HKFRSs has no
significant financial impact on the financial position and
performances of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark
reform —phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities as modifications, and (i) discontinuing
hedge accounting when an interest rate benchmark is
replaced by an alternative benchmark rate as a result of
the reform of interbank offered rates (‘IBOR reform”). The
amendments do not have an impact on these consolidated
financial statements as the Group does not have contracts
that are indexed to benchmark interest rates which are
subject to the IBOR reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent
concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (2021 amendment)

The Group previously applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was not required to
assess whether rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic were lease
modifications, if the eligibility conditions are met (see note
2()))- One of these conditions requires the reduction in lease
payments affect only payments originally due on or before
a specified time limit. The 2021 amendment extends this
time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The Group has early adopted the 2021 amendment in this
financial year. With the extended time limit, certain rent
concessions that were previously ineligible for the practical
expedient because of the original time limit, become
eligible. Accordingly, these rent concessions, which were
previously accounted for as lease modifications, are now
accounted for as negative variable lease payments, and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers those payments occurred.

The amendments do not have an impact on these
consolidated financial statements as the Group does not
have any Covid-19- related rent concessions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary
prepares its financial statements using accounting policies
other than those adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with
the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through: (i) a contractual arrangement
with other vote holders; (i) rights arising from other
contractual arrangements; (i) the Group’s voting rights and
potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above,
based on all relevant facts and circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the equity
shareholders of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the equity shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes
2(0) or (p) depending on the nature of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)), unless the investment is classified as
held for sale.

f) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the group or company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(f) Associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any
direct investment into the associate that forms part of the
Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 2(k)(ii)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate, after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see
note 2(9)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)), unless classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
investment

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
investment, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 28(f). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Other investments in debt and equity
investment (Continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(u)(v)).

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
investment (Continued)

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained profits. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(k)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 2())).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

° Furniture and fixtures 3 -5 years
° Leasehold improvements 5 years
° Motor vehicles 5 years
° Machinery 4 -5 years

The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years after the date of completion.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Club membership

Club membership is stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less accumulated amortisation
(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment
losses (see note 2(Kk)).

Amortisation of club membership with finite useful life is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the period and method
of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Club membership is not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set above.

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(h) and (K)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(0] Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(i)  As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and loan receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15; and

- debt investment measured at FVOCI (recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including units
in bond funds, equity and debt investment measured at
FVPL, equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling)
and derivative financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash shortfalls
are measured as the difference between (i) the contractual
cash flows that would be due to the Group if the holder of
the loan commitment draws down on the loan and (i) the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is
drawn down.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables
and debt investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

S failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —F=— "ZFFif

2. EXE:EK E

k) EEERREERE @)

() EHBTRAREHEEZIEEER (A

1EEEEEE LT

RFG—EBEMIENEERRB D R
NURZDREE LAR ~EEERINRE B
PR EMIEZREENNRKRER D
B EERTIASEENNERET
EEER o ﬁAT’EﬁuZIE\%TEE% AEEE D R(3)
HAERNRNERES (WHFEEMFES)
FITEET L%’@Hﬁ‘*‘)\?ﬁ? EMm A& H
THEEBEHGERY , (X BTMEED
BHOOH R IR TELEEBNEH AEEE
TR EENECKRELTER aFHEM
HBEBEHARZS N ERS 2 BESR KA
EEER -

AEEMs RAEEERRBENTERBLURE
CRELAR - FAEBGZEEUTER !

-  RERFESHANENSOEHERFED
BRI

— TRIANBARBEETR (HER)
WERIEHRBREREL

- BEBAKEXENERABHEES

&5 &

- MR -TE -EEIERRENERN
BHEHIHEFTARNFTERRETESTHN
FENBEERITHNETE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(u)
(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) club membership and interest in an associate
impaired or, except in the maybe case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

()] Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see note 2(h)) or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 2(u).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2(u)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)()
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(u)). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(u)).

(n) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see note 2(m)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

2(K)(0)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(w)).

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group’s employee share award scheme.
Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 27.

Employee share award scheme

The Group operates share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by employees. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of restricted
shares is recognised as employee benefit expense. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. The shares held under
share award scheme is administered by an independent
trustee and is funded by the Group’s cash contributions
and recorded as contributions to shares held under share
award scheme, an equity component. The administrator
of the shares held under share award scheme buys the
Company’s shares in the open market for the awards to
employees if applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

(u) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a construction contract when the contract relates to work
on real estate assets under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create or
enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method, based on direct measurements of the value to
the customer of goods or services transferred to date
(“Value to the Customer”) provided that the Value to
the Customer is established according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the amount of completed works
confirmed by customer) issued by the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Construction contracts (Continued)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(1).

(i) Ground investigation services revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a service contract when the contract relates to work
on ground investigation assets under the control of the
customer and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output method, based on
direct measurements of the value to the customer of goods
or services transferred to date (“Value to the Customer”)
provided that the Value to the Customer is established
according to the progress certificate (by reference to the
amount of completed works confirmed by customer)
issued by the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Ground investigation services revenue
(Continued)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(t).

(iii)  Trading of beauty and skin care products

Net income from trading of beauty and skin care products
are recognised when the customers takes possession of
and accepts the goods.

(iv)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)
v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2(k(i).

(vij  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Consolidated statement of financial position
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

(x)  Related parties (x)

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, (a)

is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
(o) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b)

following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iif) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(x) Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) ~ The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
(loss)/profit from operations of the Group are primarily
derived from activities in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) 8 — & ——

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Principal versus agent considerations -
Trading of beauty and skin care products

In determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the trading of beauty and skin care
products, judgements and considerations of all relevant
facts and circumstances are required. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group obtains control of
services provided before they are transferred to customers.
If control is unclear, when the Group is primarily obligated
in a transaction, and has latitude in establishing prices and
selecting publishers, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commissions from services provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

(b)  Sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Construction contracts and ground
investigation service contracts

As explained in policy note 2(u), revenue from construction
contracts and ground investigation services contracts
are recognised over time using the output method. Such
revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects are
dependent on estimating the outcome of the contract, as
well as the work done to date. Actual outcomes in terms
of total costs or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(i) Impairment of interests in associates

In considering the impairment that may be required for the
Group’s associate, recoverable amount of the associate
needs to be determined. The recoverable amount is the
greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value-in-
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price because
quoted market prices for the associate may not be readily
available. In determining the value-in-use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to
their present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to items such as level of sales volume, selling
price and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount
that is reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as sales
volume, selling price and amount of operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

(b)  Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)  Impairment of trade and other receivables,
contract assets, loan receivables and debt
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade and other receivables, contract assets,
loan receivables and debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually. The
provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast general economic conditions. The information
about the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in Note 29. If the financial
condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, the actual loss allowance
would be higher than estimated.

(iv)  Fair value of financial assets at FVPL and debt
investment at FVOC/

The fair value of financial assets at FVPL and debt
investment at FVOCI that are not traded in an active market
is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group
uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
determine the fair values primarily based on the purchase
price paid by the Group, net asset value and taking into
account of the analysis of the investees’ financial trends
and results, risk profile, prospects, industry trends and
other factors. Independent external valuer has been
involved in determining fair value of certain investments.
The key assumptions adopted on projected cash flow are
based on management best estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are foundation
construction, ground investigation services, financial
services and trading of beauty and skin care products.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in note 4(b):

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
of each significant category is as follows:

4. WARDEBIHRS

(@ WA
AEBNTEERAMERERE - T # B) A R

B ERMRBREEREBERES - BRE
EEXTEBEF2E—FTHFBRWE4(0)IRE :

BEREHNZREZEFPENBRANDENT

2022 2021
—=E-= B —F
Revenue from contract with customers within ERMEREENFE1555EE
the scope of HKFRS 15: REREBERGHZIRA :
Revenue from construction contracts T EBEE LB A 218,459,509 221,550,274
Revenue from ground investigation services e 5 4 BRI AR FE B WA 38,757,518 64,772,178
Revenue from trading of beauty and REERNREEEREZN
skin care products N 2,810,308 3,661,840
260,027,335 289,984,292
Revenue from other sources kB EfIRERRUA
Interest income from money lending business KEBEEBKIFBIRA 3,189,529 3,614,338
263,216,864 293,598,630

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note
4(p).

As at 31 March 2022, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately $206,049,000 (2021: approximately
$179,485,000). This amount represents revenue expected
to be recognised in the future from construction contracts
and ground investigation services. The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as the work is
completed or, in the case of the construction contracts
and ground investigation services, when the obligations
performed, which is expected to occur over the next 1 to 2
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior management
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following four
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

° Foundation construction: this segment provides
foundation construction works to customers in
Hong Kong.

o Ground investigation services: this segment
provides ground investigation services to customers
in Hong Kong.

° Financial services: this segment provides
investment, financing and money lending business.

° Trading of beauty and skin care products: this
segment engages in the trading of beauty and skin
care products.

Segment information is presented only in respect of the
Group’s business segments. No geographical analysis is
shown as less than 10% of the Group’s revenue and non-
current assets were derived from activities outside Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all current and non-current
assets with the exception of () unallocated head office
and corporate assets, (i) interest in an associate, (iii)
profit guarantee, put option and call option in relation to
acquisition of an associate, (iv) other unlisted investment
and (v) current tax recoverable, if any. Segment liabilities
include all current and non-current liabilities with the
exception of current tax payable and deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment results is results before taxation.

4. WARDEHRS (2

(b) WRED @)
() PEEE EEREE
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EeMRITHREEAERUATEEEREIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tRa ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) E — &~ — &£ =B =+—HL-EE CUBTsHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. WARSEHRS (&)

REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HESE @)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities () DEHEE-BEEREE B

(Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BHE_ZE__FrRZE—F=BA=+—H
by the time of revenue recognition, as well as information FTFE RIIRIBRVABRIEE DB ZRE
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided ERFEHRAURETEBRRSHRITHEEA
to the Group’s most senior executive management for EMEBERDPERTAHDBRIVEEHNAE X
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of EETERSBHEREHIIOT ¢

segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 is set out below:

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_F-__E=-A=1+—HLEFE

Trading of
Ground beauty and
Foundation investigation Financial skin care
construction services services products Total
EBRER
MERE  BRRE &RIR EmER act
Disaggregated by timing of B ARRRESE
revenue recognition
- Over time —WErsr 218,459,509 38,757,518 3,189,529 - 260,406,556
- A point in time — B e - - - 2,810,308 2,810,308
Revenue from external SHEBERIA
customers 218,459,509 38,757,518 3,189,529 2,810,308 263,216,864
Reportable segment revenue ] 2R PIMA 218,459,509 38,757,518 3,189,529 2,810,308 263,216,864
Reportable segment gross profit A 2R3 SFEF 35,122,879 11,691,043 3,189,227 2,810,308 52,813,457
Reportable segment profit/(loss) &] 232 &5/ (§518) 7,793,625 2,143225  (22,971,124) 2,017,891 (11,016,383
Interest income from bank deposit  $R{77Z A BULA - - 143,077 - 143,077
Interest expenses FERY 6,107,884 - 182,519 - 6,290,403
Depreciation for the year FRITE 3,586,499 984,477 1,937,027 - 6,508,003
Reportable segment assets ~ FAI2ZRABEE 257,890,376 48,524,611 254,762,392 58,270,935 619,448,314
Additions to non-current segment  ERIEREN DB ER
assets during the year NE 74,686 3,814,776 - - 3,889,462
Reportable segment liabilities A2 BEE 189,657,299 7,417,564 330,361,783 53,476,868 580,913,514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HIEFE GUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

4. EXFRAEBERS (2

(b) SEWH/S E

(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities () DEHEE-BEEREE B
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z_—F-A=+-HIEEFE
Trading of
Ground beauty and
Foundation investigation Financial skin care
construction services services products Total
EARES
MERE T HERRTS SRR EmBZ st
Disaggregated by timing of BREARZRESE
revenue recognition
- Over time —FERs R 221,550,274 64,772,178 3,614,338 289,936,790
- A point in time — B RIE - - - 3,661,840 3,661,840
Revenue from external SHEBERIA
customers 221,550,274 64,772,178 3,614,338 3,661,840 293,598,630
Reportable segment revenue ~ FT2RAEFUA 221,550,274 64,772,178 3,614,338 3,661,840 293,598,630
Reportable segment gross profit 7] 2k 73 2 EF 24,183,801 25,513,902 3,613,044 3,661,840 56,972,587
Reportable segment profit/(loss) ] 254 &8&F],/ (§518) 6,040,921 17,152,289 (15,356,446 2,785,934 10,622,698
Interest income from bank deposit  $R17722F] EUA = 220,487 = 229,487
Interest expenses FIER% 5,741,643 - 301,344 = 6,042,987
Depreciation for the year FRITE 7,168,374 565,456 1,969,149 = 9,702,979
Reportable segment assets ~ AJ2RLUEE 248,476,709 51,682,001 285,521,940 55,416,984 641,097,634
Additions to non-current segment  FRIEREN D BEENFE
assets during the year 1,147,256 3,441,496 9,670 - 4,598,422
Reportable segment liabilities "] 2RADEE 188,036,932 9,494,880 340,557,209 52,640,808 590,729,829
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

4. EXFRABERS (2

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SFEBERE (@)
(i)  Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) AIZ2HPEA 1Bt - EEREEZEHIR
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities
2022 2021
—E--F T
Revenue A
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated B 2R D BWA LR S WA
revenue (note 4(2)) GEZ) 263,216,864 293,598,630
Loss E518
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2 (BB EF) (11,016,383) 10,622,698
Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL MU EE—EREAB 2 EZA
in relation to acquisition of an associate TEFABGDNEMEE
A TG B8N B EE 30,363,000  (3,252,000)
Impairment losses on interest in an associate R—EBE B NER L
AR (5,337,968) -
Share of results of an associate EiE—EHE AT 2 %48 (9,385,312) (233,532)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses FOBAAMEBREREEMY  (18,007,687) (17,325,334)
Consolidated loss before taxation FRIGBIAR & B5 18 (13,384,350) (10,188,168)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AE2RDMBEE 619,448,314 641,097,634
Elimination i (237,849,742) (237,533,266)
381,598,572 403,564,368
Interest in an associate R—REBRE QBN #ER 20,626,673 35,017,364
Financial assets at FVPL in relation to acquisition of MUEE—EEE QB 2N
an associate: TEFABDNEHEE !
— Profit guarantee —im AR - 3,190,000
_ Put option —SRh A 34,300,000 128,000
— Call option — o AR - 619,000
Other unlisted investment HihIE FHieHE 3,754,704 =
Tax recoverable AU [EIFRIE 1,567,528 =
Unallocated head office and corporate assets KOMBMERNEEEE 16,478,458 24,035,745
Consolidated total assets LEEEEE 458,325,935 466,554,477
Liabilities =1
Reportable segment liabilities AIZ2{DBEE 580,913,514 590,729,829
Elimination HEH (412,192,987) (419,649,723)
168,720,527 171,080,106
Tax payable FETHRIE 1,975,400 3,801,318
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEE 458,387 916,330
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities KoM ERERPEEE 115,458,459 109,931,075
Consolidated total liabilities ime BB 286,612,773 285,728,829
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HIEFE GUBTEHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. EEERSBERE &
REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SEBERE (@)
(i)  Information about major customers (i) BHEBEFHIEF
Revenue from customers of construction contracts RERMEEHAEBRBRKAETRBBEI10%H
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for BESANERRAWT !
the corresponding years are as follows:
2022 2021

—8-- BT —F
Construction contracts: BESH
Customer A ERA 79,961,251 42,128,018
Customer B EFB 43,004,783 75,932,781
Customer C EFC N/AFEBR* 38,765,243

Revenue from the relevant customer was less than 10% of the
Group'’s total revenue for the respective year.

* KREBFAERP AR EREEHRERBUWATE
EH210% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

5. OTHER INCOME, OTHER NET GAINS 5.

H U A « B fth o B2 £548 7% 88

AND LOSSES
2022 2021
—E-= S
Rental income from lease of machinery THE#MAE WA 592,980 36,191
Bank interest income IR1TH) BURA 217,755 229,487
Other interest income HF B U A 55,483 =
Insurance claims {RERZ=RE 11,300 =
Government grants (note) BT Rh (fTsE) 33,780 9,350,089
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYZE  BEMEE 2 W 388,000 1,657,246
Reclassification adjustment for gain on disposal of HERAFESARMEZE
debt investment at fair value through W@ EBRE 2 W@
other comprehensive income ZEM DA - 180,822
Net change in fair value of financial assets BATEStABGENEMEE
at fair value through profit or loss NAFEES)FEE 17,053,970 (6,015,525)
Net foreign exchange loss E R E 1R P 5 (59,797) (33,434)
Sales of raw materials HE Rk 794,915 267,799
Others Hh 35,649 227,544
19,124,035 5,900,219

M BES__F=RA=+—HLFE > BUTHALHE

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, the government

grants is related to Reimbursement of Maternity Leave
Pay Scheme. The government grants mainly related to the
employment support scheme. During the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group successfully applied for funding
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government.
The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the

ERRHEAB A BFME T 2RRMESEE
M-BE_T_—F=ZBA=1+—HLEFE x&£H
R FREEERERARILNGEREEESR
TRMESFBNETE -ZEEZHATFEREH
&R LUR B A BE L SRV E S - RIBFALIF
o AERP PR AN SRENAREERH
NEfHESH -

employees.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —F=— "ZFFif



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

4=

6. [FRIEAIESIR

FRIRATE IR LN, GTA) THIRERER

2022 2021
ot oo B —F
(@) Finance costs (a) FERA
Interest on borrowing from a related company RE—EEAELAREBEZFE 4,500,000 4,500,000
Interest on borrowing from a director of a subsidiary 3 E LB AREREE
ZHE 6,100,000 5,679,045
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFE 285,974 405,595
10,885,974 10,584,640
2022 2021
—E-—g =&
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EBEIpZ (BIEESHM
remuneration) &)
Contribution to defined contribution retirement plans R EHRECGR RS EIBI R 2,186,242 2,130,618
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHMEF 67,828,391 68,761,798
70,014,633 70,892,416
(c) Otheritems (c) HIBER
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and equipment -BEEYE- -BEAEZE 4,464,950 6,904,339
— right-of-use assets (EREEE 3,014,892 3,090,549
7,479,842 9,994,888
Impairment losses on interest in an associate A —EE AR NER 2
REEBE 5,337,968 -
Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, B2 REMEBWRIE 508
contract assets, loan receivables and debt investment & - FEWE N & I2AFE st
at fair value through other comprehensive income J\E@EEH& s NEFKE
ZRERE 6,439,237 5,129,414
Auditors’ remuneration Z MmN = 1,450,000 970,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE  BERREZ W (388,000)  (1,657,246)
Net foreign exchange loss & R E5 1R P 5E 59,797 33,434

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

169



170

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tRa ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

7. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 7. FRSM GER) X
(@) Income tax (credit)/expenses in the (a) REEZEREMEEWSERPOMSH (8
consolidated statement of profit or loss and %) /FXiE:

other comprehensive income represents:

2022 2021
g TET—F

Current tax ENEATRIE

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year FAEBFERER 328,486 2,574,625

Over-provision in respect of prior years BT FEBRREE (498,308) @4,171)

(169,822) 2,570,454

Deferred tax IEIEFR IR

Origination and reversal of temporary differences B E R E L K] (457,943) (518,773)

(627,765) 2,051,681

Notes: BT -

0] Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, (i) RIFFESHEENRNRRL AEBHEHMNHEES
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman BEE MK
Islands.

(ii) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated (ii) KEEGHERRBENIZ16.5% (ZB - —4F:
at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits 16.5%) 2MEF RS- _EFEBHEBREE
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is AEEZz —HNBARRBRAEREMAT T2a
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate B EEBRSM o
regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits MEZM EABIME °» §2,000,00078 7T 2 FEER R im F)
are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are 1#%8.25% WM R » HERE R & F]1£16.5%8
taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for MEFHR - ZWBRAB 2 EBFERBEZ S
this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2021. Z—FHEREEHE

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 takes TR CFRANSRBECSHREBRFIITHE
into account a reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR BRR 22—/ _FRMFEATEEBIDR
Government of 100% of the tax payable for the year of 100%FE (TR 18 (B % LR #310,000/87T) #B5t & (Z
assessment 2021/22 subject to a maximum reduction of TT—F RIZIE T FERFERTER
HK$10,000 for each business (2021: a maximum reduction of ER%&10,0008 0 R E_ S - —FBEREE
HK$10,000 was granted for the year of assessment 2020/21 BIEA) ©

and was taken into account in calculating the provision for

2021).

(il The provision for Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at (il HE_Z - FRZE-—F=ZB=+—HILHF
12% of the estimated assessable profits for years ended 31 B BRPIRREEL AR RN Z12% 2
March 2022 and 2021. RIS H o

(iv) The provision for People’s Republic of China Income Tax is (iv) HE_Z - FRZE-—F=ZB=+—HILHF
calculated at 25% of the estimated assessable profits for the B hEAREMBEMEREBE MG ERE R
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. F 2% 2 MK E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HIEFE GUBTEHE)

7. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/
expenses and accounting loss before taxation

at applicable tax rates:

7. PSR (GER) FX (&

(b) FRSIR (E%R) MAXABRERARESEN

PRitAl & sHES IR Z MRV EAR

2022 2021
—E-—F —=- &
Loss before taxation PRI ATES B (13,384,350) (10,188,168)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at RERRAMEEHERIEZ
the rates applicable to losses in the jurisdictions MEABENRRAIEEIERE
concerned H1a (2,830,815) (2,171,518)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses RAJ RS RS & 8,942,438 5,479,891
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARRIMANREEE (5,111,620)  (1,902,436)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised G EEEEM BRI ERER
Mm% & (29,930) 304,159
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERAEBBRIEBEN
M E 2,006,071 2,104,146
Tax effect of tax losses utilised BEEFAREBBENRETZE (3,063,820)  (1,741,865)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBREEE (498,308) 4,171)
Others Hih (41,781) (16,525)
Actual tax (credit)/expenses BEREMRIE (%) X (627,765) 2,051,681
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of () ZFREUBKRRROFRERE:
financial position represents:
(i)  Current taxation ()  BPEfRE
2022 2021
g T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits FREENESREE
Tax for the year 328,486 2,574,625
Provisional Profits Tax paid BT EESHER (1,586,178) (467,784)
(1,257,692) 2,106,841
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision BETFFEERBAN
relating to prior years BB SR ERE E.tﬁv% 474,130 503,043
Balance of Macau Complementary BT FEBRIER
Tax provision relating to prior years HRAIGR B E.tﬁ? 1,191,434 1,191,434
407,872 3,801,318
Representing: 15
Tax recoverable Bl EiRIE (1,567,528) -
Tax payable FERRIE 1,975,400 3,801,318
407,872 3,801,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) 8 — & ——

7. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES
(Continued)

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents: (Continued)

(i) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

FZA=1+—HLFE CUBTTHE)

7. PSR (E%R) RX (&)

() SEMBRRROFAEHE: @

(i) BEZEEREERE

HABBRRAENERDELERIES G004
S RHEPRNEBIT :

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of the

related

depreciation

InEERE

Deferred tax arising from: IRERIERA - B ARIIRE

At 1 April 2020 HZE-EFMA—H (1,435,103)

Credited to profit or loss RB@mAPETA 518,773
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 HW-E-_—F=A=+—HK&

—E-—-fFmA—H (916,330)

Credited to profit or loss RB@mPETA 457,943

At 31 March 2022 W-_E€-_—_§#=B=+—H (458,387)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

7. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES
(Continued)

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents: (Continued)

(i) Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position is as follows:

7. PSR (GER) FX (&

() SEMBRRRNFRERE: (@

(i) BEZREERIEERE (&

BERAaMBRAERNERNT !

2022 2021
—E-= R
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RE MBI RA B EIRIE
consolidated statement of financial position MIBEEFRE - =
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REMBIRRABEERIR
consolidated statement of financial position MBS EFRE (458,387) (916,330)
(458,387) (916,330)

(d) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
$108,168,000 (2021: approximately $116,620,000) as
it is uncertain that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses arising from subsidiaries operated in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) approximately
$7,572,000 (2021: approximately $3,332,000) that may
be carried forward for a period of five years from their
respective year of origination. The remaining unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(d) KREDEERERE

IRIBMIE2()FF 2 et BUR ) A EB W ERDE
R R st IR IEE51849108,168,0008 70 (B — —4F :
#9116,620,00078 7T) BYIRIERIBE E » b5 A TE
ERMBEE I HELREREET P ESHARIKI
BRABENREERRENEERREME R
EARH %DI(WPIJ%* M B AT EEZE
$8497,572,0005 ¢ (= —4F ! 493,332,000
7T) ﬁx\%ﬁaﬁﬁﬁréﬁa 'O BEHES S FERLE
R o iR NSRRI IBAS 1B R o R HRAE & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ$E§ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021 which was included in the staff costs as
disclosed in note 6(b) is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022

8. EEFr

BE_ZT__ER-FE-_—F=ZRA=+—H

I FE B 5t AM5E6(b)Fr iK% 58

MO

BE_E__F-H=+—HLFE

EMB TR ANE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Director's  Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus inkind contributions Total
e 22Uk
BENSE B ETEAL BUER  BAHEHR st
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) BEVEE (X8 1,133,814 80,000 66,186 - 1,280,000
Mr. Chan Kwan (note (iv)) BRESLE (k) - 68,000 1,020,000 15,000 1,103,000
Mr. Zhu Jiayu KERRE 233,032 67,200 774,968 15,000 1,090,200
1,366,846 215,200 1,861,154 30,000 3,473,200
Non-executive Directors FRTES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRBELE 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (note (i) ENIREE (5H) 144,000 - - - 144,000
288,000 - - - 288,000
Independent Non-executive ~ BHIFHITESR
Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BERLE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson RERELE 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Eric Todd (note (i) ERERE (k) 144,000 - - - 144,000
528,000 - - - 528,000
Total 4@zt 2,182,846 215,200 1,861,154 30,000 4,289,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) &% —

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

=
e

AR

8. EFHM @

SR EEHRME

F= }% +—RHLEFE QUBTEHE)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BHE_ZE_—&F=-A=1+—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Director’s Discretionary and benefits scheme
fee bonus in kind contributions Total
i A=
ek [El=gal BMERN  RAEEIER ast
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) AN (%) 563,859 254,400 636,141 9,152 1,463,552
Mr. Chan Kwan (note (v)) RELE (k) - 216,240 1,020,000 18,000 1,254,240
Mr. Zhu Jiayu RERLE - 213,696 1,008,000 4,500 1,226,196
563,859 684,336 2,664,141 31,652 3,943,988
Non-executive Directors EBTER
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRETE 144,000 449,600 = = 593,600
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (note (i) ENIREE (3E0) 33,677 - - - 33,677
177,677 449,600 - - 627,277
Independent Non-executive ~ BiIEHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BERALE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson REBLE 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Qin Fen (note (ii)) RELE (%) 110,710 - - - 110,710
Mr. Eric Todd (note (ii) ERERE (k) 33,677 = = = 33,677
528,387 - - - 528,387
Total fast 1,269,923 1,133,936 2,664,141 31,652 5,099,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, none of
the director has granted share or share options, in respect
of their services to the Group under the share award
scheme or the share option scheme of the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. Neither the
chief executive officer nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

Notes:

(i) Appointed as non-executive director of the Company on 7
January 2021.

(ii) Appointed as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 January 2021.

(iii) Resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 January 2021.

(iv) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 31
January 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M IRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HBIEEE CUBTEHE)

9. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, one (2021:
one) of these is director for the year ended 31 March
2022, whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as
follows:

9. RARSHMAINMNE

BE_E__F=-A=+—HLEEE REXE
BErnsEsfFMALs —R (T2 Z—F:
—R)RES EMERBENRWES - HEF AL
BN T

2022 2021

—E-—E =&

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYEF 6,384,000 6,312,000
Discretionary bonus BIBTEAL 800,000 800,000
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIHRR 36,000 36,000
7,220,000 7,148,000

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals (including directors and employees)
or other directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

RBE_BE__FK-_FE_—F=ZA=+—
HIEEE  xEEBERSNER LR RS N
AL (BEEERES SEMEEFZIME
DERBEEM AR E N A A E B & 8B
THIFABERAEE-

The emoluments of the four (2021 four) individuals with the M (CE-—F W) BEsHMA TN
highest emoluments are within the following bands: NEUTEHE :

2022 2021

—_E-Z B

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A A&

Nil-1,000,000 2 —1,000,000 - -

1,000,001-1,500,000 1,000,001 —1,500,000 - -

1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001 —2,000,000 4 4

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR 177
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#



178

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ$E§ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10. HttZ2m¥m=
Tax effects relating to each component of other HM2AWESH I EANRBEE

comprehensive income

2022 2021
- e “EC-&
Before-tax Tax (expense)/ Net-of-tax Before-tax  Tax (expense)/ Net-of tax
amount benefit amount amount benefit amount
1 (FHR) ne RnE ED HIlGS
BiRAI 24 /BE RESE  BRgeE /BE kR
Exchange differences on RERMNERITE
translation of financial BENERER
statements of foreign
operations 904,512 - 904,512 1,226,407 - 1,226,407
Share of other comprehensive & EmEABRZ
income of investment EhgEZ Ef
accounted for using the equity 2 E W&
method 332,589 - 332,589 964,896 - 964,896
Debt investment at far value  AFEst AE
through other comprehensive 2 E W&
income (recycling): BHRE (M)
~ net movement in fair ~pNFERRE
value and impairment loss BREEE
allowance BB 2,406,998 - 2,406,998 2,575,407 - 2,575,407
- reclassfication adjustment for —3t AIB#RIHE
gain on disposal included in W@z B
profit or loss DR - - - (180,822) - (180,822)
Other comprehensive income  E 12 E iz 3,644,099 - 3,644,099 4,585,888 = 4,585,888
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RRER
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final EENAERRNBE_Z =7
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022. No dividend —+—HLtHF r‘ 2z EE HA B& % zts /A B E
has been declared or paid by the Company for the years K KNBE_SE__FRZZEZ—F=8
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. =t+t—HIEFEFEZERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZ —_ & _ _F= ﬁ +—HIEFE GUBTEHE)

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. #iRESE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) SREXEHE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable NAB G RREGESRENEGIRNIZE T8
to equity shareholders of the Company is based on the E
following:
2022 2021
g %
Loss E5i8
Loss attributable to equity shareholders KRB EmREEIGEE
of the Company (12,756,585) (12,239,849)
Number of shares K& A
Weighted average number of ordinary shares SAESRERBE
for the purpose of basic loss per share ZiE R IR 92 928,355,000 938,918,932
For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the BHE_T__FRZ_—F=B=+—HL
calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to equity FE ARAEGREEBLERERGELR
shareholders of the Company was based on () the loss BTISEABERE ((\ AR AR ERELE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and (ii) BR(i)Z AEBERMGIRE TR (5E27) FEW
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 31,645,000 R IDF EMAEN S FITE BN
which was adjusted by the effect of 31,645,000 shares HEEIgE -
held for the Group’s share award scheme (note 27).
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) SRIEEHE
There were no diluted potential shares in existence during RB8E_E__FrZE-_—F=HA=+—HIt
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. FE BEBTEEERMD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRMIE

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. YE -BERRE
EQUIPMENT
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@ FREEHIER
Properties
leased Leasehold Furniture Motor
for own use Machinery improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
HEEER
% i HEa%eE GFRREE RE h

Cost: %
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZENA—H 7,509,062 90,947,042 913,376 2,393,972 11,806,187 113,568,639
Exchange adjustments ERER 52,136 - - 1,181 - 53,317
Additions HE 1,701,052 1,335,648 - 197,893 2,879,800 6,114,393
Disposals HE (162,895)  (11,566,000) = (1929) (1036782  (12,767,606)
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—-FE=A=+-H 9,099,355 80,716,690 913,376 2,591,117 13,648,205 106,968,743
At 1 April 2021 —E--¥MA-A 9,099,355 80,716,690 913,376 2,591,117 13,648,205 106,968,743
Exchange adjustments ERHE 70,283 = = 1,576 = 71,859
Additions RE 1,704,280 732,400 - 137,911 3,048,376 5,622,967
Disposals HE (2,243,790) (1,370,000) - - (8,000) (3,621,790)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZZ&ZRA=+-H 8,630,128 80,079,090 913,376 2,730,604 16,688,581 109,041,779
Accumulated depreciation: RiHrE
At 1 April 2020 ﬁ _7_7ﬁﬂﬁ H 1,320,248 82,198,715 395,880 1,833,419 10,412,930 96,161,192
Exchange adjustments EREE 10,094 = = 172 - 10,266
Charge for the year Emﬁ 3,090,549 5,291,765 108,499 271,764 1,237,311 9,094,888
Written back on disposals HE R (162,895) (11,566,000) - (1,129) (1,036,782) (12,766,802)
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—-F=A=+—H 4,257,996 75,924,480 499,379 2,104,230 10,613,459 93,399,644
At 1 April 2021 AZE-—-£MA-AH 4,257,996 75,924,480 499,379 2,104,230 10,613,459 93,399,544
Exchange adjustments ERHE 14,702 = = 247 = 14,949
Charge for the year ERTH 3,014,892 3,307,951 103,499 256,004 797,496 7,479,842
Written back on disposals HEREE (2,243,790) (1,370,000) - - (2,000) (3,615,790
At 31 March 2022 R-E--%=H=+-H 5,043,800 77,862,431 602,878 2,360,481 11,408,955 97,278,545
Net book value: IREFE:
At 31 March 2021 R_E_-F=A=1—-H 4,841,359 4,792,210 413,997 486,387 3,084,746 13,569,199
At 31 March 2022 R-E--%=H=+-H 3,586,328 2,216,659 310,498 370,123 5,279,626 11,763,234
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

13. ME- -BERRE (E

(b) FERERE

REMEEENSONERAREERE FE
o ETMT -

2022 2021
—E-= B —F

Properties leased for own use, HEFERNYZE
carried at depreciated cost (LT E A ER) 3,586,328 4,841,359

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

REazAERSNEERXBEEN S FEH N
B

2022 2021
g T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by HHEBEESERE SN

class of underlying asset: FRESENEER .

— properties leased for own use —BEEEBRNYE 3,014,892 3,090,549
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEaEFNE (HF6() 285,974 405,595
Expense relating to short-term leases HIGHAE EBRAESY

— machinery — A 22,104,337 20,621,667

— properties leased for own use —BEEEBRNYE 2,166,000 2,164,400

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately $1,704,000 (2021: approximately
$1,701,000). This amount related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 21(d) and 24,
respectively.

FRHABEFEREEEN1,704,0008 T (=
T —4F I #91,701,00087T) c o REE ]
HEWHZE TENNEARCAERIEHERE -

EREENRESREBEUKEEEENE
HB R 255 1B 0 B S 5£21(d) k24 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRMIE

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(i) Properties leased for own use

13. ME - -BERRE (E

(b) ERERE @
() TEEFERBEINFE

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties AEBCERHERENSEANEREMY
as its office and warehouses through tenancy agreements. EEREAMRERRE - ZEHE—RITH
The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years. HmE=%F-

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for ETHEEERENPERERBREEBRER
an additional period after the end of the contract term. —BREENEEE - RETERT K% l 7]
Where practicable, the Group seeks to include such KRMAKREB T TENEREIZERNIZATL
extension options or early termination options exercisable FE#E UIEHESEEEM AEEKBEERG
by the Group to provide operational flexibility. The Group HEFGEHEHRSAERBRTHEEHREZRY

assesses at lease commencement date whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options or

AT LR 1h$$l5!<4\fiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%$ﬁp
B RERAPENRKREEMNRTFARE

early termination options. If the Group is not reasonably BENGtE - ZERKEEN RN BT R R
certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease M
payments during the extension periods are not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities. The potential exposure
to these future lease payments is summarised below:
Potential future lease
payments under
extension/termination
Lease options not
liabilities included in lease
recognised liabilities
(discounted) (undiscounted)
IRERETHEERE
BRIEEZ
BEXRKHEEMDR
BEIHEEaE CREtAHE&ER)
(B3R (R#rIR)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C 25 ZEZZC —_E—F
Warehouses-Hong Kong BE—&F - 266,907 - =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

14. RIBABINKRE

TREINEEENBRBDOFIB - RIFS A
TR AENRNDENSEREK-

Proportion of ownership interest

BEARRELLA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/  issued and Group’s Held by
Name of establishment  paid up effective the Held by  Principal
company and business capital/registered capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
M ML BEGTR FEE MEBAE
R ES HIE BRRE/EREREE BERELD SARRAE BE IERH
Hong Kong Wan Wai* British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited (‘BVI') US$10,000
BBRRBRAT EBEEZEHE  LER10000%ET REEK
(HEEEY
#E)
Chung Shun Boring Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% S 100%  Ground investigation works
Company Limited HK$5,500,000
FEEFIRERAT Bl & 85,500,000/ 7T THERTR
Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Construction site foundation
Company Limited HK$14,000,000 engineering and bore pile
pre-driling works
RETHIRBRAT E E38R%14,000,000% 7T BEm B E TR R gL E
ABRAERTIR
Wan Kei Machinery Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% - 100%  Machinery leasing
BERWMERAD B EER100HETT BmEE
Wan Kei (Macau) Civil And Foundation  Macau 2 shares of MOP 14,000 100% - 100%  Construction site foundation
Construction Company Limited* engineering and bore pile
pre-driling works
LE (R HERETIRERAT BN 2R P95 14,0007T BEm B E TR R gL E
ABRAERTIR
Ultimate Proud Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
EHBRAT" HBEELEE ERRIET REEK
Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Money lending
HK$1,000,000
2 (58) BRAT B E4@8A%1,000,0008 7T =
Infinite Time Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
XEZERBRAD HEREYEHE BERIETR RERR
Sino Topper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% = 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$20,000,000
HHEEERAT ) £388%20,000,0007T EEREEE-=ES
Prestige Victory Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
2HERAE HBRAEE  BERIER RERR
Topper Summit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% S 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
BEBERAF B & 55,000,000/ 7T iR Ba = %

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

183



184

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tRa ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. RMBARNKRE (&
(Continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

BEARRELLH
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/  issued and Group’s Held by
Name of establishment  paid up effective the Held by  Principal
company and business capital/registered capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
MR I BETR FEE il
ARAE REHME BRRE GEREREE BERfiEEZ FRFRE BE IEEH
Delight Vision Global Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
RERKBRAT HBEELEE BBRIET KREER
Shiny Wiser Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
HEFRAH B E48AR5,000,0008 7T EARFEEEE
Elegant Top Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
HEERERAT" HEREYEHE BERIETR RERR
Success Mount Investments Limited*  BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - 100%  Not yet commence business
RERERRAR" HEREYEHE BERIETR EARFEEEE
Advance Trade Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
BERRBRAD HEREYEHE BERIER RERR
Regal Victor International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% - 100%  Trading of beauty and skin
care products
ZEERBRAT E ZER100ET EAREEERES
Yuyong (Shanghai) Construction PRC RMB100,000,000 100% S 100%  Not yet commence business
Engineering Company Limited* " paid up RMB20,576,300
ik (£8) BEIRBRAF e AR #100,000,0007T HARBEEZE
B R AR 20,576,30070
Bayview (Hainan) Construction PRC RMB100,000,000, paid up N/A = N/A~ Not yet commence business
Engineering Company Limited*:* RMBNil BB EM
(Note i)
BE (5 BEIRERAR e AR #100,000,0007T (2021: 100%) (2021:100%) HKFIAEE
(Fizk) BEAREZT (CZ=—%F: C2Z-F:
100%) 100%)
* HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) is not the * EE g SEHEAARAR (TBf) UIFZENE
statutory auditor of these subsidiaries. NEVZEEZEEN
# The English names of these companies referred to in these L AR M MEN T ZEMBIRKASIMZSE
financial statements represent management’s best effort NBEZANGBLEEERERAZNHZEATF
to translate the Chinese names of those companies, as no NXEBIEHZ BIE o
English names have been registered.
Note: BT
0] It was deregistered during the year ended 31 March 2022. 0] AT E_E__F=RA=+—HLlFEB:=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

15. WM—RHEBE QT EDS

Proportion of ownership interest

BEARRELA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and Group’s Held by
Name of and paid up effective the Held by  Principal
company business capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
AR BETR FERE MEBAF
R ES UL HRRRAEE BERELD FARRAE BE IEBEH
Matsu Gami IP Development BVI Ordinary shares 35% 35% - Investment holding
Limited US$10,000
LIPS RERAR HBRIHE Ei8M%10,000% 7T KREER
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in BERNGEUERREER EZAR.

the consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted

EREBRZENERFHBRE  THEKRS

for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled MBEBRRAZKREAEHEK ZBE /AR EE
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial BHEEREWT o
statements, are disclosed below.
2022 2021
—E--f T

Gross amounts of the associate &N B 4E%E
Current assets RENEE 33,988,182 30,230,411
Non-current assets ERBEE 38,956,067 68,409,989
Current liabilities mEER 30,191,873 22,522,423
Non-current liabilities FERBER 8,589,932 16,620,776
Non-controlling interests JEIERE e T 791,842 261,675
Equity attributable to equity shareholder Bt AR m R R (L

of the associate 33,370,602 59,235,526
Revenue A 28,929,469 28,861,064
Attributable to equity shareholders of the associate: HE A Bl m AR R E(
Loss for the year/period FHNEE (26,815,178) (667,234)
Other comprehensive income HhemhmE 950,254 2,756,847
(Loss)/profit for the year/period and other F/HRN (BB 58k

comprehensive (expenses)/income Hiem I W= (25,864,924) 2,089,613
Reconciled to the Group’s interest FEEMRBEATNESDN

in the associate HER
Gross amounts of net assets shared by e AT m IR IEL

equity shareholders of the associate EEFEER 33,370,602 59,235,526
Group’s effective interest KEBBERED o 35% 35%
Group’s share of net assets shared by AEBEBEHE QB R

equity shareholders of the associate RERELNEEFE 11,679,711 20,732,434
Goodwill S 8,946,962 14,284,930
Carrying amount in the consolidated PR E T BRERNIEEE

financial statements 20,626,673 35,017,364
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

On 4 September 2020, the Group completed the
acquisition of 35% equity interests in Matsu Gami IP
Development Limited (the “Matsu Gami”) and related
profit guarantee, call and put option arising from the
acquisition for HK$41,475,000, of which HK$21,475,000
cash consideration was deposited into an escrow account
and HK$20,000,000 earnest money had been paid by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020. Matsu Gami
holds subsidiaries incorporated in BVI, Hong Kong and
PRC, which mainly engages in the business of provision of
food and beverage catering services utilizing well-known
intellectual property right (‘IP Right(s)”) and provision of
related advising service.

The Guaranteed Profits and the Guaranteed IP Rights

Under the terms of the sale and purchase agreement
and related supplemental agreements, the vendors and
the vendor guarantors unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed and warranted to the Company for each
of the two years ending 31 March 2021 and 2022
(the“Guaranteed Period(s)”) that: (a) the audited
consolidated net profits after tax but before deduction
of non-recurring income and expenses of the Matsu
Gami and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Matsu Gami Group”) according to the HKFRSs (the
“Actual Profit”) shall be meet the minimum profit (the
“Guaranteed Profit(s)”); and (b) the Matsu Gami
Group acquires at least one IP Right as designated by
the Company to be used in relation the Matsu Gami’s
business(es) (the “Guaranteed IP Right(s)”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

The relevant provisions of the Guaranteed Profits and the

15. WM—HEBEQTNEDS (&

RGN RARENREEZBRMEXHNT

Guaranteed IP Rights are set in the following table: E g
Guaranteed

Guaranteed Periods Profits Guaranteed IP Rights Determination dates
HIREAR R 3% it 7 {7 5% &I Bk A= 1 EEBH
1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 HK$10,000,000 At least 1 IP Right as 31 July 2021

designated by the Company
:%ngﬁﬂﬁ HZE 10,000,000 7T EV—IBARBEIEEZ S —HFtHA=+—H

B —F=HA=+—H FNGH ERE

1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022  HK$20,000,000 At least 1 IP Right as 31 July 2022

designated by the Company
2 —FHA—HZE 20,000,000t EL—EARFEEZ 2 HFtEA=+—H

“E_"F=RB=+—H

Save as to the occurrence of any force majeure events as
agreed between the parties, if the Actual Profit is less than
the Guaranteed Profit during a Guaranteed Period, the
vendor and the vendor guarantors shall compensate the
Company in the amount calculated (the “Compensation
Amount”) based on the following:

If the Matsu Gami Group record Actual Profit which is less
than the Guaranteed Profit during a Guaranteed Period:

Compensation Amount = Guaranteed Profit — Actual Profit
If the Matsu Gami Group record audited consolidated net
loss after tax but before deduction of non-recurring income
and expenses (“Actual Loss”) during a Guaranteed

Period:

Compensation Amount = Guaranteed Profit + Actual Loss

R ERE

REBEITNEHEBEZEANATRNE
o ERERAR BEREFN DRFEZEF
AERTREFERARUBRBEUTREHSE
228 ((HEEH) AR EFHME :

DKk

WA ERRERABREZER & L0
fRegi@ A

%ﬁ T:w: % ﬁE 'T% g /Jm 7F'J B BT /ﬁﬁ 74F|J
WM ERRERABARESEEZESRK

MEBHNRIIFCEEBARBXANEERPHE
(TEREHE) :

%ﬁ{fiﬁﬁa T% g m%'ﬁ%‘ﬁ%zﬁﬂé
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

Pursuant to an escrow agreement dated 4 September
2020 entered into among the Company, the vendors and
an escrow agent, the parties agreed to appoint the escrow
agent and the escrow agent agreed to hold and disburse
the escrow amount pursuant to the terms of the escrow
agreement. The escrow amount was already paid into
escrow account maintained by the escrow agent and, after
deducting the Compensation Amount (if any) according
to the sale and purchase agreement, will be released
by the escrow agent to the vendors in accordance with
the joint instructions from the Company and the vendors
upon determination of the Guaranteed Profits and the
Guaranteed IP Rights for the 2020-2021 Guaranteed
Period and 2021-2022 Guaranteed Period.

The call option and the put option

Pursuant to the terms of the supplemental agreements,
the vendors granted the Company a option conferring
the right to the Company to require the vendors to sell
16% of the issued share capital of the Matsu Gami to the
Company, which the Company may exercise with periods
either beginning on 31 July 2021 and ending on the 30th
business day thereafter or beginning on 31 July 2022
and ending on the 30th business day thereafter, if Matsu
Gami had the fulfilment of the Guaranteed Profit and other
conditions.

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement,
the vendors granted the Company an option conferring
the right to the Company to require the vendors to
purchase all of the sale interests to the Company, which
the Company may exercise within the period beginning on
4 September 2020 and ending on the 30th business day
after 31 July 2022, if Matsu Gami Group had less than
half of the amount of the Guaranteed Profit or the Actual
Loss is recorded in respect of the relevant Guaranteed
Period and other conditions; or the Guaranteed IP Right
in respect of relevant Guaranteed Period is not fulfilled; or
there occur material outstanding liabilities, breaches and/or
non-compliances in relation to the Matsu Gami Group. Any
Compensation Amount under the Guaranteed Profits and
the Guaranteed IP Rights will be waived upon the exercise
of the put option by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. M—HEBEQTNER (&

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, goodwill of
approximately $14,285,000 was arising on the acquisition,
and included within the carrying amount of interest in an
associate, which details as follows:

BE_T_—F=-"RB=1+—HLEFE - WBS
BESHEN14,285,0008 7T It 57 AR —
BHMEATNNEm ZREE ARFBOT

Consideration paid e E
— Cash consideration deposited into an escrow accountin =~ —U{BEHEEFATEREZRESRE
name of vendors 21,475,000
— Earnest money paid during the year ended 31 March 2020 —&Z _E_TZF =B =+—HILEE
ZEBfHmES 20,000,000
— Fair value of the call option — BN AYE (6,190,000)
— Fair value of the put option —h N A E (11,000)
— Fair value of the profit guarantee —aMERNATE (988,000)
34,286,000
Purchase consideration: BERE:
— Consideration paid —BENRE 34,286,000
— Share of the fair value of net assets acquired — LT EEFENATFE (20,001,070)
Goodwill EES 14,284,930

R—REE AT 2 REF S

FR MRENERZREBI2019E8R B HRIEF
2> RNERSHER AEESE R U EXEME
TziE HER-—BBREARNREEETHE
ey o UBERIE M S P Bl E %ﬁﬁﬁ’\@ﬁmaﬁ

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

During the year, the business of Matsu Gami was impacted
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 in the PRC, and at
the end of the reporting period, the Group conducted
an impairment review on its interest in an associate with

reference to valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer. For the purpose of impairment testing,
the recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-
use calculation that uses cash flow projections based on
the most recent financial budget of Matsu Gami covering
a five year period approved by the management after
taking into account the operation environment and market
conditions. The following describes each key assumption
which management has based to prepare its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of the cash-
generating units:

Growth rate

The cash flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using 2% (2021: 2%) growth rate.

SAEEE ZERAERNEERKS REE

155 Fe T3 353 70K O30 18 Pt /B R 2R T F HA R AL ﬁa—i&,ﬁﬂ
MHAESNRERERAFHMEET - TXRAER
HRSETBUETHENS EEERNERES
MERAMKBENSEIZRR -

HRE

BAAFHRENIESERENEAHE2% (ZE - —
Fio2%) NIEREER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §#EZ —Z — —

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate
(Continued)

Discount rate

A pre-tax discount rate of 25% (2021: 19%) is derived
with reference to the weighted average cost of capital
of comparable companies that are engaged in the same
industry with adjustment for the risks specific to the
investment.

Revenue

Revenue are based on past performance and expectations
of changes in market. Some of the major parameters
include the number of franchisees under the franchise of
intelligent property right and the monthly revenue for the
provision of food and beverage catering service. These
parameters are estimated with reference to historical
financial information after taking into account the operation
environment and market conditions.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
based on the value in use assessment, the recoverable
amount of the interest in Matsu Gami was approximately
HK$20,627,000 which was lower than its carrying amounts
and impairment loss of approximately HK$5,338,000
(2021: Nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022.

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

FZA=1+—HLFE CUBTTHE)

15. WM—RBEQTNEDS &)

R—RBEARNED 2 REE (@)

MRE

EARATRIRER25% (- —F 1 19%) H iR
FETERNBLERATDNEANNE TR ER
> WRERIRER AR E MR -

WA

WATERBERRERE T HECHNTER - H 9D
TE2HEENBERRFEERTHMERH
EREHERBRFZHAWRA -ZFLHIHEEE
KERBRTHHRNE 2REBEMBEEE

FRBEZDBAREBEERBENG RIRHAE
AV AT IR [B] £ 8R4 920,627,000 7 » (RS H AR E
18 M#95,338,000/8 7T (T = —F | T) WREEE
BERBE_Z2__F=A=+—HLFENLKR
GiRm AR -

16. BAFEFABGHNEMEE

2022 2021
Unlisted fund investment at FVPL (note 28(f)) BAFEFAERN
— outside Hong Kong JFELETMEEKE (MI5E28()
— B BB - 17,144,601
Profit guarantee in relation to acquisition of ME—EBE AT
an associate (notes 15 and 28(f) m AR (BY5E155228(f) - 3,190,000
Put option in relation to acquisition of an associate MWE—EEE A T2
(notes 15 and 28(f)) Som AR (M95E155228(f) 34,300,000 128,000
Call option in relation to acquisition of an associate MWE—EEE AT 2
(notes 15 and 28(f)) OB AR (MY5E155228(f) - 619,000
Other unlisted investment (note 28(f)) HiJE LM% E (fy5E28() 3,754,704 =
38,054,704 21,081,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 16. BAFEHFAEmMNEMEE &
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)
The other unlisted investment was wealth management H MIELELTRERBITETNEVER -BHR
product issued by bank. It was mandatorily classified as HENREREFA EALTERMNENIZMAM
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its WoaRE D EARAFESTABaNEMEE -

contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal
and interest.

17. DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR 17. BATEAHMEAEWENE
VALUE THROUGH OTHER FIgE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2022 2021
—E-= BT
Unlisted debt investment at FVOCI (recycling) BAFESAREMEZERER
(note 28() HIELMEBKRE (AI#E)
(MI5E28(f))

— outside Hong Kong —EABIEN 44,504,814 42,069,655
The debt investment is entitled to a fixed return of 8% per BHEEERERESEESWHNE T &K o
annum and redeemable at the option of the Company. =2 NN RO K =R
18. CONTRACT ASSETS 18.8NEE

2022 2021
—E-C BT
Arising from performance under construction contracts, IRIEZE SN BLNIFTFEL

net of loss allowance (note) HkrEEEE (s 101,919,687 82,404,219
Arising from performance under ground investigation 1R 4% £ #8381 BR 75 B 49 FRr

services, net of loss allowance (note) EL NikrEEEE (5 20,990,015 25,782,177

122,909,702 108,186,396
Note: Except for the amount arising from performance under iz BN _E - _F=A=+—HRERESEENEY
construction contracts of approximately $40,094,000 Ffr EE &£ FU £ 884940,094,0008 5 (ZE - —4%F
(2021: approximately $58,565,000) and the amount arising #158,565,00078 7t) K AR ¥ 1 #h &#0  BR 75 /@ 49 P
from performance under ground investigation services EERN$%413,958,0008 T (ZE - —F 1 4
of approximately $13,958,000 (2021: approximately 12,611,000%70) FAEAR —F & BRI BR T PB4
$12,611,000) as at 31 March 2022 respectively, which are BRTEHARS IS —E Bl o

expected to be recovered after one year, all of the remaining
balances are expected to be recovered within one year.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of HREIDECHNEETEBERNTEN RIS
contract assets recognised are as follows: R -

The Group’s construction contracts and ground AEENESSOR T HEIBRFT SN ES
investigation service contracts which require stage —BEREEZ (MEFRXER/THHEER
payments over the construction/service period once =) BRER/IREPAE DRI

milestones are reached as application submitted to the
customers/certificate issued by the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s construction
contracts and ground investigation service contracts
typically have an agreed retention period of one year for
5% — 10% of the contract value. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention period as
the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional
on the Group’s construction work satisfactorily passing
inspection.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18.5898E (&)

R B ER-E-—FZR=+—H'%
%@E’fm“’]f?@S%im%ZL%f # e £
3 JFJE?“:',UT%/EE’JF —MA—FoEE
BERRE ,.:.%HIJDJr)\é%‘JéTE’fI%ZIK%
lﬁgﬁ%ﬁtﬁx%ﬁ% ENEMNRAEERR I IRE
JEF) @B ER R S AR ©

19. BB RHMMEWRIE

2022 2021

g T

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B REWEIE NfREER%E 39,640,679 54,158,563
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables, ¥a B RIEREMEWER

net of loss allowance (note) 15 kR EEE (s 23,197,814 26,571,822

62,838,493 80,730,385

Note: Except for the amounts of approximately $420,000 and
approximately $970,000 as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
respectively, which are expected to be recovered after
one year, all of the remaining balances are expected to be
recovered within one year.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the date of progress certificates
issued by customers or date of invoice issued to
customers and net of allowance, is as follows:

Mz B2 _FR"E--—F=A=1+—HP3A
#(#9420,000% 75 K& #9970,00078 7t 2 FRIBTEEAR —
FROUSN BR TR GHRRIR I —FEREIL -

ARES 7 4R

BERSHR ERNFRELMNEEZZAH
FAEFHENEZANARINGEER BS
)ﬁl& B (GtAEZ RHEMEWRE) IRE
DAWMT

2022 2021
—=E-- B —F

Within 1 month —EBAR 36,560,914 23,442,806
1 to 2 months —EmEAR 2,552,194 23,843,790
2 to 3 months ME={aH~ - 1,623,652
Over 3 months =@EAMUE 527,571 5,248,315
39,640,679 54,158,563
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Ageing analysis (Continued)

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 45 days
from the payment application date or 30 to 60 days from
the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice date.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 28(a).

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

19. EBEZRHEMMEWRIE &

RS 4R (22

B RWREBE-—RRARPEFARPESSE

A5HEEZE ARSI B0E60F AR

H H#A e

St60E90HANEH -FRAEBREFEEREREY

E—TFBENMEE28(a)°

20. FEWE™

2022 2021

—E-= BT —F

Fixed-rate loan receivables, net of allowance EEFREWST M5 EE 23,476,310 28,485,643
Analysed as: DA

Current portion BIEAER > 23,476,310 28,485,643
Analysed as: DA

Unsecured SEE 23,476,310 28,485,643

At 31 March 2022, the Group’s loan receivables were
bearing interest at rates ranged from 7.5% to 12% (2021:
7.5% to 12%) per annum and repayable in September
2022 and December 2024 (2021: April 2021 to February
2022).

The Group provided impairment allowance of
approximately $4,181,000 on loan receivables during

N _E__F=A=+—H cEEEKEX
BEEBNF75%FE12% (CE_—F :17.5%
F12%) B KRBER_E__FABKR_E
“THE+ZRA(ZE I . ZEZT—FOEA

E_ZR__F_R)ERE-

AEEMBEE_T__F=ZA=+—HLEF
fﬁﬂﬁlfﬂﬁrkﬁ@%ﬂ% #74,181,000% 7t

the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately (ZZZ—% : 494,893,000 5t) o BEE
$4,893,000). Details of impairment assessment are set out BIEEIBE# M 5E28(a) ©
in note 28(a).
21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERREEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) RERREEEMEIE:
2022 2021

—E-= S T —fF

Cash at banks and in hand RITFEARRFERE 132,294,477 136,946,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21.
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b)

generated from/(used in) operations:

RERBEEEY (2

I;?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁiﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁﬁ/ (Fr ) 9%

Notes 2022 2021
e —— BT

Operating activities REES
Loss before taxation FRIG AIES 18 (13,384,350) (10,188,168)
Adjustments for: PEH RIS .
Interest on borrowing from a related RE—HEAERRZ

company BB 6() 4,500,000 4,500,000
Interest on borrowing from a director ofa ~ KE—&MBATIEE

subsidiary BB 6() 6,100,000 5,679,045
Interest on lease liabilities HESGEMNE 6(a) 285,974 405,595
Depreciation e 6(c) 7,479,842 9,994,888
Bank interest income IRITHI B ULA 5 (217,755) (229,487)
Other interest income HF] BUA 5 (55,483) =
Net change fair value of financial assets BAFESFAERN

at fair value through profit or loss THEEN AT EES)FRE 5 (17,053,970) 6,015,525
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 K B U RRIE ~

other receivables, contract assets, BHNEE -BRIREMRK

loan receivables and debt BATEstARMERE

investment at fair value through WaNEHRRE

other comprehensive income BRI 6(c) 6,439,237 5,129,414
Impairment losses on interest in A —EBE AT NERE

an associate PEREY SEE! 6(c) 5,337,968 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEMHE -BERREZ W

plant and equipment ) (388,000) (1,657,246)
Reclassification adjustment for gain on Hj’§$§@$ﬁ?r7\ﬂﬂﬂiﬁ

disposal of debt investment at fair value W EFTRE 2 W m

through other comprehensive income %?ﬁ’ DR 5 - (180,822)
Recognition of long service mERARTEaE

payment liabilities - 393,120
Share of results of an associate L —REBE AR 2 & 9,385,312 233,532
Changes in working capital: EEESEE .
Decrease/(increase) in trade B REMEKRTIERLD

and other receivables (1) 20,661,055 (27,362,562)
Decrease in loan receivables W E R R 828,471 21,205,995
Increase in contract assets BB EEMN (15,733,446) (20,631,772)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEMTIER D (6,053,253)  (4,427,163)
Cash generated from/(used in) IREFRS (FRA) &

operations 8,131,602 (11,120,106)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

21. RERBEFEY @)

(c) RMEIHELEZARBRK

TRFLAEERMELTHELEZERES &
BREKIFREEH - RETZHELEZEER
ERIRREIERFRSRERERANDIES
METHEEZHEEREAARRKREEZREN
B

Amount Amount

due to a due to

Lease director of a related
liabilities  a subsidiary company Total

FEft—% FEft—Fd
MBATR REAH
HEAR EEME M Bt

At 1 April 2021 R-EZ—FMBE—H

Changes from financing cash flows: BB R & HE S

5,159,471 122,378,127 108,600,000 236,137,598

Capital element of leases rentals paid B FEEREHNERLH (3,141,067) - - (3,141,067)
Interest element of leases rentals paid BAIFAEREA BE 5 (285,974) = = (285,974)
Total changes from RERCREEEREE

financing cash flows (3,427,041) - - (3,427,041)
Other changes: Hithizsh
Increase in lease liabilities FRFTIMEES

from entering into new leases HESEEM

during the year 1,704,280 - - 1,704,280
Interest on lease liabilities HESEF S 285,974 - - 285,974
Interest on borrowing from TE—LHMBARESZZ

a director of a subsidiary BEZFE - 6,100,000 = 6,100,000
Interest on borrowing kE—HEREARZEEZ

from a related company FE - - 4,500,000 4,500,000
Exchange adjustment TR 56,314 - - 56,314
Total other changes HhE s 2,046,568 6,100,000 4,500,000 12,646,568
At 31 March 2022 MZE--§=B=+—H 3,778,998 128,478,127 113,100,000 245,357,125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ#ﬁﬁ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

21. RERBEEFEY (2

() WMEIFHEEZERHR G

Amount Amount
due to a due to a
Lease director of related
liabilities  a subsidiary company Total
Ed—% FEF—FE
M AT REAT
HE&R EEME g it
At April 2020 MZE-EFEMNA—AH 6,493,838 110,699,082 104,100,000 221,292,920
Changes from financing cash flows: BB R & HEEE)
Capital element of leases rentals paid EffHAEREHNEREL D (3,078,045) - - (3,078,045)
Interest element of leases rentals paid B A SR EMF 225 (405,595) - - (405,595)
Proceeds from borrowing from RE—LBABRESEEZ
a director of a subsidiary PT1SFUA - 19,000,000 - 19,000,000
Repayment of borrowing to BE—LWBARNESZEEZ
a director of a subsidiary ;B - (13,000,000) - (13,000,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows B & IR & 7 & & B 4248 (3,483,640) 6,000,000 = 2,516,360
Other changes: HithEg .
Increase in lease liabilities FRFTIMEES
from entering into new leases HESRIEM
during the year 1,701,052 S S 1,701,052
Interest on lease liabilities HESEF S 405,595 - - 405,595
Interest on borrowing from a director  RE—2WBATESE
of a subsidiary BEZFE - 5,679,045 - 5,679,045
Interest on borrowing kE—HEEEARZEEZ
from a related company FE - - 4,500,000 4,500,000
Exchange adjustment FER T 42,626 - - 42,626
Total other changes Hhishiazs 2,149,273 5,679,045 4,500,000 12,328,318
At 31 March 2021 MZEZ—§=B=+—H 5,159,471 122,378,127 108,600,000 236,137,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21,

(d)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) &%=

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash

21.

(d)

| BAMBERRME

“E = A=+—BIEEE CUBTTEHE)
RERRESEY (&

HERE ML A

MEESFAGRERETREXRTHNEREBEN

flow for leases comprise the following: TEIE
2022 2021
—E-= B —F
Within operating cash flows B BERE 24,270,337 22,786,067
Within financing cash flows BRrRERER=E 3,427,041 3,483,640
27,697,378 26,269,707
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, B KRHEMECTRIE
2022 2021
g BT —F

Trade payables B S ETIRM 17,782,944 31,189,596

Retention payables (note (ii)) FEREEE (MI5E() 5,804,570 5,498,143

Other payables and accruals HMENIERESER 14,261,423 7,212,920

37,848,937 43,900,659

Notes: MIEE -

0] Save as disclosed in note 22(ii) below, all trade and other (i) BT CHIEE22(i)PTIR BN FR B B % R E MR
payables are expected to be settled within one year. BEHER—FRE[-

(ii) Except for the amounts of approximately HK$1,964,000 and (ii) BRIE I TERZE—F=A=+—H2HA
approximately HK$2,214,000 as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 #91,964,0007 75 &% £92,214,00078 70 2 BN > B R
respectively, all of the remaining balances are expected to be FRB #eRTRER N —F R ET -
settled within one year.

(il As of the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of trade (iii) HERSTHF ENSZEHHENE S ENIRFMER
payables based on the invoice date is as follows: MU

2022 2021

—E=-C= —ET %

Within 1 month —@B RN 11,296,561 15,224,116
1 to 2 months —ZEMmEA 5,386,882 14,719,467
2 to 3 months ME=MES 31,818 106,897
Over 3 months —“EEMUL 1,067,683 1,139,116
17,782,944 31,189,596
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

23. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED
COMPANY/A DIRECTOR OF A
SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a related company, Bright Dynasty
Trading Limited (“Bright Dynasty”), was unsecured,
bearing interest at 5% (2021: 5%) per annum and
repayable on demand. Bright Dynasty is beneficially owned
by Mr. Fong Hon Hung (“Mr. Fong”), who is a member of
key management personnel of the Group and is a director
of a principal subsidiary.

The amount due to a director of a subsidiary, Mr. Lau Woon
Si (“Mr. Lau”), was unsecured, bearing interest at 5%
(2021: 5%) per annum and repayable on demand. Mr. Lau
is a member of key management personnel of the Group
and is a director of a subsidiary.

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual

23. FE(I—RIRAE
BZMIE

A8/ —2MBABE

EN—EBEEATDAHNEZERL2E (T
BB ) 2HEBEEF BEES% (T -—
F5%) st EREBEREREZE - LHEZHA
EBREGE (THARE)EREE BAXEEYN
— LT EEEEBENERA—HETENBLE
HES-

BN—2WBREEFI M TE (TR%E)
ZREBEER BERELR (ZTE-—F
5%) st ERBAREREZ B EKEREEER

— LT EEERBRMERA—RBRNBATMNE
$o

24. HE&®’

TRITSAERHECG ZRGANINEER

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

31 March 2022
—E-_-#=HA=+—H

31 March 2021
“E—F=-HA=+—H

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
RIEHE RIEHE RERE RIEHEE
{ITREIR(E fIm4agE NHRBRE 4B
Within 1 year —ER 3,218,603 3,346,424 2,671,267 2,915,338
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMERN 560,395 567,026 2,260,463 2,343,590
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERLFR - - 227,741 230,723
560,395 567,026 2,488,204 2,574,313
3,778,998 3,913,450 5,159,471 5,489,651
Less: total future interest expenses 78 © A 3&H| SRS 4858 (134,452 (330,180)
Present value of lease obligations T8 & &ERIIRE 3,778,998 5,159,471
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

25. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

No forfeit contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS

(a) Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below.

25. {EEEBHFEF

FEBRB(EBRFIMELRBZFAEKEIAAE
(BERARBRA) EENRERERI—IBRA
Rt AEEE (TR - BRES S
BA—EHBIURSEAEENEEHIENK
e -REBREEHE EEREEEREA
RESHEBBRANS%AGEMHZR EBARS
MR A 7330,00078 7t ° 5t 8| M REN S 57 /88 o

R _HFR-ZF_—F=ZHA=+t—08"#%
ERWHRAT BRI BARREEBIHR

26. BX--#HERKRE

(@) HEEAARREEH

FEMGARRSERBINRNRBEE
BENHERR G REEB R AAAE
¥ e B 5K 2 P 5 4B AR 6 4 B9 A B S AL
Txo

Company ¥ A7
Shares
held under
Share Capital Special Exchange  shareaward  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve scheme losses Total
’ » _ R )
iR e B Gk ERGE HERR BitiH by

Balance at 1 April 2020 RZZZZEMA—-AMEER 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 - - (188,721,197) 176,031,836
Changes in equity during the year ~ BE_F_—£=A=+—H

ended 31 March 2021: IHFERRES .
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (12,732508) (12,732,509
Share of other comprehensive NERENRZEEREY

income of investment accounted 2 EYE

for using the equity method - - - 964,896 - - 964,896
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEERZARSERE

expenses for the year - - - 964,896 - (12,732,508) (11,767,607)
Shares purchased for RipIRET IR E R

share award scheme - - - - (19,429,159) - (19,429,159)
Balance at 31 March 2021 AZE_-F¥ZRA=+-Bk

and 1 April 2021 ZEC-FMA-AZER 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 964,896 (19,429,159)  (201,453,700) 144,835,070

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

199



200

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND

26. B #ERRKRS 2

DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)
(@ Movement in components of equity (Continueqd) (@) tEmLARRES ©E)
Company *2a
Shares
held under
Share Capital Special Exchange  shareaward  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve scheme losses Total
o ‘ ‘ e HE] . .
iR BRfHE RS ERfHE FEkRGR RitER b
Balance at 31 March 2021 AZE-_-£=R=+-HR
and 1 April 2021 “E--FMBA-Hz&ER 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 964,896 (19,429,159)  (201,453,700) 144,835,070
Changes in equity during the year ~ BIE-"S-"#=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2022: U:EFF BH2E .
Profit for the year FRREF = = = - - 7,498,695 7,498,695
Share of other comprehensive NERE AR ZEEREY
income of investment accounted  ELth2E A
for using the equity method - - - 332,589 - - 332,589
Profit and total comprehensive EREfREAREEE
income for the year - - - 332,589 - 7,498,695 7,831,284
Balance at 31 March 2022 ANZEZC
=ZR=+-Rz&R 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 1,297,485 (19,429,159)  (193,955,005) 152,666,354

(b) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between the
equity of Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited acquired
pursuant to the Reorganisation on 9 May 2015 over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange

therefore.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

26. B -#ERRKRS 2

(c)  Share capital () Be®
Number of
ordinary Nominal
shares amount
LiERHE EfE
HK$
AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each authorised: SREE.NVATZEELER
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, H-oE-—SEmA—H-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—=A=+—8-
—E_—FMA—-HR
—EZ“HF=HA=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ERITREREER
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, AZEEFMWA—AB-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—%=H=+—8-
—E-—-FmUA—HRK
—E--F=HA=+—H 960,000,000 9,600,000
(d)  Nature and purpose of reserves (d FEZHEERESD
(i)  Share premium () REEE
The share premium account is governed by the RO EERTHEEHEARERE A28 K

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.
No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless

TKEER B o

immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

A A i AR AR S Y 0 UK B AR B B BT AR 43 H AR A
ERRMRMAMAUOEX (NA) BBRKRMEE
R-BRFRBREBXIADRIAREEBRER
AR AR AEXEHBBERIBNES
AT ARN EERUAEEZRREZ T D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(iii)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution from its shareholders, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

(iv)  Share held under share award scheme

Share held under share award scheme represents amounts
arose as a result of purchasing of Company’s shares for
share award scheme or granting the shares to relevant
grantees of the Group.

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was approximately $27,072,000 (2021:
approximately $19,573,000).
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26. B #ERRKRS 2

d fEEZEEREN @

(i) EHEE
EHERBRENEEARERBNEAATWE LT
REAMBAERBDETRNODZEEEZZFHREN
RAEEZEZEE-

(i) EBEEHE
BEARBEARRNGEIE  HEREEC
E—ARNEF=ZA=+—HLEFEREXQXFTEN
EHRse

(iv) REZE:EFERE
RIDEREFAERMIEBRR KD EE
BBELARARNABDAERBRARAE
HEBARMDMEENEEE-

(e) FINIR{FHE

KRB _F=A=+—B A#HIIKTFER

BEERENEEEESEA427,072,000
BT (T _Z—F 419,573,000 ) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to fund its construction business, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes,
trade and other payables, amount due to a related
company, amount due to a director of a subsidiary, lease
liabilities and long services payment liabilities) less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity.

26. B -#ERRKRS 2

h BFEEE

AEREEEFANEIZERAFRERERRF
BRENEN UREBRREBRHES A
RERBHEORKRASEHMFT O ERER o 24
RREBARBLURDESH A

FEEBGBTERBRTREBEEARRE > XU
FRESEEKTIEFTRNKS KRR KA
REEXRAFAERNEDZRREZBNRF
T TABEER TN ESEHERRBIED

HE

FERRKHBEE FREBALXRNEE
EEHEAGE -REMS  cEERELKSR
BEBIESEHRE (BEES REMEN
RE-BN—HEAELASRE BN —RHE
ANEEENE - HEERERERARBEER)
BRERBAEESEY KREEXDEMBR
mAERE D

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 March i —— B2 —4F-8B=+—H'=®K
2022 and 2021 was as follows: EEKABREH PEEERLERNT @
2022 2021
—E-- TET—F
Total debts (EEE 284,178,986 281,011,181
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRENRIREEEY (132,294,477) (136,946,605)
Adjusted net debt AT PR 151,884,509 144,064,576
Total equity T T AR EE 171,713,162 180,825,648
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FEREBEARLER 88.45% 79.67%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

A B R B AR B A B B 788 T E [ 5 &
H 0 BY & A3 E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

27. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 June 2020, the Group adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise the
contributions by participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by
the board of directors, the Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of ten (10) years commencing
on the adoption date. The board of directors shall not
make any further award of awarded shares which will result
in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the board
of directors under the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten
per cent (10%) of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares which
may be awarded to a selected participant under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the board of directors and the trustee in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme and
the terms of the trust deed. The decision of the board of
directors with respect to any matter arising under the Share
Award Scheme shall be final and binding. The trustee shall
hold the trust fund in accordance with the rules of the
Share Award Scheme and the terms of the trust deed.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
purchased 31,645,000 of its own shares through the
trustee from open market. The total amount paid to acquire
the shares was approximately $19,429,000 and has been
deducted from equity and such shares were classified as
share held under the Share Award Scheme. No shares had
been awarded by the board of directors under the Share
Award Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021.
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27. RefniZRhstE

RIEBEZZEXB=+H a&5ERMN—ER
ﬁﬁ%+ﬂ”ﬁﬁi&+ﬂﬂ’u %ﬁ
EFEHNERITL AR SFREREE UIRBERSF
EEGHEAERNEERER WIRSIGEA
BERFAEBRNE—TEE-

A& {0 B2 Bh 5t 8% B £ 40 B BARE 5T +(10) F HI S
BUREN HESEIRERMNKLE -HE
EFERHEBRONEBSERRERMD ER
BERTHEBROMBEBBERATARFEET
REANBDZT(10%) A BE—FHEE
HRRD -RERNEBDSI A -—REES A
EEBNESRNBEFTTBBARLRTTE
BETRENBEDZ—(1%)°

RNDEREBRREFTERIEARERD
BRI E R REEEBHRRETEE -EF
EARMDERSEMEEZERNEEMF
EHRERFBRERERAENRD -ZEAE
RFERDEBEBUREERERRTAH
(EEE=3

RBEE_T_—F=ZRB=Z=+—HILEEE K
ESEEBETEABRARAMIHEES1,645,000
REERMD BERMTIAINANBENA
19,429,000 L ERER TN BZE
R DBEARBROREFEFENRMD &
E_E_THERE_—F=ZB=+—HIE
FE - EZgHMBEREROGERAEBERITM
F& 15



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, contrast assets, loan receivables
and debt investment at FVOCI. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings and the Group has exposure limit to any
single financial institution. Given their high credit ratings,
management does not expect any of these financial
institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their
obligations.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

28. ZRIAKREERREMIANATE

AEBRBEEXEFERETAREE - AHES
RAMEEE cEETEHERREEMERNK
BREZRAERAR AEBEAZZERAR
ERxEBEEZSRABRMRBANERARE
BEHRABHEEN T

@ EERR

FEERRENFOARERTHAONEEME
rEBELEVBBEEZRR-

FEENGEERRIZERANE S RHEME
WRE-ENEE - BWERKRRAFESA
Hth2EWaNEERE-cEBERERE
RekReFEYNEERRER AAHF
THBBEBERFEENRNEBETMEAER
ERER RSB AENRBRAER - BN
FRThEMUBEASEETNR EEER
HEUZSERMEBREFIAERTRS
ZEfE-

AEEBREGEERRIFEEEZEEER

2
oo O
AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the characteristics of customer groups rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 11% (2021:
12%) and 22% (2021: 41%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the foundation
construction segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days
from the payment application date or 30 to 60 days
from the certificate date. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from construction contract and ground
investigation services customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)

Other receivables, loan receivables and debt
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income

For the loan receivables, the Group’s management
manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new
and existing customers before standard payment terms
and conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews
from time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all other instruments including other receivables, loan
receivables and debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
based on significant increases in the likelihood of risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition. The Group has
assessed and concluded that the risk of default rate for
the other instruments are steady based on the Group’s
assessment of the financial health of the counterparties.

28. ZRAKREERREMIANATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables and debt
investment at FVOCI as at 31 March 2022 and 2021:

28. %Efﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ%@¥ﬁ

(@ EERKE E

TERREEERMETERNR ST - "k =
:—EE_H_-F Elﬁff,\%?i’zﬂfwﬁ%ﬂ&m

CEHNBE -BRERUKRBRAFTESAH
Tﬁ%ﬁﬂ& tMEFKEMBERZEERRK
B EEBREZER

2022
Expected Gross
credit loss carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance

BEHiESE
1R (%) RIREE HiREA

Trade receivables and contract assets

BRRWIERENEE

Current (not past due) ey (Ran) 0.21% 154,320,588 327,890
1-30 days past due wHAA1E30H 0.09% 5,482,975 5,056
31-60 days past due #HAS1E60H 0.29% 2,559,695 7,502
61-90 days past due #HA61ZE90H N/A FiE R - -
More than 90 days past due BHAEAI0H 73.04% 1,957,021 1,429,450

164,320,279 1,769,898
Other receivables HEWRIE 5.73% 24,608,820 1,411,006
Loan receivables EUER 29.10% 33,113,988 9,637,678

Debt investment at FVOCI

7 ’A?ﬁﬁ/\ﬁ%iﬁﬂ&
RHERE

169
0.67% 44,504,814 296,769

102,227,622 11,345,453

266,547,901 13,115,351
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)

28. ZRAKREERREMIANATE

(#)

(@ EERKE E

2021
_E_—F
Expected Gross
credit loss carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
BHEE
B (%) HREREME ghi=tia
Trade receivables and contract assets B RBRFIBERENEE
Current (not past due) ey (Ran) 0.31% 142,553,082 438,184
1-30 days past due AHIE30H 0.13% 5,931,426 7,436
31-60 days past due #HAS1ZE60H 0.11% 1,541,173 1,623
61-90 days past due #H61E90H 1.55% 6,896,276 106,675
More than 90 days past due BHAEAI0H 2.57% 6,134,374 157,454
163,056,331 711,372
Other receivables HthEUGRIE 0.68% 26,752,707 180,885
Loan receivables FEWE R 16.08% 33,942,459 5,456,316
Debt investment at FVOCI BAFEFAEMEZERED
BEERE 0.77% 42,069,655 324,930
102,764,821 5,962,631
265,821,152 6,674,003

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
and adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

BFHEEXREERBELCRFH L ETH
BURBREWREBEHEHEMRALER
MoEBARARAEREEWRIBERAEHARN
MWEBEBRRINERZENER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRMIE

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. ERIEAMREEREMIANAFE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERKE E
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FANEREBEZRAREMBKREB -SHNEE B
of trade and other receivables, contract assets, loan WEFUREBBAFEFAEMEZAREZNE
receivables and debt investment at FVOCI during the year BRENGBEEHERESHOT .
is as follows:
Debt
Trade Other Contract Loan investment
receivables receivables assets receivables at FVOCl Total
BATERA
_ B2 @k
EaRWE  HitEWRE AHEE ElER  WEHRE h
Adjusted balance at RZE-ZEMA—AM
1 April 2020 mRBLG 489,701 308,293 182,949 563,646 - 1,544,589
Impairment loss recognised/ FRERD/ ER)
(reversed) during the year HIESE 12,140 (127,408) 26,582 4,893,170 324,930 5,129,414
Balance at 31 March 2021 ~ RZEZ—f
and 1 April 2021 ZR=1+-Hk
—E_-EMA—-AK
o 501,841 180,885 209,531 5,456,816 324,930 6,674,003
Exchange adjustment ERAE 1,202 819 - - - 2,111
Impairment losses recognised/  FREHER/ ()
(reversed) during the year HIESE 47,004 1,229,302 1,010,140 4,180,862 (28,161) 6,439,237
Balance at 31 March 2022 RZEZZ
ZR=+-AmEk 550,227 1,411,006 1,219,671 9,637,678 206,769 13,115,351

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group provided
approximately $1,102,000, $1,090,000 and $4,192,000
(2021: $Nil, $Nil and $25,128,000) impairment allowance
for the credit-impaired contract assets, credit-impaired other
receivables and credit-impaired loan receivables respectively.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.

(b)

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at 31 March 2022 and 2021) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:

28. ZRAKREERREMIANATE

(&

(b) FEBEZERE D

TRFIFEBNEMEBN ST "FK
TET—F-ZR=+—HHBTENEHE
mo W REBEENARERRERE (BERER
REVANXR (FUBAE ARBER -
FRIBEZ-F=ZB=+—HMNBREBAAX) 5t
ENAMENR) REAEBEARERTRNRF
SEENIES)

At 31 March 2022

R-E-Z%=B=+-H
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1yearbut  2years but More
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRUR
RERE —ERE -EHk REUL
IREfE g EEX BRER BRER AENE
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 37,848,937 37,848,937 35,885,173 1,963,764 - -
Amount due to a related company ER—EEZATZE 113,100,000 113475000 113,475,000 - - -
Amount due to a director of E—2NBARES
a subsidiary A 128,478,127 128,986,460 128,986,460 - - -
Lease liabilities EEIELR 3,778,998 3,913,450 3,346,424 567,026 - -
283,206,062 284,223,847 281,693,057 2,530,790 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRMIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. ERIEAMREEREMIANAFE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continueq) (b) FEEERRARE E
At 31 March 2021
{2 —F=HA=+—H
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1 yearbut 2 years but More
Carrying - undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BAREH \
REng —FRs  —FMUE MEL L
REE ek BEX EREA BRER EEME
Trade and other payables ~ EZREMBEMZIE 43,900,659 43,900,659 41,687,078 2,213,581 = =
Amount due to a related EN—REHREAT
company FE 108,600,000 108,975,000 108,975,000 - - -
Amount due to a director of  EEff—& I BATE
a subsidiary BEE 122,378,127 122,886,460 122,886,460 - - -
Lease liabilties HEaRE 5150471 5489651  2,915338 2,343,590 230,723 -
280,038,257 281,251,770 276,463,876 4,557,171 230,723 -
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIERAMRE
The Group had no significant exposure to interest rate risk BE_ZE__FRIZEZ—F=B=+—H

for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. Borrowings
issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and variable rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risks. During the year ended 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2021, the management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to use interest rate swaps to hedge
their exposure to interest risk. At 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2021, the Group did not hold any assets and
liabilities which are exposed to significant interest risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table details the profile of the Group’s net
borrowings (interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing financial assets) at the end of the reporting period.
The interest rate and maturity information of the Group’s
borrowings are disclosed in note 23 and 24.

28. %E?lﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ%ﬂ¥ﬁ

(0 FERAR E

TRFIAEBNRBSHARNEE PR (AN
EEMERRAEFEEREE) B -x&H
BENMERRIHENRENMNE23/Kk24

2022 2021
—F=-Z T

Fixed rate borrowings: E2EEH:
Amount due to a related company e — I RE A B FIE 113,100,000 108,600,000
Amount due to a director of a subsidiary EN—%EA AR EEMIE 128,478,127 122,378,127
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,778,998 5,159,471
245,357,125 236,137,598

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates with all other
variables held constant, would not have impact on the
Group’s loss after tax and the total equity (2021: nil).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at the end of the reporting period.

The estimated 100 basis points increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual end of the reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis is performed on the same basis for the year 2022
and 2021.

RIBEZ_F=ZA=+—0" WHXEEIEN
SORD100EEEMAAEHMESEF IS
GERAEEEREENGRBERE KB

BB (CEZ—F:\) o

THBERESMNEEDRBRRANRENKRS
ARELEEH THERBEAIRSHRER
ERNFETEERTIANFARMKO -

EEHERI00EEAR Y EEBHNEE T —@

FERSHRENIHBEA  EBEFNXAELET

E’JAIE“*"@JFET”EﬁE’\JEWE RIBZ__FRZ
T —FEZHERENWERASEEEET
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate.

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in functional currency.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for
strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at least
annually, based on the limited information available to the
Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group’s strategic plans.

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 5% (2021:5%) in the relevant stock market
index as applicable, with all other variables held constant,
would not have impact on the Group’s loss after tax
and accumulated losses (2021: decreased/increased
approximately $632,000).

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses that
would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and
that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

Fair values measurement

Financial assets measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

28. ZRAKREERREMIANATE

(%)
M ATEHE
() RATEHEZZHAE

TREIFAEBN RS HARBREEERE £t
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SRR BISKAFEFEMREZ=ZALF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tRa ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) &%=

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

(Continued)

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy
the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at 31

March 2022 and 2021:

At 31 March 2022

— 5 — —

—_

FZA=1+—HLFE CUBTTHE)

28. %Efﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ%@¥ﬁ

f) A2FEH=E#E

(i) HAFEAEZEHEE
TREENVN _E - _FR_E-—F=H1
T+ —H AEERAFEFENEREET
NFBERBHK TN

R-IE-__F=ZF=+—H

Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
B—ik BHR B8R ke
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value R FEFARDZ
through profit or loss: EHEE
Put option in relation to acquisition ~ BRIRE—REIH=E AR 25
of an associate (note 15) iR (BEE15) - - 34,300,000 34,300,000
Other unlisted investment HiIELEHRE - 3,754,704 = 3,754,704
Total assets at fair value BRAFEFAEBEZ
through profit or loss mEE - 3,754,704 34,300,000 38,054,704
Financial assets at BAFEFARMEE
fair value through other W 2 ZHEE .
comprehensive income:
Unlisted debt investment FELHERRE - - 44,504,814 44,504,814
Total asset at fair value through HBAFEHAHMZE
other comprehensive income WSz B E - - 44,504,814 44,504,814
- 3,754,704 78,804,814 82,559,518
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. ZEEMBEEREREMIANATE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
()  Fair values measurement (Continued) ) A2AFEHE @)
(i)  Financial assets measured at fair value (i) BAFEHEZLHMEE
(Continued)
At 31 March 2021 R-FE-—F=H=+—H
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
F—ik B B4R s
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through &4\ FEFIA w2
profit or loss: THEE
Profit guarantee in relation to BRIWHE— I E 2825
acquisition of an associate IR (F5E15)
(note 15) - - 3,190,000 3,190,000
Put option in relation to acquisition BRI E— B =2\ 5 257
of an associate (note 15) BHEE (f5E15) - - 128,000 128,000
Call option in relation to acquisition — B B — I &2\ 5 257
of an associate (note 15) FEEE (i5%15) - - 619,000 619,000
Unlisted fund investment FLEFEERE - 17,144,601 - 17,144,601
Total assets at fair value RATEHABGZREE
through profit or loss - 17,144,601 3,937,000 21,081,601
Financial assets at fair value through ¥ 2\ FE5FA B2 E
other comprehensive income: Wz zHMEE .
Unlisted debt investment FLHEHRE - - 42,069,655 42,069,655
Total asset at fair value through HBAFEHAHMZE
other comprehensive income WKiEzBEE - - 42,069,655 42,069,655

- 17,144,601 46,006,655 63,151,256
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value

measurements

28. ZRIAKREERREMIANATE

Cﬂﬁ)

(f 2FESE R
(i) HRIFEAEZEHEE B

FRATEFEBRHFIGERNRGAZE

The fair value through profit or loss of other unlisted FZHRANEMFELTREFABTNRFE

investment in Level 2 is estimated by quoted price from the

financial institution as at 31 March 2022.

The fair value through profit or loss of unlisted fund
investment in Level 2 is estimated by using a valuation
technique based on the net assets approach, which takes
into consideration the fair value of the underlying assets

HEMGET

and liabilities of the unlisted fund investment as at 31

March 2021.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

B % =R FlESTEIER

7737@?);%_—\,__& B=t+—HEZ®MHEEHN

ERAFLTEESRESFABEGTNARTE
DBDIREBEEEFEEIEAGERMGS  HhE
BER-_ZE-_-—F=ZR=+—HFLmES
RENBEHEERBENATE:

Weighted
Assets Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range average
BE {E{ER EXFARRBAYE #E IET9H
Unlisted debt investment Discounted cash flow methodology  Discount rate 5.79% 5.79%
FLTEBRE BE&mREMRH ELBITES (2021:5.79%) (2021:5.79%)
5.79% 5.79%
(CBZ—-F: (ZBEZ—%F:
5.79%) 5.79%)
Profit guarantee in relation to - Monte Carlo simulation model Revenue growth rate N/A N/A
acquisition of an associate (2021:35%) (2021:35%)
BERlE—AREAT SR FERRRER WA RER BB TER
AR CE2-%: (CBZ-#:
35%) 35%)
Call option in relation to Binomial options-pricing model Expected volatility N/A N/A
acquisition of an associate (2021:78%) (2021:78%)
*ﬁ‘%ﬁuﬁlﬁﬁ EHE R E "I HREBRE R B TER
SRR CE2-%: (CBZ-#:
78%) 78%)
Put option in relation to Binomial options-pricing model Expected volatility 89% 89%
acquisition of an associate (2021:82%) (2021:82%)
BRENE—ERE Az ZEABETERY R 89% 89%
EAVRLEL CE2-%: (CBZ-#:
82%) 82%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value
(Continued)

The fair value of unlisted debt investment is determined
using the discounted cash flow methodology and
the significant unobservable input used in the fair
value measurement is discount rate. The fair value
measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
rate. As at 31 March 2022, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in
discount rate by 5% would have decreased/increased the
Group’s other comprehensive income by approximately
$117,000/118,000 (2021: $225,000/227,000).

The fair value of profit guarantee in relation to acquisition
of an associate is determined using the Monte Carlo
simulation model and the significant unobservable input
used in the fair value measurement is revenue growth
rate. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated
to the revenue growth rate. As at 31 March 2021, it was
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an
increase/decrease in the revenue growth rate by 5%
would had increased/decreased the Group’s loss by
approximately $200,000/200,000.

28. %E?lﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ%ﬂ¥ﬁ

() AFEHEE

(i) BAFEASZEMEE (B

FETEBRENAFENERRERER
REZEE > ATESAEAMKRANERFTURE
HEAMBEX AFEFEAMRXZCHAEH
BER- N _E__F=A=+—Q0 hs&EFHR

S BIES5% Bl AEBMNEME2E WG B R D
1 049117,000,118,0008 T (Z & = —
1 225,000,7227,000% 7T) ©

ERWRBE-—RBBEARN ZEMNBRNAFE
DERXBFERREEEE A FEFE
FIRBANEARTIEREESRBRAERRX
ATESERARAEREXEGRBBE N
TEC-—F=ZRAZ=+—HB GEEMBHEM
EBHEFIENBRT WAL RERIEM
S TRE5% AIAEBRNEERE N MDA
200,000,7200,000# JT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE M HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value
(Continued)

The fair value of call option in relation to acquisition of
an associate is determined using the binomial option-
pricing model and the significant unobservable input
used in the fair value measurement is expected volatility.
The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected volatility. As at 31 March 2021, it was estimated
that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the expected volatility by 5% would had
decreased/increased the Group’s loss by approximately
$119,000/113,000.

The fair value of put option in relation to acquisition of an
associate is determined using the binomial option-pricing
model and the significant unobservable input used in the
fair value measurement is expected volatility. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the expected
volatility. As at 31 March 2022, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in the
expected volatility by 5% would have decreased/increased
the Group’s loss by approximately $52,000/41,000 (2021:
$2,000/3,000).

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited BEE&EBZERARAR
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() AFEHFEE

(i) BAFEASZEMEE B

ERWE —BHRE A0 2R BHENAF
BENEA_BARRECERAEBE A F &
SAEFMRRANEAFTIERSBEATBR K
Be ATENERTEIH KB EABRREE-
N _E _—F=ZRB=+—H GstEMmEH
e EHEFIAENE R T FBEEIEIE N
S EE5% Bl REBMEEE R L 1ML
119,000,7113,000% 7T ©

ERAWE —BBMEAI 2R HBEENAF
ENhFER_BAAECTEELET AFE
AEMRANERFATEZEEEAEHRR
BeAFTEFELABHANIELZ EAERBEABRF-
R_E - _F#F=ZB=+—H hst&EmRABE
HMASHERFIFAENBER T BHEE
o EEsS% AERNEBEEERLD S
HIN452,000,741,0008 5 (Z8 - —4F
2,000/3,000&7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

,%,ﬁ

SR HmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) 8 E — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

28. %m%ﬂ@%ii&ﬁmﬂlﬂﬂ@’&zFfﬁ

() 2FESE @@
(i) HERXFEAZEZZHEE @)

(Continued)
The movements during the year in the balance of these FR>ZEEFERANFTESELE G2 EEFHU
Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: ®
2022 2021
—E-= == 4
Unlisted debt investment: 3FJ:I"E1§§§?§§
At 1 Apri FATH 8 — 42,069,655 -
Payment for purchases E%EHTA - 60,000,000
Proceeds from disposal HEFTEMIA - (20,180,822)
Net realised gains recognised in profit or loss during &R 48 3 RHEER
the year BRI mFER - 180,822
Net unrealised gains recognised in other FRREMEEWNEPESEZ
comprehensive income during the year REID U P RE 2,435,159 2,069,655
At 31 March B=B=+—H 44,504,814 42,069,655
Profit guarantee in relation to acquisition of an BRI E—HE=Z2EM
associate: mFIER
At 1 April REE—H 3,190,000 -
Acquisition of an associate W R E N E - 988,000
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRRIBEmTPESE 2
during the year N EE @3 (3,190,000) 2,202,000
At 31 March W=A=+—H - 3,190,000
Call Option in relation to acquisition of an BERWBE—RBEATN
associate: %ﬁﬁﬁﬂ@ :
At 1 Apri RmE—H 619,000 -
Acquisition of an associate W EE—EiE AT - 6,190,000
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss EEWEA?EﬁﬁEF'EQE \Z
during the year N EEE) (619,000)  (5,571,000)
At 31 March K=B=+—H - 619,000
Put Option in relation to acquisition of an ﬁﬁﬁlﬂlﬁ% HBEATH
associate: \Eﬁﬂ#g
At 1 Apri = 128,000 -
Acquisition of an associate Y s — F?Hﬁiﬁ’z}j - 11,000
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRRBmPESRZ
during the year NE{EEE) 34,172,000 117,000
At 31 March M“=B=+—H 34,300,000 128,000
Net gains/(losses) for the year included RIRESHRFIIFEERT A
in profit or loss for assets held at the end BazENRE (518
of the reporting period RE 30,363,000 (3,071,178)

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2021/22 —8=— /" Z&%#

221



222

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE M HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value
(Continued)

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of
the Group’s unlisted debt investment held for strategic
purposes are recognised in the fair value reserve in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the unlisted
debt investment, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of
the profit guarantee, call option and put option in relation
to acquisition of an associate are presented in the “Other
income, other net gains and losses” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

29. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2022
and 2021 not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements were as follows:

28. ZRAKREERREMIANATE

(%)

() AFEHFEE

(i) BAFEASZEMEE B

HEMAEFAERRBEFAENIFLHES
REMEENEMRmNBEE  REMEE K
SR TERBEIRI -THEFLHTEHTR
R -REMEZERzTNREERIFR—B
EMOBREHREaEMOEERT

AEMFEEHAKE—BBE AT 2 ENIE
R REPAERDIAEMEEN KRN AR
RixaBaiRPiaTEMmlA - Emlia &
E5EFREIRIE ©

29. ik

RIBZ_FR-ZZBF-_—F=ZRA=+—H0"=X
REGEEMBREEENREEZEERAENT:

2022 2021

g B —F

Contracted for [SHED!

- 417,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) 8 E — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30. EXFAESFRXS
TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2022 and (@ MRBE-S-_—_SKR-_ZF-—F=AH
2021, the related parties that had transactions =+—HULESFE RESAFEERNRZS
with the Group were as follows: mF:

Name of related parties Relationships with the Group

FAES BB BB RIRRR

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited A related company owned by Mr. Lau

IR REZERERAE] BRI EENREEAT

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited A related company owned by Mr. Lau

RELSEERBREAT RS EEENRREAT

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BREZERETHBERRWF6(a) 23 IFENR

in note 6(a) and 23 to these consolidated financial SRERIN REBRERE] L NI E AR

statements, the Group entered into the following material BHERS

related party transactions during the year:

2022 2021
g BT

Leases of properties from BUTEFEEYE
Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited PR EIZERERAE] 720,000 720,000
Chung Wah Investment Company Limited FERLEEEFRQT 1,380,000 1,380,000
2,100,000 2,100,000
Note: The directors of the Company are of opinion that the above izt ARBERRS LR BN —REFKBREF:]

transactions were entered into the normal course of business. i e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRE R IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) 8 — & ——

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transaction with key management personnel
Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 8
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior
management as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

FZA=1+—HLFE CUBTTHE)

30. EARAESFRS &)

b) BHIETBAENRZS
FTEEEASHE
TESEEAEMS (BIEXN TSI E

EENMERMNEIFFKREE TRSHMES
ReRERERNME) W :

2022 2021

—RF T —HF

Short-term employee benefits i EE RN 11,273,000 12,180,000
Post-employment benefits BER B EF 66,000 67,652

11,339,000 12,247,652

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
6(0)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

31. COMPANY LEVEL OF FINANCIAL

31. XTFEENMABERE

STATEMENT
2022 2021
—E-= BT —F
Non-current assets ERHEE
Investment in subsidiaries BB AR NS - -
Interest in an associate RN—EHEAE R 20,626,673 35,017,364
20,626,673 35,017,364
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments and other receivables FERIE R H e R IE 1,028,405 1,284,314
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A B Rk IE 249,791,403 261,195,119
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATESAER S
SRUBE 34,300,000 3,937,000
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEBY 621,061 622,461
285,740,869 267,038,394
Current liabilities mENEfE
Other payables Hh & RIB 270,000 40,000
Amount due to a subsidiary FERT— M B A B IE 143,831,188 147,581,188
144,101,188 147,621,188
Net current assets mONEERE 141,639,681 119,417,706
NET ASSETS BEFE 162,266,354 154,435,070
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital %N 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves (Note 26(a)) {45 (M3E26(a)) 152,666,354 144,835,070
TOTAL EQUITY k] 162,266,354 154,435,070
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of RIEZZFtBAZH+ABHKEETEHER
Directors on 29 July 2022. TRETIE o
Yan Shuai Zhu Jiayu
& KIEWE
Director Director
BF BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tRa ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) §iZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

32. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 32. HBR¥F

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETHhEREFEEFHDEURTEEAFEEZE

conform with the current year’s presentation. FlH e

33. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF 33. H#E—_FE__5=AH8 E-E—EJLEE
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS EEMEREMIET MENKREE
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BRI RERZ &

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the EXEZSEVHERREMHBE SESFHMAE
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, and a new EHEAHEEBII A—EBHED > FEBUHER
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not SEAFI7THERREN BE_ZE __F=
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and which =+ —HIEFERKRER TAREZEVHER
have not been adopted in these financial statements. REPEMW) - ZEEEOR T IERAE
These developments include the following which may be R E o

relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

BUTHBAzxZ®E

Mz EstHRE R
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BB FREEREIR (BIX) » SIS EFZIEM B "F#—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equijpment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
BARGTERE165E BT XK) » Y2 BMERRE - HEFEAIT i E T -F—F—H
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts —Cost of Fulfiling a Contract 1 January 2022
BEGStEAEITR BFTX) » FIESH —EBITEAIAIE A B2 _F#—H—H
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle 1 January 2022
BB BREE —F— )\ FE_E_EFFH - FEHE T -F—F—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
BEERGENFEIR B5]THR) » BESE BB IR E —E=F—HF—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (in HK Dollars) i ZE — &~ — &£ =8 =+—HI-EE CUBTEHE)

33. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF 33. BE_T__F=-HA=+—HLFE
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS B # MR ERERIERT « I ER K22
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BRIRER & (@)

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

(Continued)
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BUTHEBxZ®E
FAz Bt
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
EEGHENE1RNAEBMBEREERBHREF2R (BN » BT HEKE “ET=%—HF—H
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
BEBGtERESR (B5] ) > B 52 E5H —E=F—HF—H
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 1 January 2023
transaction

BRGSHEAFI2REIT N BE— X GELHNEEREES M ZFELERE “E=F—HF—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of ZIK SR HZEERFPERERBEZTE
what the impact of these developments is expected to be FE -HIHAA JJ: RMZEBITERTK

in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded EHGEEMBRREREAFTE-

that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

RESULTS 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
¥ ot e —2-_f a2 2N B N\F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT BT
(Note 1) (Note 1 and 2)
(fsr1)  (EE&2)
Total Revenue EON 263,216,864 293598630 255,534,989  202,893907 226,225,862
Loss before taxation BRIRAIES 1R (13,384,350)  (10,188,168)  (60,777,847)  (56,988,999) (70,336,139
Income tax credit/(expense) FisiEs,/ B 627,765 (2,051,681) 406,115 1,760,374 88,657
Loss attributable to equity AN REERL
shareholders of the Company %548 (12,756,585)  (12,239,849)  (60,371,732)  (55,228,625) (70,247,482
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREEREA
expenses for the year B 4R AR (9,112,486)  (7,653,961)  (60,371,732)  (55,228,625)  (70,247,482)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Total assets BEME 458,325,935 466,554,477 481554074 504,611,137 544,489,317
Total liabilities EfRIEEE (286,612,773) (285,728,829)  (273,645,306) (236,330,637)  (219,461,914)
Net assets BESE 171,713,162 180,825,648 207,908,768 268,280,500 325,027,403

This report is published in both English and Chinese
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

prevail.

Notes:

1. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach at 1 April 2019. Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated.

2. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15
at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen,
comparative information is not restated.
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